Public Document Pack

North Devon Council
Brynsworthy Environment Centre
Barnstaple
North Devon EX31 3NP
K. Miles
Chief Executive.

STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE
A meeting of the Strategy and Resources Committee will be held in the Barum Room Brynsworthy on MONDAY, 6TH JUNE, 2022 at 10.00 am.
(NOTE: A location plan for the Brynsworthy Environment Centre is attached to the
agenda front pages. From the 7 May 2021, the law requires all councils to hold
formal meetings in person. The council is also ensuring that all venues used are
Covid secure and that all appropriate measures are put in place.There are a limited
number of spaces available for members of the public to attend. Please check the
Council’s website for the latest information regarding the arrangements that are in
place and the requirement to book a place 2 working days prior to the meeting
Taking part in meetings (northdevon.gov.uk)

Members of the Strategy and Resources Councillor Worden (Chair)
Committee
Councillors Crabb, Knight, Lane, Lofthouse, Patrinos, Pearson, Prowse, L. Spear,
Wilkinson and Yabsley

AGENDA
1.

Apologies for absence

2.

To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 9 May 2022
(attached). (Pages 7 - 14)

3.

Items brought forward which in the opinion of the Chair should be considered by
the meeting as a matter of urgency.

4.

Declarations of Interests.
(Please telephone the Corporate and Community Services team to prepare a form
for your signature before the meeting. Interests must be re-declared when the
item is called, and Councillors must leave the room if necessary).

5.

To agree the agenda between Part 'A' and Part 'B' (Confidential Restricted
Information).

PART 'A'
6.

Gap Funding 21 Social Rents at Woolacombe (Pages 15 - 22)
Report by Service Lead – Affordable Housing (attached).

7.

Empty Homes Strategy Project (Pages 23 - 58)
Report by Senior Enforcement Officer (attached).

8.

North Devon Carbon, Environment and Biodiversity Plan (Pages 59 - 100)
Report by Climate Officer (attached).

9.

North Devon Council Carbon Footprint (Pages 101 - 114)
Report by Climate Officer (attached).

10.

Household Fund 2022/23 April - September 2022 (Pages 115 - 130)
Report by Head of Customer Focus (attached)

11.

Property Management Contracts for Green Lanes Shopping Centre (Pages
131 - 136)
Report by Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive (attached).

12.

Asylum Dispersal (Pages 137 - 200)
Report by Head of Planning, Housing and Health (attached).

13.

Urgent Decisions Taken By the Chief Executive (Pages 201 - 204)
To note the urgent decisions that have been made by the Chief Executive in
accordance with paragraph 3.48, Annexe 2, Part 3 of the Constitution (attached).

14.

Exclusion of Public and Press and Restriction of Documents
RECOMMENDED:
(a) That under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public and
press be excluded from the meeting for the following item as it involves the likely
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3, Part 1 Schedule 12A
of the Act (as amended from time to time), namely information relating to the
financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority
holding that information); and
(b) That all documents and reports relating to the item be confirmed as “Not for
Publication”.

PART 'B' (CONFIDENTIAL RESTRICTED INFORMATION)
15.

Anti-Virus Software Procurement (Pages 205 - 208)
Report by ICT Manager (attached).

2

If you have any enquiries about this agenda, please contact Corporate and
Community Services, telephone 01271 388253

25.05.22

3

North Devon Council protocol on recording/filming at Council meetings
The Council is committed to openness and transparency in its decision-making.
Recording is permitted at Council meetings that are open to the public. The Council
understands that some members of the public attending its meetings may not wish to be
recorded. The Chairman of the meeting will make sure any request not to be recorded is
respected.
The rules that the Council will apply are:
1. The recording must be overt (clearly visible to anyone at the meeting) and must
not disrupt proceedings. The Council will put signs up at any meeting where we
know recording is taking place.
2. The Chairman of the meeting has absolute discretion to stop or suspend recording
if, in their opinion, continuing to do so would prejudice proceedings at the meeting
or if the person recording is in breach of these rules.
3. We will ask for recording to stop if the meeting goes into ‘part B’ where the public
is excluded for confidentiality reasons. In such a case, the person filming should
leave the room ensuring all recording equipment is switched off.
4. Any member of the public has the right not to be recorded. We ensure that
agendas for, and signage at, Council meetings make it clear that recording can
take place – anyone not wishing to be recorded must advise the Chairman at the
earliest opportunity.
5. The recording should not be edited in a way that could lead to misinterpretation or
misrepresentation of the proceedings or in a way that ridicules or shows a lack of
respect for those in the recording. The Council would expect any recording in
breach of these rules to be removed from public view.
Notes for guidance:
Please contact either our Corporate and Community Services team or our
Communications team in advance of the meeting you wish to record at so we can make
all the necessary arrangements for you on the day.
For more information contact the Corporate and Community Services team on 01271
388253 or email memberservices@northdevon.gov.uk or the Communications Team
on 01271 388278, email communications@northdevon.gov.uk.
4

North Devon Council offices at Brynsworthy, the full address is:
Brynsworthy Environment Centre (BEC), Roundswell,
Barnstaple, Devon, EX31 3NP.
Sat Nav postcode is EX31 3NS.
At the Roundswell roundabout take the exit onto the B3232, after about ½ mile take the
first right, BEC is about ½ a mile on the right.
Drive into the site, visitors parking is in front of the main building on the left hand side.
On arrival at the main entrance, please sign in using the Track and Trace App and follow
the signage and instructions in order to access the Meeting Rooms. Alternatively, dial
8253 for Corporate and Community Services if you have any problems.

5

6

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 9 May 2022

NORTH DEVON COUNCIL
Minutes of a meeting of Strategy and Resources Committee held at Barum Room Brynsworthy on Monday, 9th May, 2022 at 2.00 pm
PRESENT:

Members:
Councillor Worden (Chair)
Councillors Knight, Lofthouse, Patrinos, Pearson, L. Spear, Wilkinson
and Yabsley
Officers:
Chief Executive, Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive,
Senior Solicitor and Monitoring Officer, Service Lead Housing Advice
and Homelessness, Head of Customer Focus, Head of Place,
Property and Regeneration, Public Protection Manager and Graduate
Environmental Health Officer
Also Present in person:
Councillors Roome and D. Spear

1.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Lane and Prowse.
2.

TO APPROVE AS A CORRECT RECORD THE MINUTES OF THE
MEETING HELD ON 4 APRIL 2022 (ATTACHED).

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 4 April 2022 (circulated
previously) be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair.
3.

ITEMS BROUGHT FORWARD WHICH IN THE OPINION OF THE
CHAIR SHOULD BE CONSIDERED BY THE MEETING AS A
MATTER OF URGENCY.
(a) Informal Briefing

The Chair requested that Members of the Committee remain behind following the
conclusion of the Committee meeting for an informal briefing.
4.

DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS.

There were no declarations of interest received.
5.

SUPPORT OF UKRAINIAN REFUGEES

1

Page 7

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 9 May 2022
The Committee received a presentation by the Service Lead – Housing Advice and
Homelessness regarding the support of Ukrainian refugees. She outlined the
following:












The background of the Homes for Ukraine scheme which was launched on 14
March 2022 by the Secretary of State for Levelling Up and Communities.
Guest arrival checks that were undertaken.
The role of the sponsor in providing suitable accommodation for a period of a
minimum of 6 months.
Devon County Council’s role in the completion of Enhanced DBS checks on
all adults over the age of 18 living within the sponsors home.
The District Council’s responsibility for accommodation checks, safeguarding
checks, welfare support and financial payments.
An update was provided on the work that had been undertaken by the Council
to date which included: carrying out property inspections; creation of an IT
system to store and administer data; creation of a specific email address for
both hosts and guests; creation of and updating the NDC website with links to
other services; met on a weekly basis with other local external services such
as the Department for Works and Pensions, Early Help and Pickwell
Foundation; working with Pickwell Foundation to deliver the wrap around
support for both host and guests; created a suite of letters and agreements for
hosts, guests and voluntary sector; set up safe payment methods; attended
Devon wide meeting in relation private sector housing, financial, support and
re-hosting. A representative from the Adult Social Care had also been invited
to attend the weekly meetings.
The support that NDC had provided to-date.
Numbers of sponsors, completed inspections, total numbers of children and
adults being supported as of 5 May 2022.
Impact on NDC services and teams.
The reasons and stories in relation to why NDC were providing support.

In response to questions, the Service Lead – Housing Advice and Homelessness
advised the following:




There had been incidents whereby families were experiencing problems with
obtaining visas. These issues had been reported to the MP and it was
understood that there had now been an increase in staff involved in
processing visa applications.
There had been incidents in other areas where placements had been made
with inappropriate sponsors. As a result the Council had started carrying out
enhanced DBS checks. These checks would not be 100% full proof. Checks
were also made with Social Services as part of the DBS checks. If there were
concerns, further checks could be made with the Police. Pickwell Foundation
made home visits and would have an understanding if there was a potential
issue within the home. A re-matching service was already in place and had
worked well. Officers were also in the process of setting up a database of
“foster” hosts that could be used to accommodate families for up to 6 weeks
whilst alternative accommodation was secured.

2

Page 8

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 9 May 2022




If a family member secured accommodation, the host would still receive the
£350 payment to cover costs. This would also be the case also for selfcontained accommodation to cover costs.
Officers were conscious of the potential impact on communities in relation to
housing and employment and would seek to mitigate any issues arising.
Officers were also asking sponsors if the accommodation could be used for
temporary accommodation if it was not suitable to support families.

The Committee on behalf of the Council and Ukrainian refugees thanked Pickwell
Foundation for their support and thanked the Service Lead – Housing Advice and
Homelessness and her team for their hard work.
6.

PROPOSED AMENDMENT TO THE COUNCIL'S AMENITY
STANDARDS, MINIMUM ROOM SIZING AND MANAGEMENT
STANDARDS

The Committee considered a report by the Public Protection Manager and Graduate
Environmental Health Officer/Residential Licensing Officer (circulated previously)
regarding proposed amendment to the Council’s Amenity Standards, Minimum
Room Sizing and Management Standards.
The Public Protection Manager outlined the following:









The current Amenity Standards did not include the position surrounding the
sharing of bedrooms in licensed Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs). The
Legislation was silent in terms of room sharing, albeit that a Room Standard
and a Space Standard were provided for in the Housing Act 1985. The Room
Standard and Space Standard were criteria used to ascertain whether a
property was statutory over-crowded. As such, an amendment to the locally
adopted standards under the section ‘Mandatory requirements in HMOs –
Space standards’ was proposed.
The first area was in terms of the prescribed standards under the section
‘Personal washing facilities and WCs’, which required an amendment in line
with The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation
(Additional Provisions) (England) Regulations 2007 (‘The 2007 Regulations’).
The second area was in terms of the ‘Facilities for the storage, preparation
and cooking of food (shared facilities).’ A query arose with regard to the
numbers of sinks and dishwashers, whereby it was not practical to install the
set number of sinks and instead there was a desire to utilise a dishwasher as
an alternative. It was proposed to amend the Amenity Standards to provide a
proportionate response to the query raised.
The third area was in terms of the ‘Facilities for the storage, preparation and
cooking of food (individual use facilities)’, which required an amendment in
line with The 2007 Regulations.
Various other small amendments have also been made to the Amenity
Standards document, as per the tracked changes in Appendix A of the report.

The Graduate Environmental Health Officer/Residential Licensing Officer outlined
the following:

3

Page 9

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 9 May 2022


The proposed amendments made in relation to personal washing facilities and
WCs; Facilities for the storage, preparation and cooking of food (shared
facilities); Facilities for the storage, preparation and cooking of food (individual
use facilities); and Mandatory requirements in HMOs – Space standards.

In response to questions, the Graduate Environmental Health Officer/Residential
Licensing Officer advised the following:



Facilities to be provided in each HMO was dealt with on a case by case basis.
The definition of a complete bathroom within the standards included a fixed
shower/bath and WC. The provision of a WC could also be classed as
another complete bathroom. The wording could be made more explicit in the
policy.

In response to questions, the Public Protection Manager advised the following:


There were some instances where there was no space for the storage of
refuse receptacles outside of a property. The appropriateness of the storage
of refuse could be considered by the Council’s Environmental Wardens.

RESOLVED that a public consultation on the proposed draft revised Amenity
Standards, Minimum Room Sizing and Management Standards Document (Amenity
Standards) found within Appendix A be approved, and that consultation responses
be reported to a future committee prior to making any approval.
7.

HACKNEY CARRIAGE FARE TARIFF REVIEW

The Committee considered a report by the Public Protection Manager (circulated
previously) regarding the Hackney Carriage Fare Tariff Review.
The Public Protection Manager highlighted the following:







The Licensing and Community Safety Committee at its meeting on 12 April
2022 had considered the proposed Hackney Carriage Fare Tariff Review.
Paragraph 5.5 in the Council’s Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing
Policy described the fare tariff criteria to be utilised when considering any
revision.
There was currently only 1 non-motorised vehicle, which was a horse drawn
carriage operating in Ilfracombe.
That there was a typographical error in paragraph 2.1.1., bullet point 4 and
that it should read “an amendment to the commencement of tariff 2 and 5
(night rate) from 11.30 pm to 9.00 pm”
The proposed modified table of maximum fares as detailed in Appendix A of
the report.
The Private Hire and Taxi Monthly (PHTM) Magazine published and updated
the cost of a two mile hackney carriage fare on Tariff 1 (day rate) nationally
every month and produced a league table of all 355 Councils. In March the
position of North Devon Council was 89th . North Devon Council’s position
was also benchmarked against its neighbouring authorities as detailed in
Appendix D of the report.
4

Page 10

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 9 May 2022

In response to questions, the Public Protection Manager advised the following:





The fuel tariff also encompassed electric vehicles, unless the Committee
wished for electric vehicles to be exempt.
It was proposed that there be an extra charge of 10p added to the fare price
when the South West average price of fuel oil exceeded £1.75 per litre based
on the latest available AA Fuel Price Report with a further 10p added for each
subsequent increase of 10p per litre. When this average decreased below
£1.75, the 10p would not be chargeable.
The AA fuel price data would be included on the Council’s website.

RESOLVED that the recommendation made by Licensing and Community Safety
Committee during their meeting of the 12 April 2022 be approved, namely that the
current table of maximum fares be modified (following a satisfactory period of public
consultation) in line with Appendix A, which encompasses the following
amendments:
(a) a 12.3% increase across the table with the exception of waiting time (in line

with the CPI increase since the tariff became effective in April 2016);
(b) an increased valet charge to £100.00;
(c) an increased fare for non-motorised vehicles from £1.50 to £2.00 a minute;
(d) an amendment to the commencement of tariff 2 and 5 (night rate) from 11.30

pm to 9.00 pm;
(e) an extra charge of 10p added to the fare price when the South West average

price of fuel oil exceeds £1.75 per litre based on the latest available AA Fuel
Price Report with a further 10p added for each subsequent increase of 10p
per litre.
8.

LEVELLING UP FUND AND SHARED PROSPERITY FUND

The Committee considered a report by the Chief Executive (circulated previously)
regarding the Levelling Up Fund and Shared Prosperity Fund.
The Chief Executive highlighted the following:







An update had recently been provided at the Council meeting in April 2022.
Full Council had approved the submission of a bid for Round 2 funding based
on the original bid concentrating on Ilfracombe seafront and the Landmark
Theatre.
Officers were currently working with Members, Ilfracombe Town Council and
the Regeneration Board on the bid. The deadline for the submission of the
bid was by 6 July 2022.
Since the Council meeting, further guidance and information had been
received in relation to the UK Shared Prosperity Fund.
The allocation of the funding would be over 3 years with funding culminating
in a national allocation of £1.5 billion in year 3 which would be focussed on
People and Skills.
The calculation of funding was based on indices applied by Government and
the population.
5

Page 11

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 9 May 2022










Many local authorities were aggrieved at the level of funding awarded given
the level of deprivation.
Funding would be allocated to District Councils but access to funding would
only be given once an Investment Plan had been submitted to Government.
This would paid to the Council over a 3 year period: for North Devon this
resulted in year 1 £180,000, year 2 £350,000 and year 3 £600,000.
The first 2 years would be focussed on the investment priorities “Communities
and Place” and “Local Businesses”. Year 3 would focus on “People and
Skills”.
The guidance also stated that Councils must identify a broad range of local
stakeholders and appropriate groups in order to secure cross sector
involvement. Where there was an existing collaborative partnership group, it
could be designated for the purposes of the Fund. The Northern Devon
Futures Board would act in this role. MPs should also be a part of the
discussions and would need to sign off on the Investment Plan. There were
some gaps in stakeholders such as Parish/Town Councils and religious
groups which would need to be considered.
The content of the Investment Plan was currently unclear, but it was
envisaged that it would include a list of high level intervention projects to be
developed in the area and that projects would then be invited to meet these
interventions. The Government had issued a list of suggested interventions.
Discussions on the investment plan were currently taking place at an officer
level which would then be discussed with Torridge District Council and the
Futures Board. There were opportunities to combine resources and projects
with Torridge District Council for interventions that covered both areas.
Members would also be included in discussions.

In response to questions, the Chief Executive advised the following:




That Michael Gove, Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local
Government had acknowledged that if inflation rates continue to rise that this
would reduce the effective value of the funding awarded as it was not index
linked to inflation.
That the funding that Devon would receive from the SPF over the next 3 years
will be around 30% of the amount received through the EU Structural
Funding.

RESOLVED that the report be noted.
9.

HIGH STREET TASK FORCE SUPPORT

The Committee considered a report by the Head of Place, Property and
Regeneration (circulated previously) regarding the High Street Task Force Support.
The Head of Place, Property and Regeneration highlighted the following:



In February 2022, the High Street Task Force announced that 68 Local
authorities would receive a package of expert advice and support, helping to
deliver long term transformation to towns and cities in England.
North Devon was announced as one of those Local Authorities.
6

Page 12

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 9 May 2022









North Devon Council had to confirm acceptance of the support in March this
year.
In a webinar held on the 22 April, it had been advised that the Council needed
to nominate a location for this support. The High Street Task Force require the
Council to nominate its location by 27 May 2022.
The offer was one of support rather than direct funding to boost local authority
capacity, build sustainable place-making skills, provide an opportunity for
information and data sharing and to co-ordinate a national approach.
The support suggested a focus on a particular area as detailed in paragraph
4.3 of the report.
What was included as part of the support as detailed in paragraph 4.4 of the
report. The support was until June 2024.
When considering which place to support, the Task Force suggested that the
Council consider the Story so far (in an area), a focused area, need, capacity
and the ongoing story. Building on existing work i.e. Future High Street Fund
applicants etc.
The development of officers’ skills as part of this process would enable these
skills to be transferred to other places.

The Chief Executive advised that this support did not include financial support,
however it would make sense to focus the support around the Future High Street
Fund project in Barnstaple. Comments had been made previously by Members
regarding Ilfracombe and levelling up, however funding and resources were currently
being utilised for the Watersports Centre project.
The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive advised that the outputs and
learning gained from the High Street Task Force Support could be applied across
other towns and this would provide a wider benefit to the whole of North Devon.
In response to questions, the Chief Executive advised the following:



If the Committee were minded to focus the support on Barnstaple High Street,
it would complement the work of the Future High Street Fund project.
The support would also include how to engage with the community and
stakeholders and would provide project management advice.

In response to questions, the Head of Place, Property and Regeneration advised the
following:



The Task Force had confirmed that work should not be paused in advance of
support but that the experts would wrap around plans.
Devon County Council was also working with the Council in relation to town
renewal looking at governance structures in place, build town strategy and
delivery plans.

RESOLVED that Barnstaple High Street be confirmed as the nomination for the High
Street Task Force support.

7

Page 13

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 9 May 2022

10.

URGENT DECISIONS TAKEN BY THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The Committee noted the urgent decisions that had been made by the Chief
Executive in accordance with paragraph 3.48, Annex 2, part 3 of the Constitution
(circulated previously) regarding the Watering Hole Public House, Castle Street,
Barnstaple.
Chair
The meeting ended at 3.10 pm
NOTE: These minutes will be confirmed as a correct record at the next meeting of
the Committee.

8

Page 14

Agenda Item 6

North Devon Council
Report Date: 6th June 2022 Strategy and Resource Committee
Topic: Gap funding 21 Social Rents at Woolacombe (M&W CLT)
Report by: Service Lead – Affordable Housing, Jaimie Jeyes
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1. The Community Housing Fund and commuted sums from Section 106s are not
sufficient alone to enable all existing nor future community-led housing
projects. How to resource the delivery of affordable housing via community-led
housing models both financially and in terms of staff is within the scope of
Project 4 of the Housing and Community Safety Programme.
1.2. However, there is an immediate issue that Members are asked to consider to
enable the completion of 21 social rents in Woolacombe; the first Community
Land Trust scheme in North Devon. Due to a forecasted start on site date of
September 2023 (subject to planning) this cannot wait for the outcome of the
corporate project.
1.3. External funding has now reached £141,000 per unit and £30,000 per unit is
needed to deliver the scheme. NDC needs to consider how this can be gapfunded or the scheme will not go ahead.
2. RECOMMENDATIONS
2.1. That for the delivery of 21 social rents in Woolacombe, Strategy and Resource
Committee allocates:
2.1.1. £372,194.60 from identified Section 106 affordable housing commuted
sums as outlined in section 5.1.
2.1.2. £162,805.40 from the Community Housing Fund – Housing Enabling
Earmarked Reserve as outlined in section 5.2.
2.1.3. £95,000 of current approved capital programme budget from the
remaining balances of a previous affordable housing delivery grant and a
former affordable housing fund as outlined in section 5.3
2.2. That subject to 2.1 above, Members recommend that Council vary the Capital
Programme by £535,000 as detailed above and that funds be released, subject
to a Grant Agreement with the Registered Provider (Aster) upon such terms
and conditions as may be agreed by the Service Lead for Affordable Housing
and Senior Solicitor and Monitoring Officer.
3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
3.1. The grant will enable 21 affordable homes for social rent, the social value and
jobs these will create, as well as bringing nearly £3m of external funding into
North Devon. 21 households currently in housing need as well as future
generations of the community in housing need will have the opportunity to rent
1

Page 15

Agenda Item 6
their house at a genuinely affordable social rent, which may be more likely to
be paid without recourse to benefits.
3.2. To increase the supply of social rented housing to contribute to the alleviation
of the huge pressures on our housing market, currently worsened by the
housing crisis.
3.3. A low financial gearing of £30,000 per unit against £141,000 per unit of external
funding minimises any risk to North Devon Council.
3.4. To provide absolute certainty of delivering the community-led housing scheme,
a National Trust national flagship scheme and contribute to the 58 affordable
homes in the community-led housing pipeline across 4 Community Land
Trusts.
4. REPORT
4.1. Mortehoe was one of the first Community Land Trusts set up through the
original Community Housing Fund allocation in 2016/17 and they have come
on leaps and bounds since. With the passion and energy of the community,
the Community Land Trust, parish councillors, the parish clerk, the ward
member, the National Trust, Middlemarch and NDC officers the scheme is
soon to become a reality.
4.2. The site was presented to the community and has huge community support.
Mortehoe and Woolacombe Community Land Trust (M&W CLT) applied for
funding from the NDC Community Housing Fund for pre-application and
feasibility work. Pre-app feedback from Planning has been acted upon and a
compromise reached with AONB, planning, the Community Land Trust and the
landowner, the National Trust as a possible way forward for the planning
application package.
4.3. The Community Land Trust has now selected a Registered Provider (Aster)
who is putting together a funding package to deliver the proposed 21 affordable
homes in Woolacombe (subject to planning). Homes England and Aster have
put in significant amounts of funding at £141,000 per unit resulting in almost
£3 million of government/Registered Provider funding into North Devon. To
gap-fund the remainder of the scheme North Devon Council will need to
provide £630k (£30,000 per unit).
4.4. It is imperative that NDC push forward the build of these 21 social rented
homes:
4.4.1. Woolacombe is an area that is particularly suffering from the reduction
of private rented sector housing and affordability issues
4.4.2. The scheme has confirmed high levels of external funding, community
backing and willing delivery partners/landowner on board subject to
planning.
4.4.3. This site is an important test case for the National Trust’s flagship
Exception Site Policy (i.e. releasing their land for social value in certain
exception site areas rather than best “financial” value alone).
2

Page 16

Agenda Item 6
4.4.4. In addition, increasing the supply of affordable housing now sits as a
corporate priority and increasing this supply specifically via community-led
housing sits within the Housing and Community Safety Programme aimed
at addressing the housing crisis in North Devon
4.5. Furthermore, the Council, via its former Executive has previously minuted its
clear support for this scheme (even if via borrowing) in the future: In 2018 due
to the increasing demand and costs of temporary accommodation, Housing
used £439,591 of commuted sums to fund the provision of 5 temporary
accommodation units. £200k of this money had been secured from the Sandy
Lane Court development in Woolacombe. Executive (January 2018) agreed
that “the Capital Programme be varied by £439,591 funded as detailed in
paragraphs 5.4 and 5.5 of the report, or following consultation with affected
Ward Members, through borrowing, with the decision as to whether to borrow
and how much being delegated to the Head of Resources in consultation with
the Leader” with a reason for recommendation as “To give the Council the
opportunity to support the proposed affordable housing scheme in Mortehoe
in the future”.
4.6. The grant will be paid by NDC directly to the Registered Provider who is
building the houses and delivering this scheme using their own internal monies
and Homes England funding.
4.7. When a Community Land Trust partners with a Registered Provider, this is how
it works:
4.7.1. The Community Land Trust selects the Registered Provider they want to
work with.
4.7.2. Once planning consent has been obtained, tendering completed, capital
grant allocated and financial viability confirmed, an Option Agreement
between the Community Land Trust, the Registered Provider and the
landowner is exercised.
4.7.3. Under the Option and as back-to back transactions, the landowner
grants a long-term lease to the Registered Provider at the agreed land
price then transfers the freehold to the Community Land Trust for £1.
4.7.4. A freehold/leasehold relationship between the Community Land
Trust/Registered Provider is thereby established which means that the
land is held in perpetuity by the community and exemption is conferred
from various rights to buy (the Right to Shared Ownership, Right to Acquire
and Voluntary Right to Buy).
4.7.5. Under the terms of its lease with the Community Land Trust, the
Registered Provider then funds, develops and operates the homes as
landlord to the residents, receiving the rental income and paying a ground
rent to the Community Land Trust.
4.8. Options for funding the £630,000 are set out below in section 5 (resource
implications). To choose not to gap fund the scheme would mean that the first
3

Page 17

Agenda Item 6
community-led housing scheme in North Devon would not be able to go any
further.
5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
5.1. Use commuted sums available (£372,194.60):
5.1.1. This is outlined below and broken down into parish alongside the
deadline for spend:
Parish
Kings Nympton
Lee/Ilfracombe
Ashford
South Molton
Mortehoe
Tawstock
Total commuted sums

Amount
£94,795.31
£45,000.00
£143,109.29
£14,290.00
£55,000.00
£20,000.00
£372,194.60

Spend deadline
April 2031
April 2030
Jan 2029 & 2030
Jan 2028
Feb 2025 & 2028
Sept 2025

5.1.2. These commuted sums are not restricted to parish and can ultimately be
spent anywhere within the district. Officers endeavour to spend in the
parish in which they were received but the amounts above in isolation
would not provide one unit of affordable housing, even when alongside any
matching Registered Provider income. Therefore, combining the sums in
this way ensures spend before the 10 year deadline. Some seem a long
way off but not in terms of housing developments. As the table above
shows, £55,000 was secured in the parish of Mortehoe.
5.2. Use £162,805.40 of the Community Housing Fund
5.2.1. The balance sits at £348,204, leaving a balance of £185,398.60 in this
Housing Enabling Earmarked Reserve.
5.2.2. Officers and the Community Housing Fund Board had aspired to
preserve the balance of the Community Housing Fund as this will allow all
current parishes/Community-Land Trusts within our programme the
opportunity to move forward their community-led housing projects to be
ready to start on site; not just M&W CLT alone.
5.2.3. However, this would have involved borrowing £162,805.40 and the
associated external borrowing costs. Committee can decide to adopt that
approach but would also need to identify how the revenue impact of
servicing the borrowing would be covered. Officers are therefore
recommending that the Community Housing Fund be used to fund this
remaining amount to avoid borrowing and provide certainty of the delivery
of the M&W CLT scheme. In addition though, the aim will be to build this
fund back up again and potentially continue to top it up, by contributing an
amount from within the Planning, Housing and Health revenue budget or
4

Page 18

Agenda Item 6
other funding streams annually into the Community Housing Fund.
Members should note that this decision will be part of the annual budget
process and will be determined based on spend priorities each year.
5.3. Use £95,000 of current approved capital programme budget from the
remaining balances of:
5.3.1. A previous affordable housing delivery grant (£5,000 under
5168/40210). This is an underspend from a 100% affordable housing
scheme.
5.3.2. A former affordable housing fund (£90,000 under 4133/40210) for rural
affordable housing.
5.3.3. The monies have been carried forward to a 2022/23 spend for the M&W
CLT forecasted start on site date of September 2023 to gap fund the 21
social rents alongside Homes England and Aster internal funding (subject
to Committee approval).
5.3.4. The £95,000 is ring-fenced for affordable housing supply. Affordable
housing (especially via community-led housing) is a corporate priority and
no national Community Housing Fund that can be spent on “capital” has
been received since NDC’s 2016/17 first allocation.
5.4. The payment of grant funding is controlled by the new Subsidy Control Act
2022 which replaces EU State Aid law in the UK and prevents the public sector
subsidising economic operators unfavourably such that it impacts on
international trade. The de minimis financial limit for when this becomes
applicable is approx. £360k, which this funding is over, although this increases
to approx. £840k for Services of Public Economic Interest (SPEI), this is over
a rolling three year period from any public sector funding source. Therefore it
is important that the funding recipient is clear in terms of the funding they may
have received or will receive from the public sector elsewhere to ensure that
this is not inadvertently breached. Given the intentions for this funding as set
out in the report, i.e. to provide social rented housing, then it is highly likely that
this would constitute a SPEI. As it would with any grant provision such funding
must be limited to what is necessary to cover the net cost of discharging the
task and a reasonable profit (if applicable) and not used to subsidise other
elements of the organisation. This will be covered by the grant agreement the
Council puts in place.
6. EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT
6.1. This does not adversely affect any of the protected characteristics and on the
ground this intervention will have a positive or neutral impact on all such groups
of society. Devon Home Choice and Aster have Equality and Diversity policies
to ensure fair access to the advertising of the homes and Aster will then work
with customers to ensure the property is right for them in terms of affordability,
5

Page 19

Agenda Item 6
size and accessibility. More information will be known following the preparation
of the planning application to ensure the Community Land Trust has
considered the protected groups when looking at the design and house types.
This will then be added to the separate Equality Impact Assessment.
7. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT
7.1. The construction of the 21 social rents will have a positive impact on the
environment as they would need to be built (subject to planning approval)
according to the new building regulations (2022 Part L due Summer 2022) with
higher energy efficiency and electric charging points. So there will be some
use of renewables and a biodiversity net gain.
7.2. More information will be known following the preparation of the planning
application. This will then be provided in a separate Environmental
Assessment/EAC checklist.
7.3. In general, Aster aim for a fabric first approach to ensure that properties are
sustainable. Aster’s employer's requirements, require each new home to have
an Energy Performance Certificate rating of B or higher. They also monitor and
require that the Environmental Impact Rating is also at a B or higher. Architects
working on this will have a sustainability brief by the Community Land Trust
including aspirations for open space, for wildlife habitats, rainwater catchment,
drainage and renewable energy sources, such as PV panels and air source
heat pumps. Ecological surveys have been undertaken with recommendations
for habitat retention and enhancements for protected species which will be
included in the design of the development, such as bat flight corridors. Clearly,
any aspirations for the Woolacombe project will need to be balanced against
the cost drivers that are a combination of steep terrain and designations as
AoNB/Heritage Coast/Undeveloped Coast.
8. CORPORATE PRIORITIES
8.1. What impact, positive or negative, does the subject of this report have on:
8.1.1. Improving customer focus:
8.1.1.1. This will be meeting a significant local housing need and is led
from start to finish by the community themselves.
8.1.2. Regeneration or economic development
8.1.2.1. Attracting almost £3m of external funding into the District as well
as the social value of creating affordable housing and the creation of
jobs.
8.1.2.2. Analysis shows that there has been a 67% reduction in available
private rented housing when comparing August 2021 with August
2019 and that North Devon was the worst affected area in the South
West, and the 4th worst affected area nationally. This limits housing
supply in our general housing market and pushes up open market
rents. This can have the effect that people who may have been able
6

Page 20

Agenda Item 6
to access the private rented sector are being displaced and are now
requiring affordable housing for rent.
8.1.2.3. In addition even when adjusting for population there were still the
greatest number of households assessed as homeless at 2.38
households per 1,000 of the population. Despite improving our
renewals process and removing applicants no longer wanting to be
on the register, there has still been a 32% increase in applications
when comparing 2020 to 2021 (Jan-Nov periods). This continues to
put further pressure on our limited affordable housing stock.
8.1.2.4. The parish of Mortehoe is particularly suffering from the reduction
of private rented sector housing and affordability issues. Most open
market housing is out of the reach of the local community and is lost
to second homes, Airbnb and other forms of holiday lets.
9. CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT
9.1. Part 3 Annexe 1(d) (Delegated).
9.2. Article 4.5.19 (Referred)
10. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
This report contains no confidential information or exempt information under
the provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act.
11. BACKGROUND PAPERS
The following background papers were used in the preparation of this report:
(The background papers are available for inspection and kept by the author of
the report).
- Community Housing Fund Board minutes March 2022
- SMT report 3rd May 2022
12. STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE
The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate
Councillors and Officers: Jaimie Jeyes, Service Lead – Affordable Housing

7

Page 21

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7

North Devon Council
Report Date: Strategy & resources Committee on 6 June 2022
Topic: Empty Homes Project
Report by: Senior Enforcement Officer
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1. The Empty Homes Project is one of a suite of projects that fall under the
umbrella of North Devon Council’s Housing and Community Safety
Programme, developed to identify the key housing priorities for the Council and
measures required to deliver them.
1.2. The project is a key action within the programme along with a commitment to
tackle long-term empty properties, adopting a new approach, which also
complements our Private Sector Housing Renewal Strategy.
2. RECOMMENDATIONS
2.1. To approve the adoption of the draft Empty Homes Strategy.
3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
3.1. To increase the housing supply
3.2. To reduce the demand for temporary accommodation
3.3. Tackle empty property nuisance issues
3.4. To improve housing standards
4. REPORT
4.1. Empty homes are a wasted resource, they can lead to complaints from
neighbours and be expensive for their owners to maintain and insure.
Bringing an empty property back into use not only relieves the stress of
worrying about maintaining the property, it also has a number of other
benefits including:
4.1.1. increasing the provision of much needed homes
4.1.2. generating additional income for the owner
4.1.3. contributing to the regeneration of an area
4.1.4. increasing spend in the local economy
4.1.5. potentially increasing the market value of surrounding properties
4.1.6. reducing the risk of crime and anti-social behaviour at the property
4.1.7. reducing the need to build new homes in the area
4.2. The draft empty homes strategy aims to reduce the number of long-term
empty homes in North Devon, tackle empty property nuisance issues,
increase housing supply and reduce the demand for temporary
accommodation.
4.3. The strategy identifies four strategic priorities which are:

Page 23

Agenda Item 7
4.3.1. Provide information, advice, help and support through opportunities
and incentives to owners of empty properties
4.3.2. Proactively engage and work with owners of long term empty
properties
4.3.3. Improve our neighbourhoods by targeting empty properties that have
become the focus of anti-social behaviour and/or neglect
4.3.4. Develop effective partnerships with key stakeholders.
4.4. The strategy brings together a range of opportunities and incentives to
encourage owners of empty homes to bring their properties back into use.
4.5. Council tax data will be used to identify long-term empty homes.
4.6. Interventions will be prioritised to target empty homes that may be suitable for
temporary accommodation. Collaboration with the Housing team will be a
crucial element of this work. We aim to reduce the demand for temporary
accommodation, as well as the cost of expensive B&B / hotel use.
4.7. Nuisance empty properties will be targeted to improve neighbourhoods. This
action may deter and prevent further nuisance and reduce negative impacts
on where people live.
4.8. The strategy consolidates (for the first time) a wide range of legislative
powers available to the Council across different regulatory services.
4.9. The strategy aims to develop positive partnership with key stakeholders to
promote and support efforts to reduce the number of empty homes and the
impact empty homes has on people and their environment.

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
5.1. An empty homes case management module has already been procured.
5.2. Apart from officer resource, no significant additional resource is anticipated.
6. EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT
6.1. Please detail if there are/are not any equalities implications anticipated as a
result of this report. If so, please complete the Equality Impact Assessment
(EIA) Summary form available on Insite and email to the Corporate and
Community Services Team at equality@northdevon.gov.uk.
6.1.1. None
7. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT
7.1. Potential improvements in energy efficiency from increased housing
standards may impact positively on the environment as well as tackling
nuisance empty homes that adversely affect people and their environment.

Page 24

Agenda Item 7
8. CORPORATE PRIORITIES
8.1. What impact, positive or negative, does the subject of this report have on:
8.1.1. The commercialisation agenda:
8.1.1.1. Possible opportunity to purchase empty homes for temporary
accommodation which will reduce demand and cost of B&B/hotel
use
8.1.2. Improving customer focus and/or
8.1.2.1. Interventions will be prioritised to target those empty homes
where there is an acute need for temporary accommodation by
collaborating with the Housing team
8.1.2.2.
Empty homes resulting in a nuisance to people and the
environment will also be targeted
8.1.3. Regeneration or economic development
8.1.3.1. Part of the Council’s response to tackle the housing crisis
8.1.3.2. Improvement in housing standards
8.1.3.3. Opportunity to target empty commercial properties that may be
suitable for use as dwellings
9. CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT
9.1. Article of Part 3 Annexe 1 paragraph:
9.1.1. Strategy & Resources Committee
9.1.2. The adoption of the Empty Homes Strategy will contribute to the
Council’s Housing & Community Safety Programme, developed to
identify key housing priorities for Council.
9.2. Referred or delegated power?
9.2.1. Delegated power
10. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
This report contains no confidential information or exempt information under
the provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act.
11. BACKGROUND PAPERS
The following background papers were used in the preparation of this report:
(The background papers are available for inspection and kept by the author
of the report).
N/A
12. STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE
The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate
Councillors and Officers: Fred Shelton, Senior Enforcement Officer.

Page 25

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

Empty Homes
Strategy 2022

Page 27

1

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

Vision Statement
North Devon Council will strategically plan and deliver housing provision to meet local
needs. Working with our partners, we will take the action necessary to tackle the widening
imbalance in supply and demand.

Introduction
The Empty Homes Project is one of a suite of projects that fall under the umbrella of North
Devon Council’s Housing and Community Safety Programme, developed to identify the
key housing priorities for the Council and measures required to deliver them.
This comprehensive and ambitious Empty Homes Strategy is a key action within the
programme along with a commitment to tackle long-term empty properties, adopting a new
approach, which also complements our Private Sector Housing Renewal Strategy.

What is an empty home?
A property which has been empty for in excess of six months is considered to be a long
term empty property. The Housing Act 2004 strengthened Council powers, although
Councils have a number of legislative controls across other services too.

Why are properties being left empty?
It is important to recognise that not all empty homes are a major problem, there are often
good reasons for properties being left empty, for example they can be empty between a
change of occupants, they are for sale, or they are undergoing refurbishment. However,
there are increasing numbers of empty homes and properties that are problematic which
are left empty for longer than is reasonable. This is particularly acute during a time where
there are fewer properties for sale on the housing market.
We know there are approximately 140 domestic properties that have been empty for more
than two years in North Devon.

Reasons a property may be left empty
Individual factors






The owner may be unwilling to consider leasing or letting the property
The owner may be temporarily working abroad and intends to live in the property in
the future
The owner may not be aware of the property’s existence, for example where
accurate property records are not kept
Unresolved ownership matters, for example following the death of an owner
The owner may not fully appreciate the financial benefit of bringing their empty
property back into use

Page 28

2

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A





The owner may have acquired the property solely for speculative investment
purposes and be unconcerned that the property is empty
The owner may be a development company, with plans for its future redevelopment
The property may be joined to a business property and the business owner does
not want to let it
The owner may be in hospital or care

Property factors





The property may be in need of major repairs or renovation and the owner may not
have the financial resource to make it habitable
There may be problems with accessing the property
There may be planning constraints which restrict the occupancy of the property
The property has been repossessed

The benefits of bringing empty properties back into use
Empty homes are a wasted resource, they can lead to complaints from neighbours and
can cost owners a lot of money to maintain and insure. Bringing an empty property back
into use not only relieves the stress of worrying about maintaining the property, it also has
a number of other benefits including:








increasing the provision of much needed homes
generating additional income for the owner
contributing to the regeneration of an area
increasing spend in the local economy
potentially increasing the market value of surrounding properties
reducing the risk of crime and anti-social behaviour at the property
reducing the need to build new homes in the area

The consequences of leaving a property empty
Some properties remain empty, fall into disrepair and can become a blight on the
neighbourhood. Despite the reasons why a property could remain empty, without
intervention there can be consequences:







increased risk of crime and anti-social behaviour such as vandalism, drugs or
squatting
increased risk of complaints from neighbours
reduction in the value of the empty property and potentially of others within the area
increased need to build new properties
reduced investment and spending in the local economy
an unattractive visual amenity in an otherwise attractive neighbourhood

Page 29

3

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

Objective
By supporting the repair, improvement, adaptation or conversion of empty properties to
bring them back into use as homes, we aim to:




reduce the number of long term empty homes in North Devon
increase the housing supply
tackle empty property nuisance issues

We have identified four strategic priorities, each with a number of key actions, which we
aim to deliver. The four strategic priorities to bring empty properties back into use are to:
1. Provide information, advice, help and support through opportunities and
incentives to owners of empty properties
2. Proactively engage and work with owners of long term empty properties
3. Improve our neighbourhoods by targeting empty properties that have become
the focus of anti-social behaviour and/or neglect
4. Develop effective partnerships with key stakeholders.

Page 30

4

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

Priority 1:

Provide information, advice, help and support
through opportunities and incentives to owners
of empty properties

Whether the owner requires financial assistance to repair or renovate their property, or to
let it out with peace of mind, our experienced officers will be on hand to help. We can
provide advice on selling and help with finding a purchaser. We are committed to getting
empty properties back into use as homes because nobody will benefit from a property
remaining empty. We will provide owners of empty properties with a range of information,
advice, help and support.
There are many opportunities and incentives to bring empty properties back into use,
some of which are listed below:










North Devon Council’s Private Sector Leasing scheme
Lendology CIC loans
Reduced VAT rates
Free empty homes matchmaker scheme
Rent the property through a letting agent
Sell the property
The Council Tax cost of keeping a property empty
Holiday lets and AirBnBs
Planning permission to change the use of a commercial property to a dwelling

North Devon Council’s Private Sector Leasing scheme
We will actively encourage and work with owners of empty properties to join our Private
Sector Lease (PSL) scheme as this is our preferred option. Our scheme enables us to get
empty properties back into use as homes, whilst protecting the owner’s asset because we
will let, maintain and manage each property. By joining the scheme, the owner of the
empty home will also be helping us reduce the amount of public money spent on
temporary accommodation. We will target and prioritise the type, size and location of
empty homes to ensure they are suitable for our PSL scheme and meet our strategic
housing needs.
To meet the criteria, properties must be unfurnished, in a good condition and with
adequate heating, there must also be demand for the size of property available. In
addition, there must also be the consent of any mortgage company, landlord or insurer,
together with any other necessary consents.

The benefits of our Private Sector Leasing scheme:
The Council will:
 pay rent quarterly in advance at competitive rates
 pay a guaranteed rent – whether the property is occupied or vacant
 have responsibility for services - gas, electric, water and council tax when property
is empty

Page 31

5

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A



















manage the property on a day-to-day basis so the owner will have no direct
dealings with the tenants
find occupants and keep the property occupied, where possible
hold spare keys for the property
issue keys and recover keys from occupants
carry out regular inspections – at least quarterly. Weekly if not tenanted
pay a “termination bonus” at the end of the lease as a contribution towards redecorating - this is only paid after two years
arrange all inspections, servicing and call-outs under your maintenance contract for
the central heating/hot water system
take responsibility for up to five minor repairs every year
repair damage caused by tenants or the council - unless covered by the owner’s
insurance and excluding fair wear and tear
carry out minor repairs and notify the owner if landlord repairs are required
arrange landlord repairs on the owner’s behalf (subject to agreement about
payment)
issue agreements to occupants and do our best to ensure these are met
try to resolve any disputes between occupants and neighbours
guarantee vacant possession at the end of the lease
ensure property is kept in good order when vacant
cover up to £100 excess of any claim which results from an act or omission by us or
the tenant
remove rubbish at the end of the lease
keep any garden tidy

Letting and safety standards that a property needs to meet
The properties we use in our PSL scheme need to meet minimum standards and we work
with empty property owners who are interested in joining the scheme to identify any
improvements that are required. (Many of the properties are used by families with young
children so we pay particular attention to ponds, greenhouses, low-level glass, stair rails
and other safety issues that may not concern an adult).
We use the Decent Homes Standard to determine whether properties are in a reasonable
condition; the four we require are:
1. Homes must be free from Category 1 hazards as assessed using the new Housing
Health and Safety Rating System. Category 1 hazards are defects that could harm
the health or safety of the occupier. Typical examples are inadequate heating,
dampness or electrical hazards
2. Homes must be in a reasonable state of repair. This means the main elements of
the structure such as the roof, walls, windows, plumbing and/or heating should not
be old and in poor condition
3. Homes should have reasonably modern facilities and services. This means
bathrooms should be less than 30 years old and appropriately located, and that
kitchens should be less than 20 years old and have adequate space and layout

Page 32

6

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A
4. Homes should provide a reasonable degree of thermal comfort. This means homes
should have an efficient, programmable system of heating and adequate standards
of insulation
Our team is available to answer any questions by telephone on 01271 388362 / 3 or email
housingoptions@northdevon.gov.uk
We are duty bound to consider appropriate enforcement action if we discover serious
disrepair or defects upon inspection, even if the lease is subsequently not taken up. This is
defined in Part 1 of the Housing Act 2004. The owner will be responsible for the cost of
any works required to make the property safe.

Landlord responsibilities
There are a number of measures that landlords would need to take as part of their
responsibilities:














To provide proof of ownership (ensuring it matches the name and address on the
application to the council) and all necessary consents and permissions from any
third party, including mortgage lender, head landlord and insurance provider before
the lease starts
To insure the property to the full reinstatement value and public liability to the value
of two million pounds. To claim against the insurance if required
To allow us to carry out the gas, electric, asbestos and energy performance checks
for which the landlord will then be recharged
To pay all existing and future taxes assessments and outgoings imposed or
charged upon the property
To keep the installations for the supply of water, gas, electricity, sanitation, central
heating and heating water in the property in proper working order
Take out an appropriate maintenance contract for the hot water and heating
Provide the property in the condition agreed and ensure it is well-maintained and
safe for the period of the lease (given that we may arrange and in some cases pay
for this)
To keep the structure and exterior of the property (including roof, drains, gutters and
external pipes) in good repair
To fit new locks to the front and back doors and provide all keys for any access and
exit doors to the property, prior to the start of the lease
Continue to pay the service charge for any flat
Allow us to manage and the occupants to live in the property without interference

We will need to see a Landlords Gas Safety Certificate and an Electrical Certificate to
ensure the safety of the property and we can arrange the checks on behalf of the owner.
We can also implement a central heating / hot water system maintenance contract so we
do not have to approach the owner if something goes wrong.
The property owner will need to inform the insurance company that they have joined the
scheme and take out public liability insurance cover.

Page 33

7

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

Lendology CIC loans
To help fund property improvements we have worked in partnership with Lendology CIC
since 2005. Where a property requires improvement to get it back into use, or a renovation
needs a cash injection to complete the project before renting or selling, a range of loans
are available. Loans are also available for commercial conversion of buildings into
dwellings (subject to planning permission).
Where we have taken possession of a property, following an application for an Empty
Dwelling Management Order, we will consider using the Lendology loans scheme to
finance works necessary to bring the property back into use. We will then consider
whether the property is best let for social housing or via a private letting agent. The service
of the loan and the management costs will be met from rental income.
We will review our current loan policy and consider recommending the adoption of a wider
range of loan criteria to encourage and facilitate an increase in the number of loan
applications.
Lendology offer online empty property loan decisions in principle, which do not impact the
applicant’s credit score via their website:
www.lendology.org.uk/loans/empty-property-loans/
Owners of empty properties can contact Lendology for an informal chat with one of their
expert loans advisers about the empty property and how they may be able to help on
01823 461099, email loans@lendology.org.uk or complete our online contact form.
Lendology currently provides the following loan information citeria on its website:
Works that are covered:













Removal of category 1 hazards
Renovation
Energy efficiency
External wall insulation
Replacement boilers
Central heating installations
Roofs
Windows
Electrics
Kitchens
Bathrooms
Structural repairs

Who can apply?







Empty property owner
In receipt of benefits
Retirees
No upper age limit
Self-employed
Poor credit history

Page 34

8

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A
What Lendology offer









Borrow from £1,000
Fixed interest rate
Typical 4.2% APR
No early repayment charges
Up to 15 year repayment period
Flexibility to make overpayments of £100 or more
Deferred repayment options
Range of loan types based on circumstances

Reduced VAT rates
Domestic building work, including repair, maintenance and improvements are usually
charged at the standard rate of 20% VAT.
However, there are a number of circumstances in which VAT on building works is charged
at a reduced rate or even zero-rated. For up to date advice please visit www.hmrc.gov.uk
or seek independent advice on the opportunities and restrictions.
Owners of empty homes claim a VAT refund by providing evidence that the property has
been empty for the required period.

Installation of certain energy efficiency measures
Reduced rates of VAT currently apply to a number of types of building works, such as
installing energy saving measures, adapting a building for a disabled person or for
converting a non-residential building into a home. More information is available at VAT for
Builders.
A reduced VAT rate applies to the installation of the following energy efficiency measures:










Central heating and hot water controls
Draught stripping
Insulation
Solar panels
Wind Turbines
Ground source heat pumps
Air source heat pumps
Micro combined heat and power units; and
Wood-fuelled boilers

Change in the number of dwelling units
A 5% VAT rate applies to the cost of renovation work to a building in residential use that
results in a change in the number of dwelling units such as dividing a house into flats.
There is no reduced VAT rate for DIY. More information can be found at VAT Notice 708.

Page 35

9

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A
New dwellings
The supply of new dwellings including labour and materials is zero rated for VAT. More
information van be found at zero rating the construction of new buildings.

Free empty homes matchmaker scheme
We will provide a matchmaker service connecting owners of empty homes with potential
buyers, investors or developers.
The service will aim to match owners of empty homes (who would like to sell their
property) with people who want to buy an empty home. Whether the empty home needs
total renovation or is ready to move into, any potential seller will be welcome to join the
scheme. We will benchmark with other councils and develop a policy for adoption.
Whilst we will not disclose details of empty homes without the owner’s consent, we will
enable potential buyers to make a purchase enquiry about an empty home on our website.
Following an enquiry, we will contact the owner of the empty home to advise them of the
enquiry and supply the contact details of the enquirer.

Rent the property through a letting agent
Another option available to an owner of an empty home is to rent the property through a
letting agent. Letting agent fees will apply.

Sell the property
Whilst not our preferred option, selling an empty property may be the only way to get it
back into use. We will support owners of empty properties who wish to retain ownership of
their asset and help them explore alternatives to selling, however if an owner decides to
sell we will provide advice on:





selling to the Council
using our property matchmaker scheme
selling on the open market
auctioning the property

We will not apply for an Empty Dwelling Management Order in respect of a property which
is actively being marketed for sale.

The Council Tax cost of keeping a property empty
Empty, unfurnished properties are eligible for a discount for up to three months. After this
period the full amount of Council Tax becomes payable.
Properties which remain empty and unfurnished will be charged an empty property
premium as a percentage of their Council Tax payment:

Page 36

10

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A




Empty and unfurnished for two years - 200% of the normal liability
Empty and unfurnished for five years - 300% of the normal liability
Empty and unfurnished for ten years - 400% of the normal liability

Some empty properties may be exempt from Council Tax and examples are listed below:











owned by a charity (exempt for up to six months)
left empty by someone who is now in prison
left empty by someone who has moved to receive personal care in a hospital or a
home
repossessed properties (in possession of the mortgage company)
waiting for probate or letters of administration to be granted (and for up to six
months after)
the responsibility of a trustee in bankruptcy
empty because the law has said it must not be lived in
waiting to be lived in by a minister of religion
left empty by students who live elsewhere to carry out their course
unable to be let separately because they are part of a main property or there is a
planning restriction

We will target properties charged with an empty property premium and with council tax
arrears and where appropriate, will take enforcement action to recover the debt.
It is worth noting that changes to the qualifying period for application of the council tax long
term-empty homes premium were announced on The Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill
in the Queen’s Speech on 10 May 2022.
The Bill will allow us to consider homes as empty dwellings after one year rather than the
current two years and we will be allowed to apply the following maximum additional charge
for empty homes:




100% after one year
200% after five years
300% after 10 years.

Holiday lets and AirBnBs
We will provide information to owners of holiday lets and AirBnB properties of their
responsibilities for considerate letting and encourage them to let their properties as
permanent homes for our citizens. We will promote the social and economic advantages of
switching back from short-term holiday use to a permanent residential use.
We will work collaboratively with our colleagues across environmental protection, housing
and planning services to assess impact from anti-social behaviour as well as the impact on
the sustainability and vibrancy of the community from the loss of permanent housing in the
local market. We will consider enforcement action on a case-by-case basis.

Page 37

11

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

Planning permission to change the use of a commercial property to a
dwelling
We will collaborate with the Planning Policy Team and Development Management Team
to identify empty commercial properties where planning policy supports the creation of
dwellings. We will target commercial properties for development and invite owners to
consider a change of use of their commercial property to a dwelling.
The National Planning Policy Framework states that planning policies and decisions
should:
‘promote and support the development of under-utilised land and buildings,
especially if this would help to meet identified needs for housing where land supply
is constrained and available sites could be used more effectively (for example
converting space above shops, and building on or above service yards, car parks,
lock-ups and railway infrastructure) ; and
support opportunities to use the airspace above existing residential and commercial
premises for new homes. In particular, they should allow upward extensions where
the development would be consistent with the prevailing height and form of
neighbouring properties and the overall street scene, is well-designed (including
complying with any local design policies and standards), and can maintain safe
access and egress for occupiers.’

Page 38

12

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

Priority 2:

Proactively engage and work with owners of
long term empty properties

There is a good chance that a property is empty if:








it is boarded up or has metal screens over the doors and
windows
no one is ever seen entering or leaving the property
the front and back gardens are very overgrown
there is rubbish dumped at the front or back of the property
there are pests and vermin
there is evidence of squatting or illegal activities
it looks derelict, with broken windows and doors, holes in the roof
or a large amount of uncollected post built up

We want to bring as many empty properties back into use as we can, so we will dedicate a
page on our website to our empty homes initiatives, with all information, opportunities,
incentives and links in a single place to help our customers. We will also use social media
to inform our residents and customers of our activities and successes.
We will make it easy for our customers to report empty homes on our website or to our
Customer Service team. We are committed to positive and supportive engagement with
owners of empty properties to help get them back into use and whilst we will always
investigate and react to reports of empty of empty properties, our interventions are mainly
proactive.
As part of our free empty homes matchmaker service we will provide an enquiry service for
potential purchasers, developers and investors to enquire about an empty home they may
be interested in. We will then contact the property owner with a view to connecting them
with the enquirer.
We use council tax data to identify properties empty for six months or more and will trace
and contact the owners to discuss their plans for their property. We will work positively with
owners to help them decide how they can best bring the property back into use. We may
be able to provide details of registered builders, local letting agents and information on the
legal requirements for letting a dwelling.
Our officers will be sympathetic to different circumstances and have a comprehensive
knowledge of the opportunities and incentives available. We will:










listen to owners of empty properties
sympathise and try to work through solutions
arrange site meetings
carry out property inspections
provide repairs & renovations advice
explain finance options
discuss potential income
explain letting or selling options
explain our enforcement powers

Page 39

13

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A
Once an owner of an empty home has decided to bring their property back into use we will
actively encourage them to work with us to provide social or private housing for people
wanting to live (and work) in North Devon.
Our policies and operational procedures will have regard to the Regulators’ Code and we
will adopt the following five principles of good regulatory compliance:






Transparency – we will publish information on how we work, provide guidance and
advice to our customers and explain our enforcement policy
Targeted – we will base our activities on risk
Consistency – we will treat similar situations in similar ways
Proportionality – our actions will be fair and balanced
Accountability – we will take ownership of our work and publsih information on
how to comment or complain about our service. We are committed to continuous
improvement in the delivery of the service.

Page 40

14

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A
The owners of this former hotel in Ilfracombe had mothballed the listed building, which had
been in a state of significant disrepair for a number of years.

We engaged with the owners who agreed to sell the listed building to avoid enforcement
action. The building was purchased at auction by a property development company who
secured planning permission to convert the building into residential apartments.

Page 41

15

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

Priority 3:

Improve our neighbourhoods by targeting empty
properties that have become the focus of antisocial behaviour and/or neglect

Reporting an empty home
Our customers can report an empty home on our website at Report an empty home. We
will record the report on our case management system and undertake a risk assessment.

Targeting empty homes
Properties that have been empty for some time often cause problems for people who live
in the local area. As well as affecting the overall environment through their appearance,
empty properties can become the target of anti-social and criminal behaviour.
To ensure our resources are appropriately targeted, we will use a scoring matrix to help us
decide which properties to target and we will consider the following factors:





Environmental - such as boarded up windows, accumulated rubbish/fly tipping and
overgrown gardens
Social – whether the property is in disrepair, attracted crime, vandalism, graffiti,
anti-social behaviour or where the property is well maintained but located in an area
where there is an acute housing shortage
Health or Safety – whether the property affects the integrity of neighbouring
properties, if there are hazards to the public or pest activity
Length of time the property has been empty.

See appendix 1 – empty homes risk assessment matrix

Tools
We use a number of tools to help us track, contact and engage with owners of empty
properties; These include:







HM Land Registry – check property ownership
Valuation Office – check council tax status
Council Tax team – for information on length of time empty and debt owed
Estate Research – free track and trace service
UK Property Rescue – providing trade services and specialising in Local Authority
works in default
NP Law – Compulsory Purchase Orders consultancy service

Page 42

16

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

Enforcement action and our legislative powers
We have a number of tools and legislative powers we can use to help us bring empty
properties back into use. We will normally try to engage with owners and explore the range
of opportunities and incentives to bring empty properties back into use before using our
enforcement powers.
However, given the range of opportunities and incentives and our commitment to positively
engage and work with owners of empty properties, we will consider enforcement action if
the owner of an empty property is unwilling or unable to bring the property back into use.
It is important that we use the most appropriate legislation when taking enforcement
action. We will consider the most appropriate legislative powers across:








Housing
Planning
Environmental Health
Environmental Protection
Building Control
Council Tax
Other Enforcement Legislation

Housing Act 2004
Empty Dwelling Management Order (EDMO)
EDMOs enable us to take control of and manage a residential property that has been
empty for over six months and where the following apply:






all attempts to contact the owner or negotiations to bring the property back into
use have failed
the dwelling has been unoccupied for at least two years
there is no prospect of the dwelling becoming occupied in the near future
there is a reasonable prospect that the dwelling will become occupied if an EDMO
is made
we have complied with our duties in seeking an EDMO, including ensuring that the
dwelling is not subject to an exemption under the regulations

When we have given the owner three months’ notice that we intend to seek an EDMO we
can apply to the Residential Property Tribunal Service for authorisation to serve an Interim
EDMO. We will need to demonstrate that property has been empty for two years, has a
negative impact on the local community and there is local support for the use of an EDMO.
The tribunal will take into account the interests of the local community as well as the rights
of the owner.
If successful, we will register the EDMO as a local land charge to make it known that the
property is under our control and to prevent the owner from selling it without us being able
to recover any associated costs up to the date of completion. An Interim EDMO lasts for
12 months during which we will work with the owner to try to agree a way to put the
property back into use.
17

Page 43

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A
Once we have secured an Interim EDMO we will consider whether and when to apply for a
Final EDMO, which will include a schedule of works and cost estimates. A Final EDMO
lasts up to seven years.
An EDMO allows us to take control of the management of the property, but not obtain
ownership. By taking over the management of the property we can undertake renovation
works to bring the property up to the Decent Homes Standard. All management costs are
met from rental income.
An EDMO allows us to bring an empty property back into use without changing its
ownership. We can recover any costs we incur by taking possession of the property and
making it habitable.
There are exemptions which prevent us serving an EDMO. These are:









Second homes
Holiday lets
Flats and houses normally occupied by students
The owner is in prison
The owner is receiving or giving care
The owner is in the armed forces
The relevant proprietor is temporarily residing elsewhere
The property is on the market for sale or let

The Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS)
Our officers will carry out inspections of empty properties using the HHSRS to assess
whether there are any hazards in a home that could affect someone’s health. There are 29
prescribed hazards with high risk classed as Category 1 and lesser risks as Category 2.
If we find a Category 1 hazard we have a duty under section 11 of the Act to serve notice.
Section 12 of the Act provides us with the powers to serve notices relating to Category 2
hazards. We can consider the following enforcement action against the owner:








Serve an improvement notice
Make a prohibition order
Serve a hazard awareness notice
Take emergency remedial action
Make an emergency prohibition order under
Make a demolition order under the Housing Act 1985
Declare the area in which the premises concerned are situated to be a clearance
area under the Housing Act 1985.

Housing Act 1985
We have powers under section 17 of the Housing Act to acquire houses or buildings which
may be suitable as houses by way of compulsory purchase.

Page 44

18

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A
Whilst we will always continue to engage with owners of empty properties and explain all
available options to bring properties back into use, we will consider compulsory purchase
action as a last resort where the owner:




is unable or unwilling to co-operate with voluntary measures we have offered
has failed to agree to refurbish or occupy the property
is untraceable

We will prioritise and target property types that meet our strategic needs for social and
affordable housing. We must demonstrate that there is a proven housing need and that it
is the public interest to compulsorily purchase an empty property.
We can recover the cost of taking compulsory purchase action when the property is sold.
We may also be able to impose restrictions (known as covenants) to ensure the property is
improved to a decent homes standard and occupied within 12 months of the date of sale.

Town and Country Planning Act 1990
Section 215 Notice
We can issue a notice under section 215 of the Act if the condition of land or a building is
causing significant harm to the amenity of an area we have the power to require its proper
maintenance.
If we serve this notice, we must specify what action is required to improve the condition of
the land and give a timeframe for compliance. If nothing happens, we have discretion to
extend the deadline, prosecute the offender or to take direct action.
We also have powers under section 219 of the Act to undertake the clean up works
themselves and to recover the costs from the landowner. We can take direct action if we
have issued an enforcement notice and its requirements have not been met. If we take
direct action and are unable to recover the cost from the landowner, we may place a
charge on the land to recover costs. In all cases, before we decide to take direct action we
will:





assess if the condition is continuing to cause significant harm or cause harm over a
wide area
look at the overall costs of carrying out the action and the prospects of recovering
any costs
assess any risks to the health and safety of our employees, contractors, the owner
or occupier(s) of the property
check whether the direct action is consistent with our corporate objectives and
overriding objectives of national planning policy

In some circumstances section 215 notices may be used in conjunction with other powers,
for example, repair notices in respect of listed buildings or dangerous structure notices.

Page 45

19

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A
The owner had removed the ground floor bay window of an empty home in Barnstaple.

Following the owner’s failure to engage with us, we took enfocement action under planning
legislation to secure the reinstatement of the window and removal of overgrown foliage.

Page 46

20

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
Urgent Works Notice
We have the power to execute urgent works that appear to us to be urgently necessary for
the preservation of an unoccupied listed building under section 54 of the Act and we can
require the owner to pay the costs incurred in carrying out the works.
We cannot use these powers in relation to the following:





an ecclesiastical building which is for the time being used for ecclesiastical
purposes
any building which is a scheduled monument
Crown land, except on a non-Crown interest in the land . .
any listed building which is occupied (where the building is occupied in part, the
powers may be used in relation to those parts which are not in use)

The Secretary of State may direct that the powers can apply to an unlisted building in a
conservation area where it appears to him/her that its preservation is important for
maintaining the character or appearance of the conservation area.

Repairs Notice
If it appears that reasonable steps are not being taken for the proper preservation of a
listed building we can serve a Repairs Notice and subsequently compulsorily acquire the
building under section 47 of the Act. This is a reserve power which is only used to ensure
the long-term preservation of a listed building.
There is a two-stage process. The service of a:
(i)
(ii)

Repairs Notice and
Notice of compulsory acquisition on every owner, lessee and occupier if, after
the expiry of two months it appears to the appropriate authority that reasonable
steps are not being taken for properly preserving the building.

The Repairs Notice must specify the works which are reasonably necessary for the proper
preservation of the listed building and we must explain the effect of powers we have under
sections 47 to 50 of the Act.
We cannot commence compulsory purchase of a listed building unless we have already
served a Repairs Notice at least two months previously. Instead of a purchase price being
paid upfront, compensation is payable to the owner of the building based on its market
value.
However, if we are able to prove that the listed building has been deliberately allowed to
fall into disrepair for the purpose of justifying its demolition, only minimum compensation
may be payable. But proving that the neglect is deliberate can be challenging.

Page 47

21

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949
We have powers under section 4 of the Act to require the owner of land to take steps for
the destruction of rats or mice or keeping land free from rats and mice. We can carry out
works in default and recovery of the costs incurred.

Environmental Protection Act 1990
Some empty properties can require inspections to determine whether they result in a
statutory nuisance. Section 79 of the Act defines what constitutes a statutory nuisance:












any premises in such a state as to be prejudicial to health or a nuisance
smoke emitted from premises so as to be prejudicial to health or a nuisance
fumes or gases emitted from premises so as to be prejudicial to health or a
nuisance
any dust, steam, smell or other effluvia arising on industrial, trade or business
premises and being prejudicial to health or a nuisance
any accumulation or deposit which is prejudicial to health or a nuisance
any animal kept in such a place or manner as to be prejudicial to health or a
nuisance
any insects emanating from relevant industrial, trade or business premises and
being prejudicial to health or a nuisance
artificial light emitted from premises so as to be prejudicial to health or a nuisance
noise emitted from premises so as to be prejudicial to health or a nuisance
noise that is prejudicial to health or a nuisance and is emitted from or caused by a
vehicle, machinery or equipment in a street
any other matter declared by any enactment to be a statutory nuisance

Where a complaint of a statutory nuisance is made about an empty property by a person
living within its area, we have a duty to take reasonably practicable steps to investigate
and detect any statutory nuisances.
We can serve an abatement notice under section 80 of the Act when we are satisfied that
a statutory nuisance exists, or is likely to occur or recur to require the:



abatement of the nuisance or prohibiting or restricting its occurrence or recurrence
the execution of such works, and the taking of such other steps, as may be
necessary for any of those purposes

Under section 59 of the Act we can require the occupier of land to remove waste deposited
and/or to take steps to eliminate or reduce the consequences of the deposit of the waste.

Page 48

22

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

Building Act 1984
Defective premises
We can serve a notice and take action to remedy the defective state of a building under
section 76 of the Act if it appears to us that:



any premises are in such a defective state as to be prejudicial to health or a
nuisance and
there has been unreasonable delay in remedying the defective state as precribed
by section 80 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990

Dangerous building
If it appears to us that a building or structure (or part of) is in a dangerous condition, we
can apply to a magistrates’ court to take action under section 77 of the Act. The court may:




where danger arises from the condition of the building or structure, make an order
requiring the owner to:
o execute such work as may be necessary to prevent the danger or,
o if the owner chooses, demolish the building or structure, or any dangerous
part of it, and remove any rubbish resulting from the demolition
where danger arises from overloading of the building or structure, make an order
restricting its use until a magistrates’ court, being satisfied that any necessary works
have been executed, withdraws or modifies the restriction

If the person fails to execute works that are necessary to prevent the danger, we can:



execute the order in such manner as they think fit, and
recover the expenses reasonably incurred by them in doing so from the person in
default

Dangerous building—emergency measures
Section 78 of the Act allows us give notice to the owner of a dangerous building, take
necessary action and recover reasonably incurred expenses if it appears to us that:



a building or structure, or part of a building or structure, is in such a state, or is used
to carry such loads, as to be dangerous, and
immediate action should be taken to remove the danger

Ruinous or dilapidated buildings and neglected sites
If it appears to us that a building or structure is in a ruinous or dilapidated condition and is
seriously detrimental to the amenities of the neighbourhood we can serve a notice under
section 79 of the Act to require the owner to:


execute such works of repair or restoration, or

Page 49

23

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A


if the owner chooses, demolish the building or structure, or any part thereof, and
removing any rubbish or other material resulting from or exposed by the demolition

We can also serve a notice to require removal of rubbish from collapse or demolition from
the site and any adjoining land if the condition of the land is seriously detrimental to the
amenity of the neighbourhood.

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982
Protection of buildings
Under section 29 of the Act we can serve a notice and undertake works to a building to
prevent unauthorised entry to it or to prevent it from becoming a danger to public health.
We can use these powers if it appears to us that:



the building is unoccupied or
the occupier of the building is temporarily absent from it

If we carry out works to protect a building we can recover reasonable expenses from the
owner.

Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014
Community Protection Notice
A Community Protection Notice (CPN) can be a useful tool to encourage the owner of an
empty property to engage with us to bring the property back into use. We will consider
issuing a CPN where there are issues connected to an empty property have a detrimental
impacts on the quality of life of people who live near the property. These issues could
include abandoned vehicles and vandalism or graffiti.
However, there is no requirement for us to be able to see the impacts from the public
realm so we will issue CPNs to secure improvements to detrimental impacts that are often
hidden from the wider public, such as overgrown rear gardens.
A CPN is a notice that imposes any of the following requirements on the individual or body
issued with it:




to stop doing specified things
to do specified things
to take reasonable steps to achieve specified results

Under section 43 of the Act we can issue a CPN to anyone aged 16 or over, or a body, if
we are satisfied on reasonable grounds that:



the conduct of the individual or body is having a detrimental effect, of a persistent or
continuing nature, on the quality of life of those in the locality and
the conduct is unreasonable

Page 50

24

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A
Conduct on a property is considered to be conduct of the occupier of that property. If there
is no occupier, or the owner or occupier cannot be identified, the Notice can be posted on
the property
We can only impose reasonable requirements to:



prevent the detrimental effect from continuing or recurring or
reduce that detrimental effect or to reduce the risk of its continuance or recurrence

If those actions are not taken, the person the notice is serve on can be prosecuted and
required by the court to take action. In addition we can arrange to take action, (but notice
has to be served again if the action is needed indoors) with the costs being the liability of
the person who didn’t take action.
The legislation does not time limit the length of a CPN so requirements to prevent
detrimental impacts could be imposed. This could provide further incentive for an owner to
engage with us.

Closure of Premises Notice
Under section 76 of the Act we have powers to issue a closure notice if we are satisfied on
reasonable grounds that:



the use of a particular premises has resulted, or (if the notice is not issued) is likely
soon to result, in nuisance to members of the public, or
that there has been, or (if the notice is not issued) is likely soon to be, disorder near
those premises associated with the use of those premises,

and that the notice is necessary to prevent the nuisance or disorder from continuing,
recurring or occurring.

The Council Tax (Administration and Enforcement) Regulations 1992
We are committed to engagement, but where an owner of an empty property has
outstanding Council Tax debt in excess of £1,000 we will consider applying to the
Magistrates’ Court for a liability order, which is a legal demand for payment. Once secured
we can make a similar application for a charging order.
There are three stages within this process:1. Interim charging order - can be secured generally without the debtor being present
and once secured will be registered at HM Land Registry
2. Final charging order – can be applied for once an interim charging order has been
obtained. The debtor may object to this order, however, the burden of proof is on
the debtor to show why such an order should not be made.
3. Order for sale - we can apply to the Court for an order of sale. The Court has
discretion to make an order of sale and will take into account the following factors:

Page 51

25

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A
o
o
o
o

the size of debt and length of time it has been outstanding
likelihood of the debt being satisfied from the proceeds of sale
whether the Council is unlikely to recover the debt using other methods available
the request is reasonable and proportional under Article 8 of the Human Rights
Act 1998.

Enforced Sale - Law of Property Act 1925
Many statutes allow us to serve a notice requiring the owner of a property to carry out
works. Sometimes failure to comply with a notice amounts to an offence and often we
have the right to carry out the works in default and to recover the cost. Sometimes the
legislation allows us to apply to the Court for a charging order to be registered against the
property for the amount of the works in default costs. The Act governs the operation of the
enforced sale procedure.
We can exercise a power of sale conferred under the charging order to recover the money
we are owed for carrying out the work in default. It is a similar power that a bank or
building society uses to sell a house when the owner has defaulted on the mortgage
payments. This does not cover the right to sell a property because due to council tax
arrears. That process, unlike the enforced sale procedure requires an application to court
and an order for sale.
The following statutes are some of those that help with empty homes, which can be used
to reclaim costs and can lead to a charging order on the property:






Section 4 of the prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949
Section 79 of the Building Act 1984
Section 80 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990
Section 215 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990
Sections 11 and 12 of the Housing Act 2004

We will consider carrying out enforced sales on any empty property within the district when
£500 or more is owed to the Council through works in default being undertaken. Any
surplus is paid to the owner or mortgagee.
An Enforced Sale brings two main benefits:



Money owed to the Council is recovered
The property is sold to a new owner with the expectation that it will be brought back
into use.

We will act proportionately when deciding whether to commence with action to enforce the
sale of an empty property and ensure that it is in the public interest. We will consider an
enforced sale if:



the owner is unable or unwilling to co-operate with voluntary measures offered by
us, such as the refurbishment of the property
the owner is untraceable or unavailable to act.

Page 52

26

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A
We will normally follow best practice and sell the property at auction. It is important that we
seek to obtain the best price as we have a duty to the owner of the property not to sell a
property at an under value.
When the property has been sold we can deduct the following from the sale proceeds:







the original works in default costs and costs of putting the charge on
legal costs in undertaking the enforced sale procedure
legal costs in connection with the slae
auctioneer’s or other marketing costs
any local authority officer time in relation to the enforced sale process
any other debts owed to the Council and charged on the property

Human Rights Act 1998
Berfore we take enforcement action we will consider the provisions of the Human Rights
Act 1998, in particular:

 Part 1, Article 8 “the right to respect for… private and family life…, home and…
correspondence”, and
 Protocol 1, Article 1 “peaceful enjoyment of… possessions”, need to be balanced
against the general benefits and rights of neighbours and the surrounding
community.

Page 53

27

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

Priority 4:
Develop effective partnerships with key
stakeholders
Developing relationships and working with partners & stakeholders is an important way of
engaging with our customers, developing policies and promoting our work. We recognise
that without these relationships the our effectiveness is diminished.
We will collaborate and engage with individuals, organisations and bodies who share our
commitment to getting empty properties back into use. These include:





Elected Ward Councillors
Town & Parish Councils
Registered Social Landlords
North Devon & Torridge Housing Crisis Group

We will undertake a feasibility study to assess the practicality of working with a Registered
Social Landlord, property management company or letting agent to manage private let of
empty homes.

Collaboration between our own teams
To maximise efficiency and effectiveness we work collaboratively with a range of Council
teams such as:









Communications team – press releases, social media posts and feedback
responses
Council Tax
Housing Options
Affordable Housing
Environmental Protection
Planning
Environmental Health
Building Control

A joint approach can help encourage the owner of an empty property to either:



undertake improvements and let or sell the property or;
sell the property to a developer or investor to improve and bring back into use

Page 54

28

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A
This property in Ilfracombe was in a poor condition. The roof was damaged roof and there
were broken windows.

We worked with the local ward councillor who was able to persuade the owner to sell the
building. A local developer purchased and subsequently renovated the property.

Page 55

29

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

Homes England
Homes England is an executive non-departmental public body, sponsored by the
Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities and is responsible for:





increasing the number of new homes that are built in England, including affordable
homes and homes for market, sale or rent
improving existing affordable homes and bringing empty homes back into use as
affordable housing
increasing the supply of public land and speeding up the rate that it can be built on
helping to stimulate local economic growth by using our land and investment, and
attracting private sector investment in local areas.

We consult Homes England for empty property advice and information.

Empty Homes Network
We are members of the Empty Homes Network which supports the delivery of empty
property strategies. It was launched by empty property practitioners with the support of
government ministers, the Housing Corporation and the Empty Homes Agency.
Its constitution defines the aims of the organisation as follows:






to foster mutual support and understanding amongst empty property practitioners;
to raise the status and profile of empty property practitioners
to promote the value of the dedicated empty property practitioner
to promote, support and facilitate the development of professional standards and
skills amongst empty property practitioners
to promote policies and practices which offer effective responses to the challenges
presented by empty property.

Page 56

30

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

The delivery , monitoring, evaluation and review of the strategy
Delivery
To support the delivery of the strategy we aim to embed our policies and procedures by
the end of December 2022. We will then be able to use data comparisons to set realistic
and achievable forecasts and targets on a range of activities to measure the effectiveness
of our interventions.
The four strategic priorities and related objectives will be delivered through the empty
homes strategy action plan, which details the delivery actions.
Successful delivery of the strategy should result in a net increase in housing and in turn,
an increase in the New Homes Bonus paid by central government because it is based on
the amount of extra council tax revenue raised for not only new build homes, but
conversions and long term empty homes brought back into use. There is an additional
payment for providing affordable homes.

Monitoring
We will regularly update our empty homes module records to reflect changes in council tax
data. We aim to bring ten empty homes back into use in year one. We will report on our
progress quarterly and provide data on how our work has affected the New Home Bonus
as well as any impact on demand for temporary accommodation to our Housing Options
team.

Evaluation
We are committed to continuous improvement and will ensure our officers are adequately
trained and that they adopt best practice. We will evaluate outcomes and review policies
and procedures to ensure lessons are learnt. We will adapt to legislative change and will
consider new funding opportunities and possible strategy enhancements as opportunities
arise.

Review of the strategy
We will review the empty homes strategy annually to ensure it reflects legislative changes,
policies and strategies. We will constantly strive to offer innovative opportunities and
incentives to bring empty homes back into use.

Page 57

31

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

Empty Homes Strategy Action Plan
We have developed the following action plan to deliver the strategy and we aim to be in a
position to commence engagement and interventions by end June 2022. We are
committed to continuous improvement and will regularly review a develop policies and
procedures.
1

Action
Review empty homes
database

Organisation(s)
 North Devon Council

2

Development of reporting
mechanisms for empty homes



North Devon Council

3

Review and revise the advice
and assistance available.
Provide web information in
one place
Explore opportunities for
private sector leasing scheme,
social and private letting



North Devon Council






North Devon Council
RSLs/Housing
Associations
Lettings Agents
North Devon Council

4

5

Review the Council’s empty
homes loan policy

6

Collaborate with planning
policy and development
management to explore
change of use opportunities



North Devon Council

7

Develop relationship with
internal services and external
agencies






North Devon Council
Lettings agents
Estate agents
House clearance
companies

8

Development of policies and
procedures of enforcement
options which include:
Compulsory Purchase Orders,
Empty Dwelling Management
Orders and Enforced Sales
Provide empty homes pack
with all opportunities and
incentives. Contact owners of
empty homes when empty
period is about to reach key
milestone such as two years



North Devon Council



North Devon Council

9

Page 58

Outcomes
Efficient and effective case
management to maximise
successes and opportunity
Easier access for
customers to report an
empty home. Increased
awareness of the service
Improved offers of
assistance and better
communication
Affordable housing for
local people. Less demand
for temporary
accommodation
More flexibility and greater
take-up. Improved and
effective assistance for
owners of empty homes

A seamless customer
journey by partnership
working with internal
services. Possible discount
incentives for owners of
empty properties
Transparent and
consistent approach.
Increase the number of
empty homes brought
back into use following
enforcement action
Increased communication
with owners of empty
homes. Possibility of ‘quick
wins’ in efforts to bring
empty homes back into
use.
32

Agenda Item 8

North Devon Council
Report Date: 6 June 2022
Topic: North Devon Carbon, Environment & Biodiversity Plan
Report by: Donna Sibley, Climate Officer
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1. In July 2019 North Devon Council signed up to the Devon Climate
Emergency Declaration. The Council have committed to being a net zero
carbon organisation by 2030, and to supporting North Devon to achieve net
zero carbon by 2050 at the latest.
1.2. The Carbon, Environment and Biodiversity Plan for North Devon is attached
to this report. It has been developed with input from the Member Climate
Action Team as well as officers working in the relevant teams.
1.3. Note this plan ‘mirrors’ that for Torridge, the intention is that we will have a
joint plan in 2023.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS
2.1. That the Council’s Carbon, Environment and Biodiversity Plan be approved
for publication.
3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
3.1. Publication of our Carbon, Environment & Biodiversity Plan will provide the
Council with an agreed programme of action to support delivery of our net
zero by 2030 commitment.
4. REPORT
4.1. The plan is made up of a number of sections:
a. It sets out the case for declaring a climate emergency, both with reference
to global impacts but also how these effects are felt locally, with reference to
the recently published Coastal Change Management Area Technical
Evidence data and farming impacts (pages 1 – 5)
b. It highlights the range of projects we have already undertaken to reduce
our carbon footprint, acknowledging the progress and achievements we have
already made (p.6)
c. It sets out our vision, not only in meeting our stated climate ambitions by
2030 but also acknowledging the wider role we have in directing, enabling,
encouraging and supporting a move towards a more sustainable future for all.

Page 59

Agenda Item 8
It also acknowledges the economic opportunities available to us in this new
world, especially with our rich biodiversity and natural environment (p.8)
d. It outlines the positioning we have undertaken to take these measures
forward from our environmental commitments given in our new Corporate
Plan (p 8)
e. There is an outline of the carbon footprinting process (p9).
f. The plan specifically notes opportunities for North Devon in taking this
journey to carbon neutrality (p12)
g. Details of Devon County Council‟s structure in taking their own climate
ambitions and our integration with their process (p.13)
h. Details of the South West‟s Local Enterprise Partnership‟s own ambitions,
through programmes such as the Build Back Better programme and their
Roadmap to Recovery, along with their Local Industrial Strategy – all of which
seeks to take advantage of the burgeoning green economy (p.15)
i. The role of Development Control is discussed (p. 16)
j. Specific consideration is given to biodiversity and the natural environment
including our ongoing work with partners (p. 19)
k. The role of effective communications of this agenda going forward are
discussed (p. 21)
l. Key risks to delivery of this carbon plan are identified (p 22)
m. The final part of the report, from page 25 onwards cover our priorities and
plans, broken down in the headings of Energy, Transport, Planning,
Biodiversity, Waste and Recycling, The Council and Our Communities.
4.2. This plan brings together proposals from both Councillors and Officers over
the past nine months. It will be continually reviewed and updated as new
opportunities emerge.
5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
5.1. At this point we are unable to provide details of the funding that will be
needed in the future. This will come out in individual project business plans,
capital bids and through existing financial procedures. Going forward, it is
envisaged that there will be opportunities for external funding for a number of
these workstreams and where this is available, approval of this plan will
provide the endorsement to pursue these opportunities. It should also be
noted that the national context appears to be shifting towards the green
agenda, and it is likely that some areas may be subject to legislation and
formal requirement. Costs of this may be recognised and compensated for
through central allocation. All in all, this is a fast paced and ever-changing
agenda and it is difficult to predict these elements.

Page 60

Agenda Item 8
5.2. Similarly, it is likely that staff resource to implement this plan will be from a
combination of existing resources and funding of new resource, whether
internally or externally.
6. EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT
6.1. There are no equalities implications anticipated as a result of this report.
7. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT
7.1. Delivery of the actions in this Carbon, Environment and Biodiversity Plan will
reduce the Council’s greenhouse gas emissions, support adaptation to
climate change, reduce water use and waste, protect the natural
environment, ensure the Council’s purchasing power is used positively and
that we all implement our Environmental Policy.

8. CORPORATE PRIORITIES
8.1. What impact, positive or negative, does the subject of this report have on:
8.1.1. The commercialisation agenda: investment in eg renewable energy
offers the Council the opportunity to reduce carbon emissions and our
electricity bill, and create an income stream.
8.1.2. Improving customer focus: current predicted climate change will have a
devastating impact on North Devon’s communities, delivery of this plan
will support delivery of the UK’s net zero ambition and support more
resilient communities.
8.1.3. Regeneration or economic development: The UK Net Zero Strategy
presents an opportunity to develop a green economy, elements of which
North Devon is ideally placed to deliver and which will be identified
through delivery of the Carbon Plan.

9. CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT
9.1. Article of Part 3 Annexe 1 paragraph 1(h):
9.2. Delegated power:

10. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
10.1.
This report contains no confidential information or exempt information
under the provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act.
11. BACKGROUND PAPERS
11.1.
The following background papers were used in the preparation of this
report: Torridge District Council Carbon, Environment & Biodiversity Plan;
North Devon Council Environment Policy.

Page 61

Agenda Item 8
(The background papers are available for inspection and kept by the author
of the report).
12. STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE
12.1. The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all
appropriate Councillors and Officers: Donna Sibley, Climate Officer

Page 62

Agenda Item 8
Appendix A

Carbon, Environment and
Biodiversity Plan
June 2022

Version 1, 6th June 2022

0

Page 63

Agenda Item 8
Appendix A

Contents
Introduction ........................................................................................................................... 1
Background to this plan ..................................................................................................... 1
Welcome to North Devon................................................................................................... 1
The case for declaring a climate emergency...................................................................... 3
What we have already achieved ........................................................................................ 6
Our Vision ......................................................................................................................... 7
Our response to the challenge ........................................................................................... 8
NDC’s Carbon Footprint ........................................................................................................ 9
Opportunities for North Devon on the journey to Carbon Neutrality ..................................... 12
Working with Devon County Council ................................................................................... 13
The LEP and the Growth Strategy....................................................................................... 15
Development Control – People and Place ........................................................................... 16
Biodiversity and the Natural Environment............................................................................ 19
Communications ................................................................................................................. 21
How our staff will help make us a greener authority ......................................................... 21
Supporting our Members in the journey to net zero ......................................................... 21
Outward Facing Communications .................................................................................... 21
Risk Management ............................................................................................................... 22
Our Priorities and Plans ...................................................................................................... 23
Introduction ..................................................................................................................... 23
Energy ............................................................................................................................. 25
Transport ......................................................................................................................... 26
Planning .......................................................................................................................... 27
Biodiversity ...................................................................................................................... 29
Waste & Recycling .......................................................................................................... 30
The Council ..................................................................................................................... 31
Our Communities ............................................................................................................ 33

Page 64

Agenda Item 8
Appendix A

Introduction
Background to this plan
In July 2019 North Devon Council (NDC) declared a ‘Climate Emergency’. This was in
recognition of the science and evidence of the impacts that climate change is having
on our environment, population and communities and to acknowledge that we are
committed to assisting in the response to this threat.
This declaration committed North Devon Council to reach net carbon neutrality by
2030. This plan will outline how we have aligned our organisation with this goal and
will work towards meeting the commitment against climate change.
We recognise that climate change is a long-term threat and action needs to be taken
now, at every level to slow and if possible, reverse, these effects. NDC is committed
to taking responsibility and being fully involved in this process. We recognise that we
are at the heart of taking action and promoting positive changes in North Devon to
meet this goal. We also recognise that NDC cannot do this alone and are committed
to working alongside others to achieve this important objective.
We also see the opportunities that these necessary operational and lifestyle shifts will
bring, to help our communities and residents lead healthier, more sustainable lifestyles
while supporting businesses and our economy to grow and flourish in this new green
future.
Welcome to North Devon

North Devon Council is located within the north west of Devon. The district is divided
into 25 Wards, comprising 58 parishes, and is predominantly rural. The main
conurbations are Barnstaple, Braunton, Fremington, Ilfracombe and South Molton.
The district is officially classified as ‘Rural 50’, with at least 50 per cent (but less than
80%) of the population living in rural settlements and larger market towns.
It is the second largest district authority area in Devon, covering an area of 1,106 km2
(427 square miles). It is bordered by the largely rural districts of Torridge, Mid Devon
and West Somerset, and the coast to the north. Most of the land in North Devon is
classified as green space, covering 95% (1035 km2) of its total area, and is designated
as a UNESCO Biosphere Reserve. The coastline, historic towns, nature reserves and
Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty are valuable assets; as quality of life and
environment becomes an ever more important factor in choosing where to live it is
likely that population growth in North Devon will continue.

1

Page 65

Agenda Item 8
Appendix A
The extensive rural areas and popular coastline support an economy characterised by
the very visible agriculture and tourism sectors, and support a population
characterised by its resilience and self‐sufficiency. The area is peppered with a few
larger manufacturing businesses on which many rely for employment, but in the main
northern Devon is notable for the large numbers of micro and small businesses.
The Office for National Statistics (ONS) provided a population estimate for North
Devon in mid-2018 of 96,110. The 2011 census had a total population of 93,667,
showing a 2.7% increase in the North Devon population over that 7-year period.
Between 2018 and 2033 North Devon’s population is set to grow by 7% to an
estimated 103,400.
It may be useful to understand the carbon dioxide emissions from the district in the context
of the other local authorities across Devon. The graphic below highlights the differences
between carbon emissions from rural district compared to urban locations. City areas have
lower transport emissions as residents tend to be in closer proximity to amenities and
therefore can walk, cycle and use public transport for a higher proportion of journeys than
those in rural areas. Urban areas tend to be on the gas grid whereas dwellings in rural areas
are more likely to rely on oil, and gas is a lower carbon fuel. Rural areas have higher
emissions from agriculture, while manufacturing and other industrial processes tend to be
located
in
urban
areas,
so
these
areas
have
higher
emissions associated with these activities.

Fig 1 2019 Greenhouse gas emissions across Devon by Sector (with kind permission
of Devon County Council)

2

Page 66

Agenda Item 8
Appendix A
The case for declaring a climate emergency
Our planet’s climate is changing and warming is accelerating. The Intergovernmental
Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) has warned that we have 10 years to limit climate
change to avoid a catastrophe. In response to the Paris Agreement, a special report
on Global Warming1 was published in October 2018. This describes the risks that a
2ºC rise in temperature is likely to cause compared to 1.5ºC, including increased risks
to health, livelihoods, food security, water supply, human security and economic
growth. The report found that limiting global warming to 1.5ºC would require ‘rapid and
far-reaching’ transitions in land, energy, industry, buildings, transport and cities. The
report emphasised that with ambitious action from national and sub-national
authorities, civil society, business and local communities, it may still be possible to
limit warming to 1.5ºC. In addition, a recent Intergovernmental Panel for Biodiversity
and Ecosystem Services (IPBES)2 stated that around 25% of the world’s species are
now at threat of extinction due to habitat loss and the effects of climate change.
Global temperatures have already increased by 1ºC from pre-industrial levels.
Atmospheric CO₂ levels are above 400 parts per million (ppm). This far exceeds the
350ppm deemed to be a safe level for humanity.
The latest generation of national climate projections, the UKCP18 resource from the
Met Office3, provides up to date and robust scientific evidence on projected climate
changes. The general climate trend predicted by UKCP18 for the UK is an increased
chance of warmer, wetter winters and of hotter, drier summers, along with an increase
in the frequency and intensity of extremes. Under UKCP18, Storm Desmond, which
occurred in winter 2015/16 and caused £1.3 billion in insurance costs, was deemed
more than 40% more likely due to climate change.
In order to reduce the chance of runaway global warming and limit the effects of
climate breakdown, it is imperative that CO₂ (carbon equivalent) emissions reduce
from their current 6.5 tonnes per person per year to less than 2 tonnes, and this needs
to be done as soon as possible.
Whilst the cause might be a subject of debate for some, human activity has contributed
to the situation and so we have a moral duty to intervene. The risk of not acting could
have profound consequences on this and future generations.
For those who say that climate change is not happening, we need to look at the global
evidence4.

1

IPPC report
Intergovernmental Panel for Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services report
3 Met Office UK Climate Programme
4 Met Office What is Climate Change?
2

3

Page 67

Agenda Item 8
Appendix A




2010-2019 was the warmest decade since records began in 1850 and each
decade since 1980 has been warmer than the preceding one.
2019 was the second warmest year on record (2016 is currently the warmest)
and 2020 reached the same record level5.
The UK’s warmest ten years ever recorded have all been since 2002.

Fig 2 Met office graphic showing UK annual temperature trend – cooler years are blue,
warmer years are red.
Climate change is having a range of impacts and the term ‘global warming’ does not
adequately express the effects. It is causing more extreme storms, droughts, heat
waves, melting ice, ocean acidification and rising sea levels. Our coastal communities
and habitats are at particular risk from the acceleration in rising sea levels; in 2019 the
Global Mean Sea Level was at the highest ever measured6. As sea levels rise, low
lying and coastal areas will be at particular risk.
The Local Planning Authorities for Northern Devon, North Devon & Torridge District
Councils, have identified the need for formal designation of Coastal Change
Management Areas in the developing revised Local Plan in recognition of the impacts
on our coastline from a range of factors, including climate change. This is underpinned
by a detailed research project in partnership with Natural England, the Environment
Agency, the Marine Management Organisation and the University of Plymouth. This
research uses the latest projections for sea level change, and particularly establishes
the extent of potential flood risk across the Taw-Torridge estuary. In its worst case
scenario modelling, incorporating up to date climate change impact predictions, it
5
6

Nasa 2020 weather data
European Environment Agency indicators

4

Page 68

Agenda Item 8
Appendix A
shows that more areas may be at risk of coastal change than previously thought 7. This
modelling will be used to help plan for managing future coastal change by the Council
and other agencies. While the new Local Plan will set out policies about development
in those areas, along with consideration of what might need to be relocated or
protected, the research will also assist with coastal protection work and the operation
and maintenance of existing sea defences and flood risk and coastal erosion
measures. However, in conjunction with this it is vital that we play our part in
addressing the causes of climate change as another means to mitigate these local
impacts.
Farming is also being affected by climate change. While hotter weather and higher
levels of CO2 may make growing some crops easier, or even allow us to produce new
ones, with more droughts expected, water may not be as easy to access, making it
harder to plan the growing season. Some crops we grow today may also be unsuited
to higher temperatures, and there are risks from new pests and diseases previously
unsuited to our climate.
Floods, storms, and extreme heat can cause damage to buildings, disrupt transport,
Cause power cuts and affect health. Buildings and infrastructure need to be adapted
to cope with the new conditions. Businesses will have to plan around a changing
climate, bringing additional costs and challenges as they look to adapt.

7

The Coastal Change Management Area Technical Evidence and maps can be found at Torridge
District Council

5

Page 69

Agenda Item 8
Appendix A

Fig 3 Met office graphic showing the impacts of climate change.
What we have already achieved

North Devon District Council is a large employer and a significant resource user and
we recognise that our operations and service delivery have an impact on our
environment.
Our Environment Policy states our commitment to managing this impact.

6

Page 70

Agenda Item 8
Appendix A
Whilst North Devon Council has not had a specific Carbon Action Plan in place,
previously we have undertaken a number of projects which address the climate and
ecological emergencies, including:







Changes to our grounds maintenance regime to reduce carbon and encourage
nature;
Trial of biodiversity net gain approach;
We have improved our kerbside recycling collection to include additional
materials. Including food waste;
Working with Carbon Savvy to promote use of personal carbon footprints and
support people to make changes that reduce carbon;
We have replaced our old Leisure Centre with a more energy efficient building;
Working with 361 Energy to promote home energy efficiency advice.

Our Vision


By 2030 North Devon District Council operations will be clean, efficient and net
carbon neutral, leading by example in our community and to our residents and
businesses.



We will play a wider role enabling, encouraging and supporting the wider District
of North Devon to achieve net-zero ambitions.



We will work with our partners including Devon County Council, Torridge District
Council and North Devon Biosphere and will cooperate, seek opportunities to
develop projects, and take forward policies that will enhance our environment,
biodiversity and improve sustainability of our communities and the wellbeing of our
residents and visitors.



We will seek economic opportunities and improvements for our communities and
businesses in the new green future, promoting and directing sustainable
development and seeking financial support for projects to enhance our
environment and assist in reaching our carbon neutral target.



We will promote our beautiful environment and rich biodiversity, and North Devon
as a beacon for sustainability, community action and green opportunities.



We will work with Central Government and Devon County Council to contribute at
a local level in the delivery of national and regional climate change, biodiversity
and sustainability programmes.

7

Page 71

Agenda Item 8
Appendix A


We will work with our local communities to plan for and mitigate the effects of
climate change within our district.



We will seek to work with our local schools and young people to educate, promote
and support the next generation to take on the challenges ahead.

We intend to deliver this Vision through a combination of changes to existing work
programmes and staff responsibilities as well as new work programmes fir which
funding will be required.
Our response to the challenge
While this plan sets out North Devon Council’s road map to carbon neutrality, we
recognise that we need to integrate climate change and sustainability into the heart of
our governance and processes. In order to achieve this we have implemented the
following:
Corporate Plan
Our Corporate Plan was published in 2019 and has four priorities:





We achieve financial security
We become focussed on delivering the best for our customers
Our environment is cherished and protected
We plan for North Devon’s future.

The Plan included commitments to:





Protect and enhance our most valuable and unique coastline and countryside
and ensure that North Devon remains a high class and internationally
recognized natural environment
Put the environment at the centre of our decision making and to lead on
reducing any harmful effects on the environment including carbon creation
Adopt community based approaches in planning and in implementing that
vision whilst recognizing the threats and implications of climate change

These priorities will form the basis of divisional business plans going forward, so that
all the services in the Council will be aligned to and working towards these aims.
Specific actions that will be taken forward by us and in partnership include:



Work with partners to develop a County wide carbon reduction plan to comply
with international targets
Work with our communities on developing new practices that protect the
environment
8

Page 72

Agenda Item 8
Appendix A





Work to enhance green spaces and recognise and use the links with health
enhancement
Encourage energy efficiency and renewable energy initiatives.
Adopt a policy for regulating energy efficiency in private rented properties
Explore investment opportunities in renewable energy and the installation of
renewable energy on Council buildings.

Management and Governance
Members are at the heart of decision making at NDC. A Lead Member for the Climate
has been assigned who is tasked with; overseeing, supporting and lobbying for
sustainability and climate change to be at the forefront of Council operations and
policy; responding effectively to need and maximise the influence of NDC as widely as
possible in our communities.
We have developed a Member Climate Action Team who meet regularly to discuss
environmental matters, feed into projects and provide a sounding board and feedback
on actions and priorities before these are discussed at formal Committee.
Where specific work streams merit it, we will establish specialist Task and Finish
groups to progress and report on actions and outcomes. These will be essentially task
and finish groups and will provide a flexible response to issues and projects as
required. These will utilise the expertise of external individuals and organisations and
will promote collaborative and multiagency working to establish common goals and
meet those aims.
NDC’s Carbon Footprint

It is clear that in order to meet our stated target of net zero carbon by 2030 we must
regularly measure our carbon impacts and usage accurately and use this as a basis
for determining our actions and priorities over the coming years. We will regularly
report on the effectiveness of our actions and demonstrate achievements.
The Government regularly publishes Local Authority and regional carbon dioxide
emissions national statistics8. These provide the most reliable and consistent
breakdown of estimates of CO2 emissions across the country using nationally
available datasets going back to 2005. These show a steady reduction in per capita
emissions for North Devon, from 7.3 tonnes in 2005 to 4.5 tonnes in the last reporting
year of 2019. This is below the average in the country but still some way off the 2tonne per capita goal set by the IPPC. It is interesting to note that these improvements
have come about through a steady reduction in carbon emissions across industrial,
commercial and domestic sources (due in large part to switch from coal in electricity

8

Local Authority carbon dioxide emissions

9

Page 73

Agenda Item 8
Appendix A
generation to gas and renewables) however there has been a marginal increase in
emissions from transport sources over the same period.
There is an established methodology for assessing and reporting on the carbon
footprint of an organisation as given in guidelines published by HM Government –
Environmental Reporting Guidelines (updated March 2019)9
The reporting guidance identifies the main types of emission sources in three
categories known as ‘scopes’. These are defined as:
Scope 1: direct emissions from fuel combustion, such as boilers for heating buildings,
transport fuel used by owned or directly leased vehicles and ‘fugitive emissions’ 10.
Scope 2: indirect emissions from the consumption of purchased electricity i.e. from
power stations, and heat generated off site i.e. district heating.
Scope 3: indirect emissions from the transmission and distribution of electricity and
from many other activities, including products and outsourced services which are
bought on behalf of the council. For most organisations, these are the largest area of
emissions, but are acknowledged as the most difficult to measure.
Reporting of scope 1 and 2 emissions is given as ‘essential’ by the guidance. Scope
3 reporting is discretionary, but desirable.
Following North Devon Council’s Climate Emergency Declaration, the Centre for
Energy and the Environment at Exeter University was asked to calculate a baseline
carbon footprint for our organisation based on data provided from 1st April 2018 – 31st
March 2019.
A footprint based on data provided from 1 st April 2020 – 31st March 2021 was
calculated in 2022.

9

HM Government Environmental Reporting Guidelines

10

Some equipment, such as fridges and air conditioning units, not only use energy, but also contain chemicals
which are greenhouse gases such as hydrofluorocarbons. A degree of leakage is inevitable. These gases are
known as fugitive emissions and good equipment maintenance can reduce the problem.

10

Page 74

Agenda Item 8
Appendix A
The summary results are shown in the table below:
No. Category
Scope 1 Direct GHG emissions and removals
1.
Stationary Combustion
2.
Owned transport
3.
Process emissions
4.
Fugitive emissions
Scope 2 Energy GHG indirect emissions
5.
Electricity
Scope 3 Other indirect GHG emissions
6.
Purchased material and fuel
7.
Transport related activities
8.
Waste disposal
9.
Leased assets and franchising, outsourcing
10. Sold goods and services
TOTAL GROSS FOOTPRINT (SCOPES 1, 2 AND 3)
11. Offset emissions
TOTAL NET FOOTPRINT (SCOPES 1, 2 AND 3)

2018/2019
tCO2e
1392.4
190.7
1201.8
0.0
0.0
351.0
351.0
2208.1
748.1
425.6
0.0
0.0
1034.4
3951.5
0.0
3951.5

2020/2021
tCO2e
1354.3
181.5
1172.9
0.0
0.0
197.0
197.0
6207.7
3246.2
19.2
7.3
2043.9
891.1
7759.0
0.0
7759.0

Scope 1 emissions remain about the same for both years. The use of gas or oil for
building heating and our waste collection rounds were largely unaffected by covid
lockdowns.
Scope 2 emissions decreased, this is likely to be the result of covid lockdowns as
many staff worked from home.
Scope 3 emissions show a substantial increase. This is because the carbon impact of
our procured goods and services was not taken into account in our baseline. Typically
70-80% of an organisation’s footprint lies in their Scope 3 emissions, and so it is
important that procured goods and services are included.
Overall, our main carbon impacts are seen in the following areas:
Property - NDC has a wide and diverse range of property assets, some leased or
rented, including leisure facilities, the crematorium, and the council offices and
buildings themselves. The heating and lighting of these buildings fall under both scope
1 and 2 emissions.
Operational vehicles - particularly in our waste collection service which provides the
majority of our transport carbon usage. However, business mileage is also accrued
over a range of services.
Procured goods and services – this is the most significant part of our footprint.
Sold goods and services – we sell diesel for boats at Ilfracombe Harbour.

11

Page 75

Agenda Item 8
Appendix A
We will update our carbon footprint annually in order to provide a sound basis to
plotting our route to carbon neutrality by 2030. In addition, we will seek to standardise
our reporting approach, particularly around scope 3 emissions, with Torridge District
Council. This way we can look to compare and contrast our carbon usage and drive
improvements through a collaborative approach with our neighbouring Authority.
More detail on the outcome of this process will be provided in future versions of this
plan.
Opportunities for North Devon on the journey to Carbon Neutrality

For too long, climate change and the climate emergency has been portrayed in purely
negative terms. This needn’t be the case and we should look to the benefits that
moving to a sustainable and low carbon future can bring to our district and economy.
Such benefits can include, but are not limited to:















Supporting local economic growth by harnessing a low carbon economic strategy
that identifies local opportunities and supports the development of local jobs,
knowledge and infrastructure.
Generating and supporting innovation to stimulate growth and develop real social
change in our communities.
Helping local businesses to diversify and grow sustainably, to cut costs and
increase competitiveness by reducing their energy, water and resource use.
Promoting and supporting the circular economy.
Saving money for the council and local people by ensuring that local homes,
businesses and public buildings use energy and other resources efficiently.
Helping the most vulnerable at risk from fuel poverty and the impacts of extreme
weather such as flooding, over-heating and cold.
Boosting the local economy by supporting and promoting our green tourism base,
protecting and marketing our natural assets and local sustainable services.
Generating income for the council: making the most of the council’s assets to
generate power, enhance biodiversity and support the diversification and vibrancy
of our communities in our new sustainable future.
Helping households save money on their energy bills and keep warm and healthy
by improving the energy efficiency of local homes.
Promote wellbeing within our communities through the use of active travel and
making our natural assets accessible to all.
Direct cost savings: through initiatives to reduce the council’s use of energy and
water and to minimise waste.
Pooling resources: working in partnership with others, sharing services and
increasing purchasing power.

12

Page 76

Agenda Item 8
Appendix A




External funding: maximising opportunities to bring in investment through external
funding mechanisms available under the emerging climate and biodiversity
agendas.
Protection from future costs by supporting our communities to be fully prepared to
manage future weather-related events, reducing costs such as the repair and clearup from flooding and storm damage as well as the human costs of such events.

Embracing a low carbon, biodiverse, sustainable future will have huge benefits for this
Authority, and for our communities, businesses and residents. By addressing the
climate and ecological emergency we have an opportunity to create a fairer, healthier,
more resilient and more prosperous society for generations to come.
Working with Devon County Council
Devon County Council have similarly declared a Climate Emergency11, and since that
time have been working on developing their own carbon plan in response. In 2019 it
set up a Devon Climate Emergency Response Group (DCERG) tasked with
coordinating a collaborative Devon-wide response to the climate emergency to
facilitate the reduction of carbon emissions to net-zero by 2050 at the latest and
prepare Devon for the necessary adaptations to infrastructure and services to respond
to a 1.5-degree warmer world. North Devon Council has a representative on this group
as well as the Tactical Group which sits beneath it and provides the practical support
to the strategic group.

Fig 4 Devon County Council structure Climate Response Structure
11

Devon Climate Emergency

13

Page 77

Agenda Item 8
Appendix A
The climate impacts group has been tasked with reviewing levels of community
adaptation for a warmer world and will report on measures that need to be
implemented to ensure that our communities are suitably prepared.
The Net Zero Task Force12 was tasked with developing a Devon Carbon Plan to set
Devon on the path to becoming net-zero by their target date. This task force is made
up of leading academics and sector experts who have used their specialist knowledge
and experience to produce an evidence-led Devon Carbon Plan.
The process for the development of the Devon Carbon Plan is given below:

Fig 5 Devon Carbon Plan development process
At the current time, the Citizens Assembly13 have reported their results and the final Devon
Carbon Plan is being prepared to be put to County Council Members for approval by the
end of this year.
NDC are committed to continuing to be involved in this process including the integration of
our own carbon plan with the wider Devon plan. We recognise that only through a shared
12
13

Devon Climate Emergency Net Zero Taskforce
About Devon Climate Assembly

14

Page 78

Agenda Item 8
Appendix A
vision and ongoing collaboration with both our County and wider District Partners will we be
able to achieve many of the goals we aspire to, particularly where wider infrastructure or
regional actions need to be implemented to support our own and our community’s journeys
to net-zero.
The LEP and the Growth Strategy

The Heart of the Southwest Local Enterprise Partnership covers Devon, Plymouth,
Somerset and Torbay. It is a business-led partnership between the private sector,
Local Authorities, universities and colleges. The purpose of the partnership is to:




Identify common priorities.
Attract resources and investment.
Make a difference to productivity and prosperity.

As one of the Authorities involved in this partnership we are closely involved in the
development of the plans and strategies on which the local business community needs
to increase productivity and prosperity.
The HotSW LEP has made a commitment to clean, sustainable development across
its initiatives and programmes. Coming out of the Covid-19 epidemic, the Build Back
Better programme14 seeks to focus investment to deliver longer-term economic
resilience and levelling up. This includes retrofit schemes and developing work hubs
supporting new local ways of working in a post-Covid economy. This forms part of a
more extensive investment plan that the LEP is developing under its Route Map to
Recovery15; which will not only support recovery but help transform the Heart of the
South West’s productivity and their commitment to deliver net-zero carbon as part of
England’s Greenest economy.
The Route Map to Recovery will:





14
15

Restart the economy by supporting businesses to reopen, getting newly
unemployed back to work and support hardest hit sectors;
Revitalise through local interventions that start to build back better, support
bedrock and growth sectors, promote economic growth and create new jobs,
and train residents to access jobs;
Grow to a better economy which has higher GVA and productivity, better quality
jobs, more innovation and R&D, lower carbon emissions, less inequality and
exclusion.

Build Back Better
Heart of SW Route Map to Recovery

15

Page 79

Agenda Item 8
Appendix A
Another significant indicator of future direction and commitment is the LEP’s Local
Industrial Strategy16. This strategy aims to create a long-term approach to navigate
through the current challenging climate and maximise the opportunities and potential
available, whilst at the same time putting reduction of our carbon footprint and
protecting our natural environment at the heart of the strategy. It looks to put in place
measures to reduce economic disparities while creating a stronger and more
sustainable economy and high-quality jobs making us more resilient in a rapidly
changing world and moving our economy towards a cleaner and more inclusive future.
In May 2021 the LEP published its Blueprint for Clean Growth 17 which seeks to
harness our region’s unique opportunities around clean energy, marine, aerospace
and agri-tech to deliver clean and inclusive growth across the Southwest and
accelerate the path to carbon net zero. Their stated ambition is to grow the area’s
economy in a clean and sustainable way by delivering inclusive economic prosperity
whilst protecting the environment, lowering emissions and enhancing natural capital.
The blueprint sets out how we they will do this, by focusing on the area’s blue and
green economy, creating the necessary conditions to enhance the economic
connections with the marine and land-based environments.
The LEP are also instrumental in supporting innovative local projects such as the
Smart Biosphere Pilot. This project seeks to scale up technology and environmental
intelligence at a landscape scale to build real time predictive models of the interrelationships between agriculture land use, soil health, water quality and run off,
natural flood management and flood risks. In doing this it will trigger a range of
economic activity and jobs in the natural capital economy of Northern Devon. This is
a ground-breaking project involving the North Devon Biosphere, Southwest Water,
Environment Agency, University of Exeter, Satellite Applications Catapult and the
Environmental Futures & Big Data Impact Lab. Our involvement in this project shows
that NDC are at the cutting edge of innovation and natural capital and clean growth.
NDC fully support this direction of travel of the LEP and also commit to continuing to be
integrated with these wider strategies and programmes. We are developing a new
Economic Strategy for Northern Devon with Torridge District Council, which will promote
clean growth.
Development Control – People and Place

The planning system will play a central role in enabling a shift to a carbon neutral
future. The National Planning and Policy Framework (NPPF) states that the role of
planning is to ‘shape places in ways that contribute to radical reductions in greenhouse
16

Local Industrial Strategy

17

Blueprint for clean growth

16

Page 80

Agenda Item 8
Appendix A
gas emissions’. By supporting the right development in the right place, the planning
process can have major impacts on sustainable travel behaviour, low carbon impact
building use, and supporting the infrastructure needed for our low carbon future such
as renewable energy schemes.
Central to this process is the development of statutory local plans. Torridge and North
Devon District Councils adopted a Joint Local Plan in October 2018. This is currently
the principal element of the development plan and is the starting point for the
determination of planning applications across both districts. The Plan provides visions,
strategies and policies that are intended to shape how northern Devon develops and
it aims to ensure that development is well planned and managed effectively whilst
having a positive impact on local communities, the economy and the environment and
provides a consistent and transparent approach to planning across the whole of
northern Devon.
However, in March 2022 Torridge and North Devon Councils launched their People
and Place project which will empower our local communities to play a key role in
shaping the future of northern Devon through a review of the Local Plan.
The project encompasses a comprehensive review of the two Councils’ joint Local
Plan and, working with our local communities, will explore how the planning system
can be used to help tackle some of the current and anticipated challenges we face
in our area, such as:






Providing enough quality affordable homes to meet the needs of local
people.
Improving access to the services and facilities that support thriving and
healthy communities.
Adapting to evolving economic challenges to support sustainable economic
growth.
Responding to the challenges of climate change.
Protecting and enhancing our natural and historic environments.

This is a significant piece of work for both authorities. An outline timetable for this
review is as follows:

17

Page 81

Agenda Item 8
Appendix A
Fig 7 People and Places key milestones
This timetable for preparing an update of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan is
based on current legislation and national planning policy and guidance. However, in
August 2020 the Government published a Planning White Paper seeking views on
radical reforms to the planning system. At the current time there is no clarity as to
whether all of the proposed reforms will be taken forward, or of the timetable for such
reforms. In line with Government advice, the Councils will continue to progress with
the proposed update of the Local Plan on the basis of current legislation until such
time as it can no longer do so, or it is not prudent to do so having regard to any
transitional arrangements.
A Joint Planning Policy Committee has been established to oversee the development
of this plan, and includes the Lead Climate Members for both Authorities, indicating
the commitment to the climate and biodiversity agenda in this process.
A number of policies will be developed through this process which will have a
significant impact on the climate and biodiversity agendas. This includes Solar PV and
Wind Sensitivity Assessments, Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure plans,
Coastal Change Management Plans and the development of Design Codes. More
information will be provided on the progress of this in future iterations of this document.
Our current Joint Local Plan was already ahead of the curve in many areas on
environmental and sustainability matters, and we will be looking to continue this by
making our new Joint Local Plan a flagship of our climate and biodiversity ambitions
for the future of Northern Devon. As this review progresses, further information will be
included in future iterations of this report.

18

Page 82

Agenda Item 8
Appendix A

Biodiversity and the Natural Environment
We recognise that climate change and biodiversity are closely linked: climate change
has severe direct and indirect impacts on biodiversity and is predicted to be a
significant driver of future biodiversity loss. At the same time, the loss of biodiversity
magnifies the adverse effects of climate change. Biodiversity impacts linked to climate
change include habitat degradation/destruction and the introduction of invasive alien
species to ecosystems.
In the same way, biodiversity protection and climate change mitigation go hand-inhand and are strongly co-dependant. Managing and protecting biodiversity will
mitigate the negative impacts of climate change and help humans adapt to it; policies
and actions aiming at limiting the effects of climate change will contribute to the
protection of biodiversity.
It can be seen that ecosystems rich in biodiversity are healthy ecosystems, which are
more resilient to the impacts of climate change. They provide us with natural buffers
against the impacts of climate change, especially extreme weather events. Healthy
ecosystems also produce other environmental, economic and social benefits such as
the supply and purification of water, provision of food, purification of air and the
provision of recreational areas which promotes activity and wellbeing. A significant
benefit of conserving or restoring habitats is the removal of carbon dioxide from the
atmosphere which help to minimise the cause of climate change by carbon
sequestration.
Here in North Devon, we have a unique resource on our doorstep – the North Devon
UNESCO Biosphere Reserve18. Biospheres are designated by UNESCO to be sites
of excellence for demonstrating sustainable development on a bio-regional scale.
They have 3 functions:




Conservation of ecosystems, habitats, species and genetic diversity
Development that is environmentally, economically and socially equitable
Knowledge management to promote learning and understanding to be an example
for the local and international community.

The Biosphere seeks adaptation to climate change through the optimisation of natural
capital and the range of ecosystems services from the area.

18

North Devon Biosphere

19

Page 83

Agenda Item 8
Appendix A

Fig 6 North Devon Biosphere map
The North Devon Biosphere Reserve covers 3,300 square km across North Devon
and Torridge and extends into West Devon District. There are 63 Sites of Special
Scientific Interest in the Biosphere Reserve and 671 County Wildlife Sites.
As well supporting and promoting these special landscapes and wildlife areas, the
organisation also seeks to support communities who care about living sustainably and
are involved in a range of projects from local food to transport, waste minimisation,
from sustainable energy production to the role of the environment in supporting wider
wellbeing.
North Devon also forms part of Exmoor National Park and the North Devon Coast Area
of Outstanding Natural Beauty, two of a family of 'Protected Landscapes' in the South
West of England.
Exmoor National Park contains an amazing variety of landscapes that provide
inspiration and enjoyment to visitors and residents alike. Large areas of open
moorland provide a sense of remoteness, wildness and tranquillity rare in southern
Britain, while spectacular coastal views, deep wooded valleys, high sea cliffs and fast
flowing streams all combine to form a rich and distinct mosaic. Exmoor supports a
great diversity of wildlife including herds of wild red deer, rich lichen communities, rare
butterflies, bats, and other species uncommon in southern Britain.

20

Page 84

Agenda Item 8
Appendix A
The North Devon Coast AONB contains a diversity of scenery, landscapes and
habitats and encompasses the Hartland Heritage Coast, North Devon Heritage Coast
as well as the UNESCO Biosphere Reserve.
We will continue to work with Exmoor National Park Authority, the Biosphere and North
Devon Coast AONB and will look to align our ambitions and direction of travel to the
maximum benefit of all organisations and more importantly, for our wonderfully rich
and diverse environment.
Communications

How our staff will help make us a greener authority

We will provide climate change training for all our staff. As part of this they will be able
to suggest how we can act to mitigate the effects of, or adapt to, climate change.
Supporting our Members in the journey to net zero

Our elected members are at the heart of all strategic, policy and financial decision
making of the Council. It is therefore vital that we develop an ongoing process to equip
our Members with understanding on emerging national issues that may affect our local
environment and communities and are able to participate in developing action in
response to those issues. We have already put in place the governance structures
needed to ensure democratic involvement in all aspects of our evolving carbon and
biodiversity plan. We will develop ongoing communication routes to ensure that our
decision makers are engaged and prepared to be fully involved in this agenda.

Outward Facing Communications

We recognise that we will need to develop a communications plan for a variety of
reasons – from supporting our local communities and businesses with information and
guidance to assist on their sustainability journeys, to celebrating our achievements
and leading by example.
Our communication objectives will be to:


Influence behaviour and increase awareness about how residents and businesses
can contribute to reducing energy use and CO2 emissions through providing
information and support, including carbon footprint calculators and personal action
plans.

21

Page 85

Agenda Item 8
Appendix A







Increase the uptake of renewable / low carbon energy technologies across the
district.
Provide information and signposting to improve homes, businesses and
community buildings to reduce their emissions and make them more comfortable
places in which to live and work.
Enhance the green economy by promoting sustainable business and green
opportunities.
To promote the valuable work and successes of our partners on this journey to net
zero.
Promote the progress and successes of the Climate Change Strategy.

We will maximise the use of our social media presence to enhance these messages
and develop a go-to web resource to provide up to date information on a range of
climate and biodiversity matters.
Risk Management

It is acknowledged that a demanding target has been set for our organisation and there
are factors that could negatively impact on our journey to net-zero. The risk of failing
to meet this target, as well as the potential financial implications of progressing this
agenda, has been acknowledged in our Corporate Risk Register and will be monitored
through the management process in place to oversee these risks.
Some of the key risks noted with the delivery of this plan are as follows:
Resources unavailable or not secured to achieve actions identified. This includes
failure to secure external funding to support carbon reduction measures on major
capital projects such as a retrofit programme, but also securing funding for identified
measures through our own budget setting process. It is acknowledged that financial
savings from the implementation of carbon reduction measures are finite; there comes
a point where carbon and biodiversity improvements come at a financial cost. The
financial constraints on Local Authorities mean that Members are faced with
increasingly difficult decisions when it comes to budget allocations and in the face of
this, carbon reduction or biodiversity enhancement may not be prioritised.
Reputational risk to authority for not pursuing or meeting carbon reduction
targets. In light of the above, it is likely that decisions made by the Council will receive
heightened scrutiny, especially if those decisions are seen to negatively impact on our
stated climate and biodiversity ambitions.
Loss or lack of resource necessary to maintain and develop the carbon
reduction programme. Dedicated resource has been allocated to this programme
but this is shared with a neighbouring authority and is not yet secured on a permanent
basis. While we are seeking to embed this within the wider organisation through the
management team, it is the nature of a small organisation that this is seen as an ‘add22

Page 86

Agenda Item 8
Appendix A
on’ and is competing with, rather than complementing, other organisational
requirements and pressures. There is a risk of failure to understand the scale of
resources needed (human and financial) to deliver this programme.
Lack of buy-in reduces participation in relevant carbon reduction projects. This
applies as much to staff as it does to Members. Again, this may be due to wider
competing pressures but lack of acknowledgement of the climate and biodiversity
emergency, or our ability to affect meaningful positive change, may also play a part.
There is an element of cultural change that will be necessary which may be resisted
in some quarters.
Potential for an increase in carbon demand due to wider pressures and projects
impacting on our ability to meet the carbon reduction target. This includes the
purchase of hostel accommodation to meet our statutory homeless duties, the
development of our recycling service necessitating the additional purchase of vehicles.
It also must cover the carbon impacts of legacy estate – buildings which are difficult
or costly to retrofit but have value to the Authority for wider reasons.
Wider legislative landscape. Forthcoming legislative changes are likely to enhance
opportunities for investment and improved market availability and viability. If this is
delayed or shelved, this may impact on our abilities to deliver effective change within
the timescales set.
Downgrading of carbon and biodiversity management as a corporate priority.
There is a risk that the priority assigned to this agenda in the future may be reduced,
either due to competing pressures, or change in political will either at local or national
level.
Mandating of changes at national level. This is a constantly moving agenda that is
playing out both nationally and globally. There is the possibility that actions and
changes will be dictated by Government, the meeting of which may detract from this
central programme. While such a mandate will be made to meet centrally set priorities
and targets, it may mean that we lose the ability to direct and focus on our own
priorities.

The above is an outline of the pressures faced in delivering this programme. Future
plans will expand on this and include the mitigation measures that have been put in
place or are planned to address these issues, and this will be integrated into the action
plan moving forward.

Our Priorities and Plans

Introduction

23

Page 87

Agenda Item 8
Appendix A
By declaring a Climate Emergency, we have made a clear commitment and have set
a target to reduce our carbon emissions from the estate and operations of NDC. We
recognise however that we need to go further than this – as a Local Authority we can
direct, influence, lever and support our businesses, households and communities in
moving to a sustainable future. So, our plan going forward is wider than just Council
operations – we want to be at the heart of this transition for all in North Devon. The
following action plan is a summary of all the measures we will be putting in place to
reach these goals. While we are already progressing a significant number of the
actions given, we recognise that some of these are key to this plan and shall be
pursued as a priority following consideration of the results of our carbon audit.
Since our Climate Emergency declaration, we have further integrated our commitment
to our carbon neutrality vision by putting the Climate at the heart of our Corporate Plan.
This is the core vision that informs the business plans that will be developed across
all of our services. Our Council is already changing to meet the challenges ahead. As
part of this, we have put in place the means to measure our carbon usage over a range
of our services and estate. We will collate and report on this annually, and these audits
will be the basis of the detailed action plans that will be used to prioritise our plans,
creating a roadmap to net zero carbon for North Devon District Council by 2030.

24

Page 88

Energy
Commitment

CO2 Potential
Saving for
NDC
1.0 We will carry out a review of our energy consumption across High
our estate, develop an options appraisal plan for our sites, and
where necessary put in place carbon targets and seek funding
to implement improvements. This will include options for retrofit,
smart energy controls and energy generation opportunities.

Project
RAG
Status
Green

Page 89

1.1 We will review our energy tariff and investigate the feasibility Low
of moving to a renewable energy supplier for all of our energy
needs, once energy efficiency and renewable energy measures
are complete .

Green

1.2 We will promote the use of renewable energy tariffs with our Low
tenants across our estate.

Amber

Lead
Department(s)

Due for
Completion

Place, Property & Completion of
Regeneration
surveys and
options
reporting 22/23
Progress of
actions
dependent on
subsequent
funding.
Place, Property & No date
Regeneration
specified at
present.

Place, Property & No date
Regeneration
specified at
present.

Agenda Item 8

Appendix A

25

Energy
Transport
Commitment

Page 90

Lead
Department(s)

Due for
Completion

Environmental
Enhancement,

Target date to
be determined
but likely to be a
long-term
aspiration

2.1 We will explore, implement and promote electric vehicle
charging infrastructure, particularly utilising partnership working
and external funding to develop schemes across North Devon
for the benefit of our residents and businesses and supporting
our sustainable tourism ambitions. This will include exploring
energy generation and storage opportunities in our car parking
facilities.

Amber

Place, Property & Target date to
Regeneration
be determined
but likely to be a
medium-term
aspiration
incorporating
opportunities
arising from the
national
infrastructure
roll out
Place, Property & 2023
Regeneration

Medium if
supporting
our own fleet/
grey fleet.

2.2 We will identify and develop active travel options across Low
North Devon to create a safer environment for pedestrians,
cyclists and horse riders. This includes identifying rural cycle
routes and electric cycle charge points in line with central
Government recommendations. This will be progressed in
partnership with a range of stakeholders including Devon
26

Green

Agenda Item 8

Project
RAG
Status
Amber

Appendix A

CO2 Potential
Saving for
NDC
2.0 We will continually improve the efficiency of our vehicles High
across our fleet ensuring that our vehicle purchases meet the
highest EURO engine emissions standards, and that these are
maintained to a high standard. We will regularly review refuse
fleet routes to maximise efficiency. At the purchase of any
council vehicle we will review options for electric and ultra-low
emission vehicles.

Energy
County Council through the Local Cycling and Walking
Infrastructure Plan.

Page 91

2.3 We will carry out a review of our Taxi Licensing Policy and Low
will use this as a basis to encourage our taxi operators to move
to electric and ultra-low vehicles, including exploring the
provision of dedicated taxi charging point(s) to support the
trade.

Amber

Planning,
Policy will be
Housing & Health reviewed again
in 2024

2.4 We will investigate the use of alternative, low carbon fuels
for our vehicles.

High

Green

Environmental
Enhancement

September
2022

CO2 Potential
Saving for
NDC
Medium
insofar as to
potentially
increase
opportunities
for our own
estate such
as onshore
wind
generation

Project
RAG
Status
Green

Lead
Department(s)

Due for
Completion

Planning
Commitment

Agenda Item 8

27

Place, Property & December 2025
Regeneration

Appendix A

3.0 We will use the review of the local plan to embrace
opportunities to deliver carbon reductions and improvements in
sustainability and biodiversity making use of guidance, expert
evidence and best practice to best deliver on a range of
environmental matters. We will use best endeavours to
maximise the potential of new developments to be highly
efficient and incorporate low carbon heating solutions and
support sustainable travel for future residents, customers and
visitors. Through the plan review we will revisit and consider the
opportunities to support on and offshore wind energy
development.

Energy
3.1 We will seek to take forward the relevant principles and Medium as
actions of the Devon County Council’s Carbon Plan through the above.
review of the local plan to ensure joined up direction of travel to
meet our mutual carbon, environmental and biodiversity aims
and targets.

Green

Place, Property & Devon Carbon
Regeneration
Plan by
December
2022.
Project and
Place review
December
2025.
Place, Property & December 2025
Regeneration

Page 92

3.3 We will seek to engage with wider partners to develop local Low
biodiversity off setting schemes to provide choice and
assurance to developers obligated through the planning
process within Torridge.

Green

Environmental
Enhancement

Ongoing

3.4 We will lobby Government for improved building regulations Low
for energy efficiency and making renewable energy sources
compulsory for new builds.

Green

Member Lead

No date set

3.5 We will lobby Government and local providers for improved
digital connectivity to order to promote further flexible and
remote working patterns, enhancing access to services,
supporting our isolated communities and reducing the need to
travel. A Digital Strategy will form part of our emerging
Economic Strategy.

Green

Member Lead,
No date set
Place, Property &
Regeneration

Medium
insofar as
supporting
NDC’s own
operations
and flexibility

28

Agenda Item 8

Green

Appendix A

3.2 We will seek to take forward and build upon our pioneering Low
work that seeks biodiversity net gain from development through
the local plan review.

Energy
Biodiversity
Commitment

Due for
Completion

Environmental
Enhancement

Target date to
be determined
but likely to be a
medium-term
aspiration

4.1 We will develop a Tree Strategy which will acknowledge
Low (though
the value of our Green Infrastructure including our approach to with offsetting
the management and protection of trees across North Devon, potential)
promote sustainability through the ‘right tree right place’ ethos,
promote partnership working and lead by example with our
communities.

Green

Environmental
Enhancement

Target date to
be determined
but likely to be a
medium-term
aspiration

4.2 We will integrate our climate and biodiversity ambitions
with our ground’s maintenance operations, developing
sustainable options that can be implemented and maintained
as part of this programme including developing ‘rewilded’
areas across our North Devon estate.

Low

Green

Environmental
Enhancement

Target date to
be determined
but likely to be a
medium-term
aspiration

4.3 We will support the Smart Biosphere to build a data-driven
response to climate challenges. Working in partnership with
the North Devon UNESCO Biosphere Reserve, Torridge
District Council and other key stakeholders such as the
Environment Agency we will develop a network of sensors to
measure and then respond to a range of sectoral needs.

Low

Green

Environmental
Enhancement

No date set

Page 93

29

Agenda Item 8

Lead
Department(s)

Appendix A

Project
RAG
Status
Green

4.0 We recognise the benefits of carbon sequestration and the
value of tree planting to future offsetting needs, and so we will
continue to develop our tree planting programme on land
owned by the Council and will look to take full advantage of
funding and schemes available to support this plan.

CO2 Potential
Saving for
NDC
Low (though
with offsetting
potential)

Energy
4.4 We will work in partnership with the North Devon
UNESCO Biosphere Reserve to ensure that actions stemming
from the innovative work of the Marine and Landscape
Pioneers can be enacted to enhance biodiversity.

Low

Green

Environmental
Enhancement

No date set

4.5 We will work with the North Devon UNESCO Biosphere Low
Reserve to support delivery of their Nature Recovery Plan.

Green

Environmental
Enhancement

By 2030.

CO2 Potential
Saving for
NDC
5.1 We will fully participate in the review of the Resource and Low
Waste Strategy for Devon and Torbay, and actively promote its
aims to minimise the waste we create, to reduce the impact of
resource and waste management on climate change by
tailoring operations to reduce the waste carbon footprint, and to
seek to preserve natural capital and practice resource
efficiency.

Project
RAG
Status
Amber

Lead
Department(s)

Due for
Completion

Environmental
Enhancement

Target date to
be determined
but likely to be a
medium-term
aspiration

5.2 We will promote and support the development of the circular Low
economy and waste hierarchy and will review and be open to
all options available to reduce the carbon footprint of our waste
collection activities which may include, but is not limited to,
maximising recycling and developing new waste recycling
opportunities, promoting the waste hierarchy through review of
the residual waste collection programme and exploring options
to promote reuse and repair.

Green

Environmental
Enhancement

No date set

Waste & Recycling
Commitment

Page 94

Agenda Item 8

Appendix A

30

Energy
5.3 We will work with Plastic Free North Devon to support Low
delivery of their Strategy.

Amber

Environmental
Enhancement

Target dates to
be determined

Project
RAG
Status
Green

Lead
Department(s)

Due for
Completion

Environmental
Enhancement

Annually

Green

Governance

Possibly 2024
following review
of legislation
and lead in
time.

Green

Finance

2022

The Council
Commitment

Page 95

6.0 We will carry out an annual review of our carbon plan and
will be transparent about our direction of travel, achievements
and challenges in meeting our stated ambitions. This will be
reported on annually to Full Council and is part of our wider
commitment to making our climate and biodiversity ambitions
central to the governance and operations of the Council.

31

Agenda Item 8

6.2 We will integrate carbon, environmental and biodiversity High
ambitions into all our capital projects and ensure that stated
standards and targets in these areas are included into those
projects.

Appendix A

6.1 We will develop and approve a sustainable procurement
policy to incorporate sustainability, the environment and
corporate social responsibility into our financial procedures. We
will guide and support smaller businesses who work with us to
meet these ambitions. We will regularly review our sustainable
procurement policy application and weighting to further develop
this approach to maintain continual improvement and
encouragement of the most sustainable suppliers to the
Council.

CO2 Potential
Saving for
NDC
Low but this is
the basis of
our
understanding
of progress
against our
stated carbon
target.
Low due to
our carbon
accounting
process
currently used
– Donna can
you explain??

Energy
6.4 We will carry out a full audit of the Council’s carbon footprint
to current Government guidance, ensuring parity of scope with
Torridge District Council to provide future opportunities for
comparing performance and best practice, in order to drive
change and improvements across both Authorities.

Page 96

Annually

Governance

6.6 We will support staff and members to reduce their carbon
Medium
footprints by facilitating hybrid working models that support
elements of home working and mobile working practices and
promoting sustainable transport options such as mileage
reduction methods, developing or promoting the use of electric
and ultra-low emission vehicles for business purposes and
encouraging cycling, walking, car sharing and public transport.
6.7 We will review our treasury management policy and
Low
resources to determine feasibility of divestment and NDC
including and developing ethical investment vehicles within its
portfolio.

Amber

Senior
Management
Team

Target date to
be determined
but likely to be a
medium-term
aspiration
No date set

Green

Governance

6.8 We will develop and maintain a communications plan
integrated with all departments across the Council to
showcase the work of the Authority in leading the response to
the climate and biodiversity emergencies. This will include a
community facing webpage of information, support and

Green

Customer Focus

Low

Treasury
Management
Strategy
reviewed on an
annual basis.
Summer 2022
No date set

32

Agenda Item 8

Environmental
Enhancement

Appendix A

Low but this is Green
the basis of
our
understanding
of progress
against our
stated carbon
target.
6.5 We will review consumables purchased and used by the Low
Amber
Authority and will seek to move to environmentally positive
options. This will include areas such as cleaning materials,
stationary usage, tools and machinery.

Energy
resources, as well as a staff and Member facing information
source to internally promote our plans and achievements
6.9 We will encourage staff participation in our carbon
ambitions by including ‘green’ idea generation through training
and the corporate appraisal process.

Low

Page 97

Green

Organisational
development

Staff training
programme to
be delivered by
end 2022.
Ongoing

6.11 We will support members on their role in championing, High
influencing and implementing positive climate change and
biodiversity measures within NDC and the wider communities
they represent.

Ongoing

Environmental
Enhancement

6.12 We will seek to improve the quality and extent of the data
in our carbon footprint, particularly for Scope 3 emissions.

Low

Green

Environmental
Enhancement

6.13 We will lobby Government and local providers to ensure
grid capacity in northern Devon supports our low carbon
ambitions.

Low

Green

Member lead

Ongoing

CO2 Potential
Saving for
NDC
7.0 We will support communities in adapting to climate change, Low
sustainability and carbon reduction in community and
emergency plans.

Project
RAG
Status
Green

Lead
Department(s)

Due for
Completion

Environmental
Enhancement

Ongoing

7.1 We will support our towns, parishes and communities with Low
information and support on carbon cutting and biodiversity

Green

Environmental
Enhancement

Ongoing

Member training
programme to
be delivered by
end of 2022.
Ongoing

Our Communities

Agenda Item 8

33

Appendix A

Commitment

Energy
enhancing projects, funding and opportunities. We will promote
the development of local schemes around tree planting,
allotments, community gardens and orchard provision.

Page 98

Planning,
Housing and
Health

Ongoing

7.3 We will develop guidance for supporting and promoting Low
sustainable events through licensing function and North
Devon’s Safety Advisory Group.

Green

Planning,
Housing and
Health

Summer 2022

7.4 We will seek opportunities for developing a low carbon Low
economy, promotion of green entrepreneurship and investment
through our new Economic Strategy. We will provide
businesses with information and support on energy generation,
improving energy efficiency and reducing their own carbon
footprint. We will support North Devon employers, communities
and organisations in declaring their own Climate and
Biodiversity Emergencies and developing action plans. We will
work with Petroc and support local schools to maximise
opportunities for the next generation in our new green future.

Green

Place, Property & No date set.
Regeneration

7.5 We will promote shopping local, promoting farmers markets, Low
direct fish sales and local green start-ups and develop the local
green economy and economic generation by pursuing

Green

Place, Property & Ongoing
Regeneration

34

Agenda Item 8

Green

Appendix A

7.2 We will support households experiencing fuel poverty by Low
working with partners to promote and implement energy
efficiency measures through the adoption of a fuel poverty
strategy. This will develop a multi-agency approach to tackling
fuel poverty in the district from maximising leverage of existing
options to creating enhanced services to residents on energy
efficiency/ money management advice and retrofit options.

Energy
opportunities, funding and seeking cooperation to take full
advantage of opportunities.

Page 99

Agenda Item 8

Appendix A

35

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9

North Devon Council
Report Date: 6 June 2022
Topic: North Devon Council Carbon Footprint
Report by: Donna Sibley, Climate Officer
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1. In July 2019 North Devon Council signed up to the Devon Climate
Emergency Declaration. The Council have committed to being a net zero
carbon organisation by 2030, and to supporting North Devon to achieve net
zero carbon by 2050 at the latest.
1.2. A baseline carbon footprint was calculated by Dr Daniel Lash at Exeter
University for the period 1st April 2018 to 31st March 2019.
1.3. The Sustainability and Climate Officer has updated our carbon footprint,
based on data for the period 1st April 2020 to 31st March 2021, see
Appendix 1.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS
2.1. To approve the 2020-2021 carbon footprint report for publication, and note
our current position with respect to achieving our target of net zero carbon by
2030.

3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
3.1. Annual reporting of our carbon footprint is a commitment in our Climate
Emergency Declaration.
4. REPORT
4.1. The UN Greenhouse Gas Protocol identifies carbon emissions as Scope 1, 2
and 3. Scope 1 covers direct emissions from owned or controlled sources, ie
from owned facilities, equipment or transport. Scope 2 covers indirect
emissions from the generation of purchased electricity, steam, heating and
cooling consumed by the reporting company. Scope 3 includes all other
indirect emissions that occur in a company's value chain.
4.2. Our baseline assessment measured our Scope 1, 2 and certain Scope 3
emissions giving us a carbon footprint of just under 4,000 tonnes of carbon
dioxide equivalent (tCO2e).

Page 101

Agenda Item 9
4.3. There are significant areas where data was not available, and so not included
in the carbon calculation. This is especially true for our Scope 3 emissions.
Typically 80-90% of an organisation’s carbon emissions fall in Scope 3, and
so it is likely that our baseline carbon footprint is an under-estimate.
4.4. The 2021 carbon footprint included more Scope 3 emissions, principally
procured goods and services. The two footprints can be broken down as
follows:
No. Category
Scope 1: Direct GHG emissions and removals
1
Stationary combustion
2
Owned transport
3
Process emissions
4
Fugitive emissions
Scope 2: Energy GHG Indirect emissions
5
Electricity
Scope 3: Other direct GHG emissions
6
Purchased material and fuel
7
Transport related activities
8
Waste disposal
9
Leased assets and franchising, outsourcing
10
Sold goods and services
TOTAL GROSS FOOTPRINT (SCOPES 1, 2 and 3)
11
Offset emissions
TOTAL NET FOOTPRINT (SCOPES 1, 2 and 3 and
Offset)

2018/19 2020/21
1392.4
1354.3
190.7
181.5
1201.8
1172.9
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
351.0
197.0
351.0
197.0
2208.1
6207.7
748.1
3246.2
425.6
19.2
0.0
7.3
0.0
2043.9
1034.4
891.1
3951.5
7759.0
0.0
0.0
3951.5
7759.0

Notes on coverage
1. Stationary Combustion – emissions from gas or oil combustion in
buildings.
2. Owned transport – waste vehicles, street cleansing vehicles owned by
NDC.
3. n/a
4. Fugitive emissions – leaks from cooling systems, tests showed none.
5. Electricity – emissions from electricity used in buildings.
6. Purchased material and fuel – incl procured goods and Well to Tank
emissions.
7. Transport related activities – emissions from grey fleet and business
travel.
8. Waste disposal – very poor data available.
9. Leased assets and franchising, outsourcing – procured services.
Sold goods and services – data on red diesel sold at Ilfracombe Harbour was
included.

Page 102

Agenda Item 9

4.5. In the period 1st April 2020 to 31st March 2021 there were three lockdowns
as a result of the covid epidemic. The impact of this will have been a drop in
some carbon emissions for this period. For example, staff travel for business
is very low compared to previous years, as is energy use in some of our
public buildings such as Barnstaple bus station. We understand this is an
extraordinary reporting period, and that it’s likely that we will see an increase
in carbon emissions in the next year.
4.6. Implications for our Net Zero Carbon by 2030 target - The Council has set a
target for its operations to be net zero carbon by 2030. In practice, this will be
extremely challenging to achieve and will impact on a broad range of council
functions and delivery, and will potentially require significant financial input to
achieve.
4.7. We are currently not on target to achieve net zero by 2030.
4.8. Options for emissions associated with our properties - We have received a
heat decarbonisation plan for some of our properties identifying options to
reduce their carbon emissions such as retrofit, smart energy controls and
renewable energy generation.
4.9. The carbon footprint should feed into long term planning regarding properties
owned by the Council. There may be options available that will increase
efficiency of those buildings such as maximising occupancy, co-location or
even disposal/ alternative use of the property.
4.10.
Options for emissions associated with transport - We will need to look
at emerging low impact technology for our waste fleet, most likely either
electrical or hydrogen powered vehicles, but at present this is not a viable
alternative to diesel for a large, hilly, rural authority. There are also wider
considerations around the necessary infrastructure to support such a move,
as well as the funding needed to invest in this emerging technology.
4.11.

There are opportunities to replace smaller vans with electric vehicles.

4.12.
In relation to the impacts from our grey fleet there is a potential
opportunity to move to use of pooled (electric) vehicles. Again, this will
involve significant investment.
4.13.
Alternatively/ additionally, there may be opportunities to incentivise
greener travel by staff e.g.) use of cycle or public transport as opposed to car
use, but this does present real difficulties in a large rural area as North

Page 103

Agenda Item 9
Devon. However with the Government’s commitment to phase out diesel and
petrol cars and move to electric vehicles, there may be opportunities to
incentivise their purchase by staff in the future.
4.14.
Options for emissions associated with procured goods and services Whilst there are undoubted opportunities to reduce the emissions associated
with our purchased good and services through the introduction of a
sustainable procurement system, this will not be possible to show in our
carbon footprint calculations.
4.15.
The current methodology used in 2020/2021 relies on carbon intensity
values for different industry sectors from 2009. Reporting in future years will
therefore use the same values. Whilst BEIS has indicated these may be
updated, they are not able to reflect any changes we make as they apply at
the Standard Industry Category level.
4.16.
It is extremely likely that we will not be able to “Avoid Reduce or
Replace” emissions and therefore the Council will need to give consideration
in the future to offsetting. There are a number of options in relation to this.
We do intend, as given in our Carbon plan, to look at opportunities to offset
emissions through generation of renewable energy. There are also
opportunities to offset emissions through traditional carbon capture – eg
developing woodland planting.

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
5.1. Additional resource may be required to improve data collection. This is
already being considered through the Sustainable Procurement group. The
resources required to reduce the Council’s carbon footprint are addressed in
the Carbon, Environment and biodiversity Plan.
6. EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT
6.1. There are not any equalities implications anticipated as a result of this report.
7. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT
7.1. This report is neutral with respect to the environment, but it does provide the
baseline data on which to act and report.

8. CORPORATE PRIORITIES
8.1. What impact, positive or negative, does the subject of this report have on:
8.1.1. The commercialisation agenda: the Council’s desire to reduce its
carbon footprint may affect its commercialisation decisions.
8.1.2. Improving customer focus: n/a

Page 104

Agenda Item 9
8.1.3. Regeneration or economic development: the Council’s desire to reduce
its carbon footprint may affect its regeneration or economic development
decisions.

9. CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT
9.1. Article of Part 3 Annexe 1 paragraph :
9.2. Delegated power:

10. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
10.1.
This report contains no confidential information or exempt information
under the provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act.
11. BACKGROUND PAPERS
11.1.
The following background papers were used in the preparation of this
report: North Devon Council Greenhouse Gas Report, 2018 to 2019. (The
background papers are available for inspection and kept by the author of the
report).
12. STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE
12.1. The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all
appropriate Councillors and Officers: Donna Sibley, Climate Officer

Page 105

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
Appendix A

North Devon Council Greenhouse Gas
Inventory 2020/21
Company Information
North Devon Council (NDC)
Brynsworthy Environment Centre, Barnstaple Devon EX31 3NP

Reporting Period
1st April 2020 to 31st March 2021

Reasons for Change in Emissions
This is the second time that an organisational greenhouse gas (GHG) footprint has been
undertaken for the organisation following this method.
There was a decrease in Scope 2 emissions from 2018/19 to 2020/21 as a result of the
pandemic lockdowns, and the closure of several public buildings. This calculation is also
affected by the increasing amount of renewable electricity generated in the UK, and
corresponding decrease in tCO2e associated with this sector.
There was a very significant increase in Scope 3 emissions from 2018/19 to 2020/21 of
nearly 4,000 tCO2e. This is because the carbon footprint of the Council’s procured goods
and services were included in the 2020/21 footprint.
The 2018/19 footprint included a calculation of the carbon footprint of the Council’s
commuting mileage. This was based on UK average journey length in average car with
unknown fuel. This was excluded from the 2020/21 footprint as it is a very crude way of
measuring the carbon impact of our commuting, and for significant amounts of the year
staff were working from home.

Quantification and Reporting Methodology
The quantification of emissions has been undertaken in accordance with Chapter 3 of HM
Government 2019, Environmental Reporting Guidelines: Including streamlined energy and
carbon reporting guidance.
The 2020 UK Government GHG Conversion Factors for Company Reporting (version 1.01)
were used in the calculations.

Organisational Boundary
The financial control approach has been used.

Operational Scopes
Scopes 1, 2 and certain Scope 3 emissions (as described in the detailed inventory) have been
measured in metric tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (tCO2e).

Page 107

Agenda Item 9
Appendix A

Summary Inventory
Emissions by scope measured in tCO2e are shown in the inventory and graph below.
Total gross emissions in 2020/2021 were 7759 tCO2e.
No. Category

2020/21

SCOPE 1: Direct GHG emissions and removals

1354.3

1. Stationary combustion

181.5

2. Owned transport

1172.9

3. Process emissions

0

4. Fugitive emissions

0

SCOPE 2: Energy GHG indirect emissions

197.0

5. Electricity

197.0

SCOPE 3: Other indirect GHG emissions

6207.7

6. Purchased material and fuel

3246.2

7. Transport related activities

19.2

8. Waste disposal

7.3

9. Leased assets and franchising, outsourcing

2043.9

10. Sold Goods and Services

891.1

TOTAL GROSS FOOTPRINT (SCOPES 1, 2 and 3)

7759

11. Offset Emissions

0

TOTAL NET FOOTPRINT (SCOPES 1, 2 and 3 and Offsets)

Annual GHG Emissions by Category
(Scope 1 = blue, Scope 2 = red, Scope 3 = green)
9000
11. Offset Emissions

GHG Emissions tCO2e

8000
7000

10. Sold Goods and
Services

6000

9. Leased assets and
franchising, outsourcing
8. Waste disposal

5000
4000

7. Transport related
activities

3000

6. Purchased material and
fuel
5. Electricity

2000
4. Fugitive emissions

1000
3. Process emissions

0
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Page 108

7759

Agenda Item 9
Appendix A

2020/2021 GHG Emissions by Category
(Scope 1 = blue, Scope 2 = red, Scope 3 = green)

1. Stationary combustion
3. Process emissions
5. Electricity
7. Transport related activities
9. Leased assets and franchising, outsourcing

2. Owned transport
4. Fugitive emissions
6. Purchased material and fuel
8. Waste disposal
10. Sold Goods and Services

Base Year
The base year is taken as 2018/2019.
Impact of the Covid-19 pandemic lockdown restrictions. On 23 March 2020 the UK
government ordered everyone to stay at home as a response to the Covid-19 pandemic.
Other than essential workers all UK residents were restricted to their homes, excepting the
purchase of food, or essential trips, such as attending to medical needs. Children were
home-schooled, many people worked from home, whilst many more were furloughed.
Restrictions were eased during Summer 2020, but a second lockdown was issued on 31
October 2020 in England, then eased again over Christmas 2020, with a third lockdown
being issued on 6 January 2021 in England. Full restrictions were lifted on 19 July 2021. To
date, many people continue to work from home. The impact of this will have been a
significant drop in carbon emissions for this period. For example, staff travel for business is
very low compared to previous years, as is energy use in some of our public buildings such
as Barnstaple bus station. We understand this is an extraordinary reporting period, and that
it’s likely that we will see an increase in carbon emissions in the next year.

Targets
North Devon Council has committed to achieving net zero emissions by 2030.

Intensity Measurement
Emissions have been quoted in absolute terms only.

Page 109

Agenda Item 9
Appendix A

External Assurance Standard
None.

Carbon Offsets
No carbon credits have been purchased.

Detailed Inventory
Emissions by type and in detail measured in tCO2e are shown in the inventory below.

Scope 1
Scope 1 includes four emission categories. The assumptions made for each of these were as
follows:
1. Stationary Combustion: Emissions associated with combustion of fuels in stationary
equipment (typically boilers in buildings). This includes owned buildings including leased out
buildings as these are on an Operating Lease. Data was available for a number of sites either
in terms of fuel use, in kWh for gas, or litres for oil. The fuel consumption was converted to
emissions using the GHG conversion factors.
2. Emissions associated with mobile equipment, typically transport equipment e.g. waste
collection vehicles, maintenance vans, LA owned cars etc. The calculation is based on
distance travelled, and type and size of vehicle.
3. Process Emissions: Waste collection is part of the Council's obligations – those emissions
are included within transport based emissions (2. Owned Transport). Waste processing is a
function of upper tier authorities and so are out of scope for second tier authorities. There
are no other process emissions.
4. Fugitive Emissions: Emissions associated with refrigerant leaks from cooling equipment.
NDC provided leak tests from a number of cooling systems, none of which identified any
leaks, and so has been taken as zero in the footprint.

Page 110

Agenda Item 9
Appendix A
The results are shown in the Table below.
No. Category
SCOPE 1: Direct GHG emissions and removals
1. Stationary combustion
1 BEC Workshop Heating Oil
1 BEC Generator Tank Heating Oil
1 Barnstaple Bus Station
1 Ilfracombe Harbour
1 Boyton (Rev) 2685
1 North Devon Cremator/Chapel
2. Owned transport
2 Works Recycling Waste Vehicles
2 Brynsworthy - other
2 Car parks spend on diesel from service stations
2 Works vehicles spend on petrol from service stations
3. Process emissions
3 Not Applicable
4. Fugitive emissions
4 NDC Cooling systems

2020/21
1354.33
181.46
1.27
25.47
0.22
0.00
0.00
154.51
1172.87
1161.75
no data
11.12
no data
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

Scope 2
Scope 2 includes one emission category. The assumptions made were as follows:
5. Electricity: Emissions associated with purchased electricity. This includes owned buildings
including leased out buildings as these are on an Operating Lease. Data was available for a
number of sites either in terms of kWh consumption or spend (£). In those cases the spend
was converted to kWh using BEIS typical fuel costs for the period (assuming a “small”
consumer). The fuel consumption was converted to emissions using the GHG conversion
factors.

Page 111

Agenda Item 9
Appendix A
The results are shown in the Table below.
No.
Category
SCOPE 2: Energy GHG indirect emissions
5. Electricity
5 Museum of North Devon
5 Barnstaple Bus Station
5 Tarka Tennis Centre Car Park
5 Ilfracombe Harbour
5 Woodlands Enterprise Centre
5 Barnstaple Pannier Market
5 Brynsworthy Environment Centre
5 Closed Circuit Television
5 Lynton House Accommodation
5 Marlborough Road Cemetery
5 Public Conveniences (indv assets)
5 Boyton (Rev) 2685
5 North Devon Crematorium site
5 The Square, Barnstaple (Fountain and lights)
5 Landmark, Ilfracombe (Putting green & lights)
5 Ladies Mile, Rock Park, Barnstaple
5 Pay & Display, Fair View, Barnstaple
5 Community Supply, Seven Brethren Bank
5 Runnymeade Gardens
5 Ilfracombe Yacht Club
5 Bear Street Cemetery

2020/21
196.99
196.99
23.04
3.31
1.68
7.70
2.73
7.54
103.93
0.00
9.87
0.01
8.66
0.00
25.16
0.89
0.58
0.17
0.03
1.53
0.09
0.07
0.00

Scope 3
Scope 3 includes five emission categories. The assumptions made for each of these were as
follows:
6. Purchased material and fuel: Information taken from invoices and spend was allocated to
a SIC product category and goods or service. Only product categories where spend was on
goods are included. Well to Tank (WTT) emissions from fuels and processes were calculated
from all the other sections in the inventory with the exception of sections 3, 4, 8, 9 and 11.
7. Transport related activities: Emissions from grey fleet, business travel and commuting.
Grey fleet emissions (where cars are owned by employees and costs claimed back via
expenses) were calculated based on mileage claims with the assumption that journeys were
in an average car with unknown fuel. No data was available regarding commuting or
business travel mileage (road/rail/air) and so these emissions were excluded from the
footprint.
8. Waste disposal: Emissions associated with disposal of the Council's own waste e.g. from
its offices (as opposed to waste produced by constituents). Data on water treatment was
calculated on the basis of South West Water's 5% Non Return to Sewer Allowance. Ie, 95%

Page 112

Agenda Item 9
Appendix A
of water supplied is considered to return to sewers. No information was available regarding
other waste production and so these emissions have been excluded from the footprint.
9. Leased assets and franchising, outsourcing: Information taken from invoices and spend
was allocated to a SIC product category and goods or service. Only product categories where
spend was on services are included.
10. Sold goods and services: Fuel sold (red diesel) at the harbour was included in the
footprint, and calculated based on the measured volume of fuel sold for the period. No
other sold goods or services were identified.
The results are shown in the Table below.
No.
Category
SCOPE 3: Other indirect GHG emissions
6. Purchased material and fuel
6 WTT Emissions
6 Water Supply
6 Procured goods
7. Transport related activities
7 Business Miles
7 Commuting Miles
8. Waste disposal
8 Waste water disposal
9. Leased assets and franchising, outsourcing
9 Procured Services
10. Sold Goods and Services
10 Red Diesel Harbour (not used by NDC but sold to boat owners)

2020/21
6207.74
3246.19
749.41
3.70
2493.08
19.19
19.19
not calcd
7.32
7.32
2043.93
2043.93
891.11
891.11

Net Footprint
As well as the headline gross footprint, the net footprint can be reported as a secondary
output. This can include reductions in GHG emissions associated with the generation of
renewable energy, and the purchase of carbon offsets.
North Devon Council does not generate renewable energy at any of its sites, and has not
purchased any carbon offsets.

Page 113

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10

North Devon Council
Report Date: 6th June 2022
Topic: Household Support Fund April – September 2022
Report by: Sarah Higgins – Head of Customer Focus
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1. Following the initial Household Support Fund October 2021 – March 2022, a
further £500m has been allocated nationally to cover the period April 2022 –
September 2022.
1.2. Devon County Council (DCC) and Devon district councils have been working
together since the start of April 2022 to put together a scheme to benefit
residents of Devon.
1.3. This report seeks approval of a policy to achieve this within NDC’s
administrative area.
2. RECOMMENDATIONS
2.1. Note the contents of Household Support Fund (HSF2): Devon’s Approach
(Appendix A)
2.2. Approve the North Devon Policy Household Support April – September 2022
(Appendix B)
3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
3.1. To enable NDC to achieve the criteria for the Household Fund as set out by
Government.
4. REPORT
4.1. DCC has been awarded funding of £5,064,876.12 by the Department for
Work and Pensions (DWP) for a second Household Support Fund (HSF2) for
the period 1st April 2022 to 30th September 2022.
4.2. The fund is designed to provide rapid short-term financial support to address
economic vulnerability and financial hardship. It should be used to support
households who are struggling to meet their food, energy, water and other
essential living needs. It can also be used to support households with
essential costs related to those items and with wider essential costs.
4.3. At least 33% of the fund must be used to support households which have
children / young people within them
4.4. At least 33% of the fund must be used to support households which contain
people of State Pensionable Age within them.
4.5. The remainder of the funding may be used for other vulnerable households
who are struggling to meet their food, energy, water and other essential
needs.

Page 115

Agenda Item 10
4.6. To meet the criteria in 4.3 above, DCC will again be awarding free school
meal holiday vouchers for May half term and school summer holidays 2022.
4.7. To meet the criteria in 4.4 above, all district councils in Devon have agreed to
use council tax data to identify all households (a) with a liable party who is of
state pensionable age and (b) who claim an element of council tax reduction.
Those households which claim this reduction have had their income and
household/personal circumstances assessed.
4.8. This data is then to be used to award these households a one-off payment to
assist with increasing household expenses.
4.9. NDC will directly award this using the Post Office payout scheme whereby
recipients can obtain their cash at any Post Office using a barcode issued to
them. Identification will be required and a 3rd party may collect on behalf of
the recipients.
4.10.
It has been agreed Devon wide that there will be a uniform payment of
£90 per household.
4.11.
NDC will receive an additional allocation to assist DCC to meet the
criteria in 4.5 above. NDC will not know the level of this allocation until after
6th June 2022;
4.12.
Using this allocation and other identified funding (as outlined in
Appendix B) NDC will direct award an amount to working age households
who claim an element of council tax reduction.
4.13.
The amount of this award will be determined by the level of this
additional allocation.
4.14.
This award will be administered in the same way as outlined in 4.7 –
4.9

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
5.1. This scheme will be mainly financed by grant funding from Devon County
Council (DCC), together with a small contribution from residual funds from
the Covid-19 Hardship Fund and Economic Financial Hardship Fund.
5.2. NDC will receive a financial allocation from DCC to administer this scheme
6. EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT
6.1. Please detail if there are/are not any equalities implications anticipated as a
result of this report. If so, please complete the Equality Impact Assessment
(EIA) Summary form available on Insite and email to the Corporate and
Community Services Team at equality@northdevon.gov.uk
6.2. No equality implications have been identified

Page 116

Agenda Item 10
7. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT
7.1. Please undertake an Environmental Assessment and complete the checklist
(EAC) form available on Insite. If there are no environmental implications
arising from your proposals please state that there are none. If after
completion of the assessment there are environmental implications please
provide a brief summary. If you require any further information please
contact the Sustainability and Climate Change Officer. Email completed
EACs to donna.sibley@torridge.gov.uk
7.2. There are no environmental implications arising from the proposals in this
report
8. CORPORATE PRIORITIES
8.1. What impact, positive or negative, does the subject of this report have on:
8.1.1. The commercialisation agenda
8.1.2. Improving customer focus – this scheme will give our most financially
disadvantaged households a cash boost to assist with the ongoing
increase in household expenses.
8.1.3. Regeneration or economic development

9. CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT
9.1. Article of Part 3 Annexe 1 paragraph:
9.2. Referred or delegated power? Delegated

10. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
This report contains no confidential information or exempt information under
the provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act.
11. BACKGROUND PAPERS
The following background papers were used in the preparation of this report:
 Household Support Fund (HSF2): Devon’s Approach (Appendix A)
(being adopted by DCC on 26th May 2022)
12. STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE
The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate
Councillors and Officers: Sarah Higgins – Head of Customer Focus

Page 117

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
Appendix A
Household Support Fund (HSF2): Devon’s approach
Context
Devon County Council (DCC) has been awarded funding of £5,064,876.12 by
the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) for a second Household
Support Fund (HSF2) for the period 1st April 2022 to 30th September 2022.The
HSF2 must be spent or committed before 30 September 2022 and cannot be
held over for future usage. As HSF2 is a finite fund, once the money has been
spent the fund will close (this may therefore be earlier than 30/09/22). The
HSF2 covers the DCC administrative area of Devon.
The fund is designed to provide rapid short-term financial support to address
economic vulnerability and financial hardship. It should be used to support
households who are struggling to meet their food, energy, water and other
essential living needs. It can also be used to support households with
essential costs related to those items and with wider essential costs. In
exceptional cases of genuine emergency, it can additionally be used to
support housing costs where existing housing support schemes do not meet
this exceptional need.
DWP guidance stipulates two targets that must be met in order for Devon to
receive the full funding allocation:
At least 33% of the fund must be used to support households which
have children / young people within them.
At least 33% of the fund must be used to support households which contain
people of State Pensionable Age within them.

The remainder of the funding (up to 33%) may be used for other vulnerable
households who are struggling to meet their food, energy, water, and other
essential needs.
Initial Deployment of Household Support Funds
As DWP payment to Devon will be in arrears and subject to submitting timely
management information (MI) returns, as well as meeting the two DWP
specific targets (outlined above), Devon must have robust policy and process
in place to meet the DWP targets before considering further deployment of the
HSF.
DCC has worked with district/city councils and other partners to
identify eligible households experiencing financial hardship. The approach to
deploy an initial portion of the HSF, in order to meet the DWP targets, is on
the following basis:


Free School Meal (FSM) Holiday Food Vouchers:

1

Page 119

Agenda Item 10
Appendix A
Funding the free school meals holiday voucher scheme to ensure families of
children, eligible for free school meals during term time, are also able to
purchase food over the holidays to replace the meals a child would have
received during a school day. Families of children that are currently in receipt
of free school meals are eligible for a supermarket voucher to the value of £15
per child per week of the school holidays (7 weeks in total for this HSF period)
to help pay for groceries over the break. The vouchers will automatically be
distributed to eligible families before the May Half-Term (1 week) and the
summer holidays (6 weeks).


Team Devon District / City Council Household Support Offer for
Households of People of State Pensionable Age:
People of pensionable age are less likely to seek help and support, and so
Team Devon will make direct contact with those struggling financially; using
Council Tax Reduction data already held within Team Devon. Direct contact
will be made with those eligible households in receipt of Council Tax
Reduction, outlining a one-off support payment. Those eligible may contact
the respective district/city council to decline the offer, if they so wish.
With approximately 20,000 people in this cohort, this action ensures the DWP
target set for supporting households containing people of state pensionable
age is met. Implementation is aimed for mid-summer, to enable Team Devon
district/city councils sufficient time to implement resources and infrastructure
required to conduct the task, but also to capture deployment within the initial
MI return due to DWP.
o Citizens Advice Devon (CA Devon) Energy Relief Scheme (prepayment meters)
CA Devon will manage an Energy Relief Scheme for those using prepayment meters and who are struggling to meet their energy needs.
Such meters are often used by those struggling to meet their energy
needs and those on the lowest incomes; often resulting in them paying
more for their energy requirements. A mixture of households will be
helped in this way.
o Support for Black, Asian, and other ethnically diverse peoples
Respective support groups will operate small grant schemes, reaching out
and providing help and support to those struggling financially; but which
local authorities have traditionally found harder to reach and connect with.
Communication
Communication will be released on the above deployment of this portion of
the HSF allocation for Devon. Where appropriate, further direct, timely and
specific communication to the individual households concerned will then
follow nearer to the actual implementation of the above initiatives.

2

Page 120

Agenda Item 10
Appendix A
Ongoing Review
Following review of the above actions, and the subsequent confirmation of
the funds being dispersed in the way described, and assuming HSF funds
still remain available, a further deployment of the HSF allocation will then
be considered on the following lines:


Team Devon District / City Council General Hardship Fund
All district/city councils will be provided with a further funding allocation,
based on the universal credit uptake in their respective areas, enabling
each of them to provide direct financial help and assistance to other
households who they have identified as eligible against their criteria and
who are vulnerable and struggling financially to secure food, water, energy,
essential and exceptional (e.g., rent arrears) provisions. Each district/city
council will use appropriate and accessible datasets; that they already hold
and which are compliant with data protection requirements, to proactively
identify vulnerable and in need households; making contact with them and
offering ‘one-off’ financial assistance.
CA Devon Energy Relief Scheme (pre-payment meters) - Scheme
Extension
If remaining HSF funding allows, a further allocation to CA Devon will be
made in order to extend the initial scheme. The scheme will close once the
funding has been dispersed.

District / City Council General Hardship Fund: Local Policy Agreement
The remainder of this document outlines the Team Devon agreed policy and
approach to administrating this fund to ensure a degree of consistency in
relation to delivery across Devon district and city councils.


Team Devon District / City Council General Household Hardship Fund
All district/city councils will be provided with a further funding allocation, based
on the universal credit uptake in their respective areas, enabling each of them
to provide direct financial help and assistance to other households who they
identify as eligible against their criteria and who are vulnerable and struggling
financially to secure food, water, energy, essential and exceptional (e.g., rent
arrears) provisions. Each district/city council will use appropriate and
accessible datasets; that they already hold and which are compliant with data
protection requirements, to proactively identify vulnerable and in need
households; making contact with them and offering ‘one-off’ financial
assistance. In addition, and at the discretion of the district/city council, an
open application process may be operated.
3

Page 121

Agenda Item 10
Appendix A

As this is a finite fund, once the money has been spent the fund will close.
The closing date may therefore be earlier than 30/09/22; the date the HSF2
funding period ends officially.
Those eligible for support may contact the respective district/city council to
decline any financial offer, if they so wish. On receipt of such a notification the
respective council will take steps to ensure the eligible household does not
receive a support payment.

1. Types of assistance that can be provided
This scheme is designed to help ease financial pressure on households with
low incomes and to support those most in need this summer whilst the
economy recovers. The scheme offers a one-off financial support payment to
assist with meeting basic living needs including:
o Food – this could be through a variety of methods including bank transfer,
vouchers, cash or a food parcel (dependant on local arrangements)
o Energy and water bills- support with energy bills for any form of fuel that
is used for the purpose of domestic heating, cooking or lighting, including
oil or portable gas cylinders. It can also be used to support with water bills
including for drinking, washing, cooking, and sanitary purposes and
sewerage.
o Essentials linked to energy and water - including sanitary products,
warm clothing, soap, blankets, boiler service/repair, purchase of
equipment including fridges, freezers, ovens, etc.
o Wider essentials – support with essential household items which may
include, but are not limited to, support with other essential monthly
expenditure which cannot be deferred including broadband or phone bills,
clothing, and essential transport-related costs such as repairing a car,
buying a bicycle or paying for fuel.

4

Page 122

Agenda Item 10
Appendix A
o Housing costs - in exceptional cases of genuine emergency where
existing housing support schemes do not meet this exceptional need, the
Fund can be used to support housing costs with the following caveats:
 Where eligible, ongoing housing support for rent must be provided through the
housing cost element of Universal Credit (UC) and Housing Benefit (HB)
rather than the Household Support Fund.
 Eligibility for Discretionary Housing Payments (DHPs) must first be considered
before emergency housing support is offered through the Household Support
Fund. The Authority must also first consider whether the claimant is at
statutory risk of homelessness and therefore owed a duty of support through
the Homelessness Prevention Grant (HPG).
 In exceptional cases of genuine emergency, households in receipt of HB, UC,
or DHPs can still receive housing cost support through the Household Support
Fund if it is deemed necessary by their Authority. However, the Fund should
not be used to provide housing support on an ongoing basis or to support
unsustainable tenancies.
 Individuals in receipt of some other form of housing support could still qualify
for the other elements of the Household Support Fund, such as food, energy,
water, essentials linked to energy and water and wider essentials.
 The Fund can exceptionally and in genuine emergency be used to provide
support for historic rent arrears built up prior to an existing benefit claim for
households already in receipt of Universal Credit and Housing Benefit. This is
because these arrears are excluded from the criteria for Discretionary
Housing Payments. However, support with rent arrears is not the primary
intent of the fund and should not be the focus of spend.

2. Eligibility
Prospective eligible households must:
1. Contain at least one member who is over the age of 16; and
2. Live in a Devon district/city council area (as their main residence); and
3. Be without sufficient resources to meet the immediate short-term needs of
themselves or dependents.
4. Be identified from existing data sets or via an application process (if the
latter is offered by the district/city council), as meeting the respective
eligibility criteria

3. Process
The agreed eligibility criteria and process will be defined clearly on the
district/city council’s website. Districts may contact a potential household
recipient to proactively offer direct financial assistance; basing such contact
on local data and intelligence indicating that the household may be struggling
to meet their basic living needs. Where an open application process is being
operated by the district/city council, only one application per household will be
allowed. An application can be made by a household member or their
appointee, carer, advocate or a third party acting on the household’s behalf.
5

Page 123

Agenda Item 10
Appendix A
Direct referrals from trusted third party partners will be encouraged to avoid
unnecessary duplication.

4. Maximum award level


There is no maximum award level as it is a discretionary fund determined
on a case-by-case basis according to need. Some districts may have a 2step process in place (decision and sign off) involving a front-line assessor
and manager; where an award is over an agreed amount.



Awards are made in a variety of methods (including cash via BACS
payment, pre-paid cards, vouchers) depending on existing local
arrangements/processes.
Eligible spend does not include:



Mortgage support - however homeowners could still qualify for the other
elements of the Fund (such as food, energy, water, essentials linked to
energy and water and wider essentials). Where a homeowner is having
difficulty with their mortgage payments, they should contact their lender as
soon as possible to discuss their circumstances as lenders will have a set
procedure to assist.



Advice services such as debt advice.

5. Repeat Awards
Support will be provided from the fund once only. In exceptional
circumstances repeat awards will be considered on merit. In such cases,
further work and referrals to other agencies will be discussed with the
recipient and may be conditional on having further financial support (e.g. such
as being referred to Citizens Advice).
6. Fraud
District/city council will pose questions or seek evidence to establish the facts
before making a decision to make an award to a household. Failure by the
prospective recipient to disclose a material fact or to make a false application
or provide false information will be treated as a fraudulent act. Where fraud
has been detected the recipient/applicant will be refused any further
assistance and where appropriate, the district/city council may prosecute
them.

7. Award Process

6

Page 124

Agenda Item 10
Appendix A
Where an open application process is being operated by the district/city
council, each case will be assessed. Further information may be requested to
enable an accurate assessment.
As part of the assessment, relevant information and data will be taken into
account such as:
 The prospective recipient’s financial circumstances and those of their
household members
 The prospective recipient’s access to other forms of financial support
 The circumstances and reasons associated with the case
 Preventative measures taken by the prospective recipient and their
household members
 The potential impact of making or not making the award
 The budgetary situation of the fund
A declaration will be signed by the recipient which will allow the Council to
share information with third parties to help prevent fraud. Records will be kept
on each case received for the duration of the scheme.
8. Data
(Suggested text follows but local subsidiarity will apply, with local
circumstances published by the district/city council on its website)











The types of information required to determine eligibility may vary between
district/city councils according to local processes – but any request for
supporting evidence will be reasonable and proportionate according to the
merits of the case.
For the purposes of this scheme district/city councils will only collect data
relevant to a household’s application.
Data will be held on the relevant district/city council’s digital platform and
will be protected using up-to-date technical and organisational security
measures
Data will be used to
o Determine eligibility for the Household Support Fund
o Make contact about decisions or updates related to the prospective
recipient and/or application
o Issue the Household Support Fund payment to a nominated Bank
or Building Society account where appropriate
Data may be shared with both internal and external organisations for the
purposes of validating any applications. Information will be cross matched
with other data held by the council and third-party agencies e.g.
Department for Work and Pensions (DWP), HM Revenue & Customs
(HMRC) for verification purposes.
Data may be shared within the organisation to support efforts to redirect
an applicant to other support that may be available.
7

Page 125

Agenda Item 10
Appendix A




Data may also be shared within the organisation or with other Government
agencies in order to prevent and/or detect potentially fraudulent activity.
Subject to a legal gateway, information may also be shared for the
prevention of fraud and criminal activity with (list not exhaustive):
o The police
o Immigration service, absconder services and/or UK Border Agency
o Health and social care organisations
o Other local authorities and public agencies
Personal data will not be kept longer than necessary (according to each
Districts retention schedule)

9. Monitoring and Reporting
District/city councils are required to complete the standard Management
Information (MI) reporting template provided by DWP to record the amount
provided or paid to vulnerable households under the remit of this grant
scheme. DCC will make one MI return on behalf of Devon in accordance with
the specified dates set out by the DWP. Guidance around monitoring and
reporting spend will be agreed with district/city councils in a separate
document.

10. Funding model
Allocations of funds to DCC from DWP is on a payment in arrears basis; on
the condition that accurate management information is submitted according to
the timetable (outlined below) and specific cohort support targets are met.
MI return
Interim MI
return
Final MI
return

Reporting period
From: 01/02/22

To: 30/06/22

From: 01/04/22

To: 30/09/22

Deadline
Deadline:
Monday 10/07/22
Deadline:
Monday 11/10/22

In turn, DCC will make staged payments to district/city councils, in arrears, via
a standard grant agreement once payment has been received from DWP. The
Fund will be monitored on a monthly basis.

11. Ongoing Policy Review
The second Household Support Fund has been established to respond rapidly
to economic vulnerability and financial hardship this summer. It is therefore
not possible to accurately forecast spend. The funding available will be
subject to ongoing monthly, to inform any potential changes to support that
might be needed for the remainder of the funding period.
8

Page 126

Agenda Item 10
Appendix A
.
The HSF2 is due to run until 30th September 2022 but once all funds have
been dispersed, the fund will be closed. In order to maximise the support we
can provide to all our residents we will always redirect residents to other forms
of support where we feel this is more appropriate to support their needs.

9

Page 127

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
Appendix B
North Devon Policy Household Support April – September 2022
The purpose of this document is to set out the objectives of the scheme and to outline the
methods and working practices to meet these.
The Household Support Fund is intended to help individuals and families with rapid shortterm financial support to address economic vulnerability and financial hardship until end
September 2022. It is designed to ensure that people can access emergency short-term
support, for those in most need with regard to food, energy, water bills and wider essential
costs.
Scheme Eligibility
The Household Support Fund is intended to help residents who have limited income and
ready access to other funds.
Applicants must meet the following criteria:
1. Be over the age of 16; and
2. Live in a Devon district (as your main residence); and
3. Claim an element of Council Tax Reduction; this assessment is based on income and
household/personal circumstances

Types of assistance that can be provided
The NDC Household Support Fund can be provide assistance for the following items:





Food
Energy and water bills
Essentials linked to energy and water - including sanitary products, warm
clothing, soap, blankets, boiler service/repair, purchase of equipment including
fridges, freezers, ovens, etc.
Wider essentials – support with essential household items which may include, but
are not limited to, support with other essential monthly expenditure which cannot be
deferred including broadband or phone bills, clothing, and essential transportrelated costs such as repairing a car, buying a bicycle or paying for fuel.

The type and level of assistance will depend on whether the household is of pensionable
age (prescribed by DCC as £90 per household) or of working age.

Consideration of the budgetary provision



Funding for the North Devon Household Support Fund, £250k is provided by Devon
County Council as part of their allocation of the national Household fund to support
households which contain people of State Pensionable Age.
Further funding will be allocated to NDC after 6th June 2022 when final numbers are
known for the pensionable cohort. This funding will be allocated to working age
households within the schemes eligibility.

Page 129

Agenda Item 10
Appendix B



Management Information (MI) reporting template, provided by DWP to record the
amount provided or paid to vulnerable households under the remit of this grant, will
be completed.
All allocations must be completed by 30th September 2022

Data





Data may be shared within the organisation to support efforts to redirect an applicant to
other support that may be available.
Data will be held on the relevant district/city council’s digital platform and will be
protected using up-to-date technical and organisational security measures
Data will be shared with the Post Office and will not be kept longer than necessary (as
per mutual data sharing agreement.
Data will be used to:
i) Determine eligibility for the Household Support Fund and,
ii) Make contact about decisions or updates related to the prospective recipient
and/or application

Award Process





Payments will be made via the Post Office Payout Scheme
Direct contact, via letter, will be made with those eligible households in receipt of
Council Tax Reduction, outlining a one-off support payment. Those eligible may
contact the respective district/city council to decline the offer, if they so wish.
This will be followed by a letter, sent by the Post Office, which will include the
barcode to redeem at any Post Office
Each award will have a period of 3 months to be redeemed.

Page 130

Agenda Item 11

North Devon Council
Report Date: 6 June 2022
Topic: Property Management Contracts for Green Lanes Shopping Centre
Report by: Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1. The Council acquired Green Lanes Shopping Centre in November 2021. Full
Council approval in June 2021 delegated authority to the Chief Executive
after consultation with Group Leaders and the Lead Member was given to
appoint managing agents and to enter into multiple contracts for the asset,
property and facilities Management of the Centre.
1.2. Three contracts were put in place for a period of up to 12 months each to
allow the transition of the asset to the Council and for Officers to gain
understanding of the operational requirements of the business moving
forwards. This report sets out the options for the requirement of these
contracts beyond the existing contract terms.
1.3. Consideration will also need to be given in the future regarding the wider
procurement and contract implications of this asset in terms of potential
changes to the constitution to accommodate this commercial property;
procurement of contracts on the Councils behalf and recording these
contracts under both Transparency Regulations and Public Contract
Regulations.
2. RECOMMENDATIONS
2.1. That Contract Procedure Rules be waived and the three contracts with Praxis
Real Estate Management outlined in section 4.4 be extended by a period of
up to 14 months (November 2023) from the date of their current expiry.
3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
3.1. The current contracts expire in September 2022 and November 2022 and to
ensure continuity an appropriate procurement route needs to be taken and
this allows for the new contracts to co-terminate simultaneously.
3.2. There is insufficient time to run a full open tender procurement process and
there does not appear to currently be a framework agreement that the
Council can access and includes our incumbent supplier, to allow them an
opportunity to win a longer term contract, and which covers the subject
matter that would enable an award through this route.
3.3. The above timeframe allows officers to investigate a longer term arrangement
through a framework agreement award mechanism or an open tender
procurement.

Page 131

Agenda Item 11
4. REPORT
4.1. Green Lanes Shopping Centre asset has over 30 tenants, a service charge,
service contracts and a team of staff. The nature of the asset means there is
constant fluidity in terms of its management requirements. There are also
constant requirements from letting advice and on tenant mix, which is a
property agency function, also supported by the Praxis team.
4.2. Shopping Centre Management is an area of specific expertise, which is
related to the size of the asset, the nature of the current tenant mix and
specific occupiers.
4.3. Members will recall the report and presentation to Full Council in June 2021
where it was outlined that for the Centre to be a successful and viable asset it
would require a mix of both internal resource from the Council’s Property
team and an external asset management expertise to support and drive the
Centre forwards. Praxis Real Estate Management have demonstrated
appropriate levels of support in this respect over the last six months and run
comparable centres for other Local Authorities and within their own portfolio.
4.4. The three contracts that are with Praxis Real Estate Management for:
o Managed Services Agreement expires 11/11/22;
o Sole Agency Agreement expires 06/09/22;
o Asset and Property Management Agreement expires
30/09/22.
4.5. At this early stage in the ownership of this asset, we need to ensure we have
ongoing support of an external property management facility to ensure the
property can continue to function on all levels. This is needed for the day to
day running of the centre including the employment of staff, but also from a
strategic level in terms of regeneration and refurbishment opportunities.
4.6. The options open to the Council for the above contracts are as;
Waiving Contract Procedure Rules
This route would permit the Council to enter into a contract with its preferred
supplier, Praxis Real Estate Management. It is likely that this would be on
existing terms with amended end dates, effectively acting as an extension or a
new contract to the existing arrangements in place. To minimise the risk of
procurement challenge through this option the proposal is to extend for a
period of up to 14 months (November 2023). A contract of this length is
unlikely to be attractive to alternative suppliers and it will provide sufficient
time to allow all suppliers to have a fair and equal opportunity to tender for the
opportunity to manage Green Lanes Shopping Centre on the Council’s behalf.

Page 132

Agenda Item 11
Appoint through a Framework Agreement
A Framework Agreement is a pre-procured contract by a central purchasing
body, normally with multiple economic suppliers who are pre-assessed at the
time of procuring the framework agreement. There is the ability to carry out
further competitions or direct award through existing frameworks. When
procuring through a framework agreement pre-agreed Contractual Terms and
Conditions are identified and the Council would generally be required to hone
a pre-existing specification to create a bespoke contract for itself. A contract
is then “called off” the framework agreement using this route to market.
Framework agreements save time both from a procurement and legal
services perspective because the procurement process is mostly completed
for Council and contract terms and conditions are normally already prepared.
This is the route that officers would favour, albeit the Council’s incumbent
supplier, Praxis Real Estate Management is not presently listed on any
framework agreement which the Council can use and is unlikely to be in time
for the Council’s need to deal with the current contract expiry dates in 3-4
months’ time.
Procurement through an open tender
An open tender could be prepared and run and this would require creation of
a specification. It would be the most resource intensive as Legal and
Procurement teams would need to prepare bespoke contractual terms and
additionally all relevant procurement documentation would need to be
prepared to comply with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015.
It would also require advertisement on Find a Tender Service (formerly OjEU)
and additional resources from procurement. On making enquiries the Council
has had interest from other authorities that own shopping centres to join in a
procurement of this kind if the Council runs one. This implies that they do not
currently have a tender-procured contractual arrangement in place. This
could conceivably result in good value overall if run jointly but could also make
the procurement more complex. We also receive considerable direct support
from the supplier, which could be diluted if the resource is spread across more
authorities and this would need to be carefully worked through to determine if
this achieves better value for money.
The Council would need to consider an appropriate tendering route in
compliance with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015, although at present it
would most likely be an open tendering process as this is the most
straightforward procedure and does not include a shortlisting process.

Page 133

Agenda Item 11

4.7. The three contracts in place all expire on different dates due to the start dates
commencing at different points in time. This was a result of some coming
into effect on exchange of contracts at the time of acquisition and some on
completion of the purchase. Discussions have taken place been officers
within Legal, Procurement and Property as to bringing these contract in line
so they all end on the same date. We would look to achieve this if members
approve the recommendation in 2.1
4.8. There are always associated risks with procurement award of this nature and
the Council aims to mitigate this by limiting the above award to extending the
arrangements by around a year, rather than a much longer contract award.
The substantive risk from this would be firstly the contract being declared
ineffective and secondly damages being awarded to a challenging
supplier. This requires that the management of Green Lanes (for this
contract period) is an attractive enough prospect for a competing supplier to
submit a challenge.
4.9. The best route of averting such a challenge while taking this approach is to
flush the risk out before committing. Therefore if members approve the
recommendation in 2.1; that if this route is taken that a Contract Notice is
also published detailing the Contract that is to be awarded to Praxis in
advance. Any challenge under the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 must
be made within 30 days of notice of it being published so if such publication is
made more than 30 days in advance of the contract being entered into then
should a challenge be received then the contract could be pulled before it is
entered into. Due to the short-term length of contract being suggested this
risk is reduced because the Council will almost immediately commence the
procurement process for the long term contract which will be the real focus of
any prospective supplier’s attention, however the approach suggested here
will mitigate this further.
4.10.
The relationship with Praxis has been extremely positive between
Council officers and both the Centre’s staff and tenants and a significant
amount of work and investment by all parties has gone into the first six
months of occupation to build the foundations moving forwards with the result
being that 5 of the vacant units being successfully let, substantial interest
generated in other vacant units, as well as plans for capital enhancements
being mapped out.
4.11.
It is important that this continuity builds to ensure we maximise the
potential of this relationship in these early years and allow the agent to fully
engage with the tenants; understand the operational requirements of the
asset and ensure optimum rent and service charge collection; and therefore
the recommendation is to extend the current contracts by a period of up to 14
months from the date of their current expiry. During this period, the team will

Page 134

Agenda Item 11
carry out an ongoing procurement route through a framework agreement or
tender process for the longer term contractual arrangements.

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
5.1. The value of the three contracts outlined in 4.4 are;
o Managed Services Agreement
o Sole Agency Agreement
per letting
o Asset and Property Management Agreement
respectively

£437,778 (Year 1)
£3,000 minimum fee
£83,330 and £85,000

5.2. The Managed Services and Property Management Fees are recharged
through to tenants who occupy the units within the Shopping Centre as part
of the Service Charge. An element of this is borne by the Council for any
empty units as this is a responsibility of the landlord until such time as the
unit is let. The revenue impact of the landlord responsibilities has already
been included within the Revenue Budget 2022-23 approved by members in
February 2022.
5.3. The Agency/Letting Fees and Asset Management agreements are directly
chargeable to the Council and likewise forms part of the approved 2022-23
Revenue Budget.
5.4. There will be officer time required from Legal, Procurement and Property
teams in preparing the contract specification and contract terms, this will be
resourced internally from within existing teams.
6. EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT
6.1. There are not any equalities implications anticipated as a result of this report.
7. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT
7.1. No direct implications as result of this report, any emerging capital projects or
enhancements at Green Lanes Shopping Centre through the asset
management would be assessed individually.

8. CORPORATE PRIORITIES
8.1. What impact, positive or negative, does the subject of this report have on:
8.1.1. The commercialisation agenda: the acquisition of Green Lanes
Shopping Centre supports this priority with the reinvestment of revenues
back into the Centre and other wider Regeneration projects across North
Devon. Having an effective asset management provision ensures we
deliver upon this objective.

Page 135

Agenda Item 11
8.1.2. Improving customer focus: asset management opportunities to fill
vacant retail units and also potentially look at longer term provision of
public facing services within areas of the Centre support this priority by
maximising the space and services being offered.
8.1.3. Regeneration or economic development: the core objective of buying
the Centre was to complement wider Regeneration within the town centre
and gain control of the types of provision within the Centre. The asset
management provision will complement and work with the Council on
these strategic plans.
9. CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT
9.1. Part 3, Annexe 1 para 1(b) and Part 4, Contract Procedure Rules, para 4.3(b)
9.2. Delegated power
10. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
This report contains no confidential information or exempt information under
the provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act.
11. BACKGROUND PAPERS
The background papers are available for inspection and kept by the author of
the report.
12. STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE
The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate
Councillors and Officers:
Jon Triggs, Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive

Page 136

Agenda Item 12

North Devon Council
Report Date:

6 June 2022

Topic:

Asylum Dispersal

Report to:

Strategy & Resources Committee

Report by:

Jeremy Mann; Head of Planning, Housing & Health

1.

INTRODUCTION
1.1. On the 13th April, 2022, the Minister for Safe and Legal Migration
announced that the UK would move to a full asylum dispersal model with
immediate effect.
1.2. This paper seeks to highlight the change in Gov. policy and provide
members with the opportunity of contributing to the informal consultation
9th May – 1st July, 2022).

2.

RECOMMENDATIONS
2.1. It is recommended that members:
Note Government’s implementation of this new policy for asylum
accommodation dispersal.
Give a steer on the proposed response to the government’s consultation
on the arrangements set out in Appendix B which the Chief Executive will
issue in consultation with the Leader and Lead Member for Housing.

3.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
3.1 To ensure that Government can plan for the implementation of this policy
with a full understanding of the implications/impacts for North Devon
Council and the local community.

4.

REPORT
4.1. There has been increasing pressure on the asylum system, with hotels
being used across the country as contingency accommodation for new
arrivals. There is an insufficient amount of existing dispersal
accommodation.

Page 137

Agenda Item 12

4.2. An announcement by Government. was made to councils on the 13th
April, 2022. Local authorities will be expected to participate in a new
system of full dispersal to allow the Home Office to move from hotels to
less expensive and more suitably dispersed accommodation, with work
starting immediately.
4.3. The briefing note sent to SW Chief Executive by the South West Migration
Partnership is attached as Appendix A.
4.4. The impacts of asylum dispersal on local government and local housing
needs could be significant. Government has indicated, however, that
considerations such as fairness for local authorities (informed by market
availability) are important allocation principles.
4.5. Officers are participating in Home Office workshops, and the Council has
been given the opportunity to participate in an online survey, refer to
Appendix B.
5.

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
5.1. Government has indicated their intention to complete a new burdens’
assessment to understand the financial cost associated with full dispersal.
It is anticipated that any such costs are fully reimbursed by Government
and will not impact upon the authority’s revenue budget.

6.

EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT
6.1. Government. has indicated that they will not consult on the policy of full
dispersal but will invite views on:
1)
2)
3)

7.

The impacts of asylum dispersal on local government.
Models of accommodation.
Wider ‘plan based’ considerations.

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT
7.1 There are no environmental implications associated with the
recommendations contained in this report.

8.

CORPORATE PRIORITIES
8.1. The implementation of these arrangements could impact on local housing
need.

9.

CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT

Page 138

Agenda Item 12
9.1. Article of Part 3 Annexe 1 paragraph: 1
9.2. Referred or delegated power? Delegated
10. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
This report contains no confidential information or exempt information under the
provision of Schedule 12A of the 1972 Act.
11. BACKGROUND PAPERS
The following background papers were used in the preparation of this report:
(The background papers are available for inspection and kept by the author of
the report). None.
12. STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE
The author confirms that advice has been taken from the following:
Leader
Leader Member for Housing
Chief Executive
Deputy Chief of Resources
Council’s Solicitor

23/5/22
23/5/22
23/5/22
23/5/22
23/5/22

Page 139

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A

SOUTH WEST CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ GROUP
12 MAY 2022
SW STRATEGIC MIGRATION PARTNERSHIP UPDATE
1.

Purpose and recommendation

1.1

Chief Executives are asked to note the brief on the upcoming consultation on
Asylum Reform and start to consider a regional response ahead of the South West’s
consultation event with the Home Office on 25 May 2022.

1.2

Chief Executives are asked to note the updates, some of which will be verbal at the
meeting on both the Ukraine and the Afghan schemes.

2.

Asylum Reform

2.1

The Minister sent a letter to all Local Authorities on 13 April 2022, announcing a
consultation to improve arrangements for asylum accommodation dispersal.

2.2

As you will be aware, there has been increasing pressures on the asylum
system, with hotels being used across the country as contingency
accommodation for new arrivals to the UK. This is because there is not a
sufficient amount of existing dispersal accommodation available.

2.3

Therefore, the announcement was made that all Local Authorities will be
expected to participate in a new system of full dispersal to allow the Home Office
to move from hotels to less expensive and more suitable dispersed
accommodation, with work commencing immediately.

2.4

The Home Office will achieve this through three key interventions:


To reduce and eliminate the use of hotels for asylum seekers by moving to a
full dispersal model for asylum accommodation. This will mean expanding our
existing approach of using private rental sector housing to all local authority
areas across England, Scotland and Wales.



In May, in the week commencing 9 May 2022, following the local elections,
the Home Office will launch an informal consultation with local government to
inform how this model will work across England, Scotland and Wales and
within regions and nations. The consultation will explore how asylum
dispersal can better take account of the other impacts on local authorities, of
resettlement and the care of unaccompanied asylum-seeking children.



Providing specific funding to recognise the existing contribution of local
authorities and for new dispersed accommodation. We will continue to work
with local government to capture and evaluate data to understand the impact
of asylum dispersal on local authorities going forward.

Page 141

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A
2.5

The Home Office, via the Strategic Migration Partnerships will work with Local
Authorities through an informal consultation, to design the details of how the full
dispersal system will operate in each region. The model will consider the impacts
on urban and rural areas as well as market capacity and will seek to align asylum
dispersal to national population share. It will provide local authorities with more
control and autonomy at a regional level by asking them to collectively agree an
approach to dispersal in their region. There will also be consideration to the
broader context of migration to ensure the impact of resettlement schemes and
Unaccompanied asylum seeking children are included.

2.6

A new burdens assessment is to be carried out, however in the meantime the
following funding will made available to Local Authorities:
 To recognise the existing contribution and longstanding support from local
authorities, each local authority in England, Scotland and Wales which was
accommodating asylum seekers on 27 March 2022 will receive a £250 one off
payment per asylum seeker.
 In addition, the Home Office made further funding available for 2022/2023 to
provide £3,500 for each new dispersal bed space occupied, in both new and
existing dispersal areas, between 28 March 2022 and 31 March 2023. This
funding can be used to implement and/or bolster services in both new and
existing areas. This will alleviate some pressures on local authorities and will
ensure every local authority plays its part in this important work.

3.

South West Response

3.1

At the South West Chief Executives Meeting on 22 October 2020, a widening
dispersal plan for the region was shared and agreed. This enabled Clearsprings
Ready Homes, the Home Office contracted accommodation provider for the
region to look at all areas for any potential dispersal properties. This work has
remained slow, with only a handful of new areas with very low numbers of
properties being identified and utilised. Please see the figures below as at the
end March 2022.
Mar21
397
116
338
257
4
16
4
8

Apr- May21
21
391
392
125
145
362
363
275
289
4
4
17
17
4
4
12
12

Bristol
Gloucester
Plymouth
Swindon
Yeovil
Cheltenham
Devizes
Trowbridge
Bournemouth
Taunton
Bridgewater
Region
1140 1190

Jun21
401
154
356
296
0
15
4
12

Jul21
381
145
340
287
0
14
4
12

Aug21
375
140
337
284
0
18
2
13
6

Sep21
353
150
338
287
0
20
4
13
6

Oct21
361
154
339
297
0
21
4
13
6

Nov21
387
168
344
325
0
30
4
13
5

Dec21
399
162
347
356
0
30
4
13
8

Jan22
388
159
341
367
0
30
2
13
9

1226 1238 1183 1175 1171 1195 1276 1319 1309

Page 142

Feb- Mar22
22
402 395
163 162
332 333
380 397
6
5
33
29
0
2
13
13
11
10
5
5
7
1
1342 1362

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A

3.2

Our understanding of why progress on increasing dispersal in the region has
been slow is due to lack of available and affordable properties in the South West
Region.

3.3

It is expected that each region will be given an allocation of numbers of asylum
seekers to accommodate. It will then be for the region to work together via the
strategic migration partnership on how best to spread those numbers across the
Local Authority areas.

3.4

Therefore we would like to ask South West Chief Executives to start to consider
the following questions ahead of the consultation event on 25 May 2022:









What do you think a regional response looks like?
What accommodation do you think could be accessed by Clearsprings in
your local areas for dispersal?
What numbers do you think could be accommodated in your area in line
with available accommodation?
How would you use the funding to support asylum seekers in your area?
How does asylum dispersal fit in with the resettlement programmes you
are already delivering in your areas?
What needs to be done differently for the rural areas?
Can there be more of a “place based approach” for the region, in order to
respond to all the various migration schemes?
What does the Home Office/Clearsprings need to do differently in your
area in order to procure accommodation?

4.

Afghan and Ukraine Updates

4.1

Due to the fast changing nature of both of these policies, a verbal update will be
provided at the meeting to enable discussion. For information the following
announcements have been made:




There has been a recent announcement regarding a refusals policy for
those Afghan families that decline to move into their matched
accommodation. A letter was sent to all Chief Executives on 9 May.
(Appendix 2)
DLUHC are currently working on policy to enable those Ukraine families
who sponsors failed their checks to be a be able to come to the UK as
soon as possible

Kelly-Anne Phillips
South West Councils
Appendices

Page 143

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A
1
2

Minister Letter of 13 April 2022
Enhanced Matching Policy Letter of 9 May 2022

Page 144

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A
Kevin Foster MP
Minister for Safe and Legal Migration

2 Marsham Street
London SW1P 4DF
www.gov.uk/home-office

13 April 2022

CONSULTATION TO IMPROVE ARRANGEMENTS FOR ASYLUM ACCOMMODATION
DISPERSAL
The Government is fixing the broken asylum system through the work of the Nationality
and Borders Bill.
As you are aware, the asylum accommodation system is under enormous pressure
because of the significant and sustained increase in asylum intake over the last 12 months
and the build-up of the population as a result of Covid-19 related measures, which is
placing unsustainable pressure on a limited number of local authorities. This has resulted
in over 25,000 asylum seekers being accommodated in temporary contingency
accommodation, such as hotels. This is not acceptable; it is not fair on the taxpayers, and
it does not offer the right solution for communities or those seeking asylum; it must
change.
We are committed to working with local authorities to move to a fairer distribution of
asylum seekers. All local authority areas in England, Scotland and Wales will be expected
to participate in a new system of full dispersal to allow us to move from hotels to less
expensive and more suitable dispersed accommodation. We will start to expand the
procurement process across England, Scotland and Wales from today, working closely
with local authority areas to make them aware of proposed properties and allow any
specific concerns to be raised for consideration.
We will achieve this through three key interventions:
1. To reduce and eliminate the use of hotels for asylum seekers by moving to a full dispersal
model for asylum accommodation. This will mean expanding our existing approach of using
private rental sector housing to all local authority areas across England, Scotland and
Wales.
2. In May, following the local elections, the Home Office will launch an informal consultation
with local government to inform how this model will work across England, Scotland and
Wales and within regions and nations. The consultation will explore how asylum dispersal
can better take account of the other impacts on local authorities, of resettlement and the
care of unaccompanied asylum-seeking children.
3. Providing specific funding to recognise the existing contribution of local authorities and for
new dispersed accommodation. We will continue to work with local government to capture
and evaluate data to understand the impact of asylum dispersal on local authorities going
forward.

The arrangements for asylum accommodation are different in Northern Ireland as Northern
Ireland does not form part of the asylum dispersal system. My officials will work with

Page 145

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A
colleagues in Northern Ireland, following the conclusion of their elections on 5 May to
identify how they can contribute to this UK wide challenge.
Consultation
The Full Dispersal model will reduce and end the use of hotels by allowing the Home
Office to procure dispersal properties within the private rental sector in all local authority
areas across England, Scotland and Wales, rather than the minority of local authorities
which currently participate, this approach will reduce pressures on those local authorities.
We will work with local authorities, through an informal consultation, to design the details
of how the full dispersal system will operate in each region. We will invite views from
Devolved Governments, Local Authorities and Non-Government Organisations who have
an interest in asylum dispersal and resettlement. The model will consider the impacts on
urban and rural areas as well as market capacity and will seek to align asylum dispersal to
national population share. It will provide local authorities with more control and autonomy
at a regional level by asking them to collectively agree an approach to dispersal in their
region. This presents an opportunity for national and local government to work together to
ensure the system works better for communities across England, Scotland and Wales. The
process will be underpinned by a robust governance framework which is fair and
transparent. If local authorities are unable to agree an approach to dispersal in their
region, then the Home Office and its commercial partners will move ahead with a regional
plan.
Longer term, the consultation will shape the design of a reformed asylum dispersal system
which covers all local authority areas in England, Scotland and Wales and is:
• Fair and sustainable
• Collaborative, providing increased engagement and involvement of local authorities
• Innovative and responsive to changing demands and needs.
As part of the ongoing work with local authorities we will ensure the asylum dispersal
scheme is part of the broader context, including ensuring we work together on providing
accommodation to refugees brought here under the UK Resettlement Scheme (UKRS),
those on the Afghan Citizens Resettlement Scheme (ACRS), the Afghanistan Relocation
and Assistance Policy (ARAP), Homes for Ukraine and unaccompanied asylum-seeking
children (UASC) looked after by local authorities.
Funding
The New Burdens Doctrine states all new burdens on local authorities must be properly
assessed and fully funded by the relevant department. To support the implementation of a
full dispersal model, as part of the consultation process, the Home Office is committed to
undertaking a new burdens assessment. This will be an opportunity to better understand
the costs associated with asylum dispersal and engage with the local government sector.
Where we identify genuine additional and ongoing costs, these will be addressed in line
with the New Burdens Doctrine and subject to a post-implementation review.
To recognise the existing contribution and longstanding support from local authorities,
each local authority in England, Scotland and Wales which was accommodating asylum
seekers on 27 March 2022 will receive a £250 one off payment per asylum seeker.
In addition, I have made further funding available for 2022/2023 to provide £3,500 for each
new dispersal bed space occupied, in both new and existing dispersal areas, between 28
Page
March 2022 and 31 March 2023. This funding
can146
be used to implement and/or bolster

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A
services in both new and existing areas. This will alleviate some pressures on local
authorities and will ensure every local authority plays its part in this important work.
Home Office officials will contact council officers shortly to provide further detailed
information on the initiatives outlined.
This Government remains committed to working collaboratively with local authorities to
ensure we have an asylum accommodation system which is suitable, sustainable, and fair
for taxpayers.
Yours sincerely,

Kevin Foster MP
Minister for Safe and Legal Migration

Page 147

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A

Penny Hobman
Director
Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities
2 Marsham Street
London SW1P 4DF

Sean Palmer
Director Resettlement, Asylum Support and Integration
Home Office
2 Marsham Street
London SW1P 4DF

9 May 2022

Dear colleagues,

We wrote to you on 29 March 2022 with an update from the Home Office and the
Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) on Afghan
resettlement. This letter provided information on the ongoing improvements to the
matching process and the work being undertaken across Government to address the
number of refusals, while seeking to minimise new pressures elsewhere in the
system, such as homelessness and funding.
DLUHC provided advance notice of the planned implementation and key
components of the enhanced matching process to operational leads in English
councils and Strategic Migration Partnerships on 4 May 2022, and to the Scottish
and Welsh Governments on 5 and 6 May respectively.
We are writing to confirm that, from today, we will be implementing the new end-toend process for those households that refuse both appropriate offers of settled
accommodation. A comprehensive Q&A document, covering context and key
principles, full detail of the process, communications to families/individuals, roles for
national and local government, funding provision and monitoring, is included as an
annex.

Page 148

1 of 31

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A

The enhanced matching process
These enhancements build on work already begun to improve the rate at which
families accept offers of accommodation. We have increased resources in the Home
Office Liaison Officer (HOLO) Team to provide greater support within the bridging
hotels for the evacuees and to increase capacity for in-depth conversations with
families about accommodation offers, making sure families understand the offer
being made, resolving any questions or concerns the family may have and ensuring
families understand the consequences should they choose not to accept an offer.
We have improved our family triage process, putting in place a face to face meeting
with the family before accommodation matching starts, to make sure that we are
capturing all the information available about a family’s circumstances which is
relevant to identifying an appropriate accommodation offer for that family.
Under the enhanced matching process, households in bridging accommodation will
be given two offers of ‘appropriate’ accommodation, with the expectation being that
they will accept the first accommodation offer made to them, unless they have a
‘good reason’ to refuse it. (See Q&A annex for definitions of ‘appropriate’ and ‘good
reason’.)
If a household rejects an appropriate accommodation offer, the Home Office will
review the offer, consider their reasons, and if it was a good reason to refuse, the
offer will be discounted. If this is not the case and the review finds that the offer was
appropriate, the household will be informed of this and then given their second
appropriate accommodation offer. If the household reject the offer (and it is still
deemed appropriate upon review) then they will be given a minimum of 56 days’
notice to leave the bridging hotel and find their own accommodation. We hope that
given the improvements to the matching process there will be increased uptake of
housing offers, and few circumstances in which the Home Office need to give notice
to leave bridging accommodation.
We are aware of the need to minimise any homelessness pressures that may arise
as a result of the matching process. As part of this process, we will establish a
homelessness referral pathway to ensure that households who have been given
notice to leave bridging accommodation will be supported with their move-on plan,
including identifying whether they have alternative accommodation available to them
or may become homeless at the point of eviction. We are developing a process to
determine which council should receive a homelessness referral, in the event that a
household is at risk of homelessness, and we will test this with councils over the
coming weeks. Our primary aim will be to achieve a fair distribution of homelessness
impacts and responsibilities across council areas.
We will ensure that councils providing temporary accommodation as part of
homelessness duties, and integration support (similar to that provided in bridging
accommodation), will be funded for a set period of time to do this. Funding for
temporary accommodation (including staff and administration costs) will be available

Page 149

2 of 31

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A
for 6 months per household, whilst wrap-around integration funding will be available
for 3 months. (See Q&A annex for further detail and rationale on funding
arrangements.)

Co-design with councils
We have worked with councils in recent months to develop the policy, including
through a series of workshops, and this will continue to be an iterative process. We
will be putting in place a process to monitor outcomes and the effectiveness of the
policy and are committed to working collaboratively with councils to review progress
and adjust the process as required. We will be establishing a Task and Finish Group
to co-design and further refine the homelessness referral aspect of the policy with a
small group of councils, and will be working with the Local Government Association
(LGA), Welsh LGA (WLGA), Convention of Scottish Local Authorities (COSLA) and
Devolved Administrations to develop the policy detail further. We will write to
councils again in the coming months to update on policy outcomes and the progress
of the enhanced matching process.
We continue to work closely with the Devolved Administrations, WLGA and COSLA
to ensure that enhanced matching and the end-to-end process for households that
refuse both appropriate offers of settled accommodation are implemented as
successfully as possible for councils and Afghan families and individuals in the
Devolved Nations.

Communication with Afghans in hotels
Letters, translated into Pashto and Dari, have also been sent today by the Home
Office to families/individuals currently residing in bridging accommodation to set out
the changes being made. A copy of the letter to families is attached for information.
New arrivals to the UK will be made aware of the process for finding them settled
accommodation as part of their arrival induction.
We are also developing engagement products to help tackle the high level of myths
and misconceptions which are circulating through cohorts in hotels. We are engaging
with Local Authorities, Home Office Liaison officers and Afghans to design
communication and engagement products to help families better understand their
options and take more informed decisions (for example accepting a matched
property or finding their own private rental sector property). We have had a positive
response when user-testing products to support group presentations in two hotels
and are now developing the products for rollout across hotels.

Page 150

3 of 31

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A
If you have any questions, please contact your local engagement lead from the
Home Office or the Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities.

Yours sincerely,

Penny Hobman

Sean Palmer

Director

Director – Resettlement, Asylum
Support and Integration (RASI)

Department of Levelling Up, Housing and
Communities (DLUHC)

Asylum and Protection
Home Office

Page 151

4 of 31

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A
ANNEX 1
Letter to families/individuals in bridging accommodation

Important information about use of hotels and moving to longer term housing

Dear Hotel Guest
We wrote to you on 10 January 2022 outlining how we would match families and
individuals in bridging hotels to accommodation across the UK. Over 6,000 people
have already moved or are in the process of moving into their settled
accommodation where they are being supported by the local community. We want
to help you make a new home and start your lives in the UK too.
This letter sets out some changes we are making to the accommodation matching
process so that we can help people into homes more quickly.
We have improved how we match properties so that offers made are appropriate and
meet your needs. Before we match individuals and families to accommodation, we
will talk to you to make sure we have all the necessary information about your
circumstances to enable us to make an appropriate offer of accommodation. We will
take the following criteria into consideration, based on evidence that you provide us:
•
•
•
•
•

Education needs
Health needs
Faith needs
Employment
Close family links and caring responsibilities.

Given the work that goes into finding a house that is suitable for you and the limited
housing options in the UK, we expect you to accept appropriate housing offers made
to you. We and the local authority will ensure that there is a warm welcome in your
new area when you move.
We will offer you a maximum of two offers of appropriate accommodation. If you
decline both offers without good reasons, the Home Office will not make any further
offers and you will be required to leave the hotel and make your own arrangements
for accommodation.
To make this process work effectively, we will ask you to help us by responding
quickly, within 5 working days, when we make you an accommodation offer. If you

Page 152

5 of 31

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A
do not think the accommodation we offer is appropriate for you, you should let us
know why, and we will consider whether the explanation you have given amounts to
a good reason for refusing the accommodation. We have set out what constitutes an
“appropriate” offer and examples of what might be a “good reason” for refusing an
offer in the questions and answers (Q&A) section below.
Please read this letter carefully and if you have any further questions, please speak
to your Home Office Liaison Officer (HOLO).
Kind regards,

Penny Hobman

Sean Palmer

Director
Department of Levelling Up, Housing and
Communities (DLUHC)

Director – Resettlement, Asylum
Support and Integration (RASI)
Asylum and Protection
Home Office

Page 153

6 of 31

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A
Q&A on the accommodation offer process

Q) What is an appropriate accommodation offer?
We will offer individuals and families accommodation which meets the following
criteria:
•

•
•

•

•

•

•

•

The Home Office will offer accommodation which has been put forward for the
scheme by a local council or Community Sponsorship group. This is most
likely to be accommodation from the private rental sector although it may very
occasionally be from social housing stock.
The accommodation will meet all relevant health and safety requirements, be
in a good state of repair and will be furnished.
Where necessary, adaptations to the property will be made before the
household move in to ensure that it is accessible for any residents with a
known disability.
Accommodation will be available for a minimum of 12 months; however, the
local council where the household is placed is responsible for ensuring that
accommodation is available, if needed, for the three years that it has
committed to providing integration support to the household.
The accommodation will be affordable for the household, considering the
financial resource available to them, including any government support for
which they are eligible.
Once we confirm we have received the individual or family’s acceptance of a
property, they will be provided with five working days’ notice of a planned
move from their bridging hotel to their new accommodation.
Accommodation will be of suitable size to accommodate all household
members. The accommodation will meet the standards outlined in the
‘Technical Housing Standards’1 ,Department for Work and Pensions ‘housing
benefit rules’2; and the ‘statutory overcrowding and space standards’3.
For larger households, where it is not possible to identify one accommodation
option which is affordable and large enough to accommodate all household
members together, the Home Office will consult with the household to
consider whether, with their consent, the family can be accommodated across
two separate properties. The division of the family will take into account the
ages of household members, any caring or vulnerability needs and the
personal preferences of the family. Properties offered will be in reasonable

1

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/technical-housing-standards-nationally-described-spacestandard
2 https://www.gov.uk/housing-benefit/what-youll-get
3 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1985/68/part/X/crossheading/definition-of-overcrowding particularly section 326

Page 154

7 of 31

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A
proximity to each other so that all household members can maintain close
contact with each other.
Q) How will the Home Office match individuals and families to an appropriate
accommodation offer?
Before we match individuals and families to accommodation, we will talk to you to
make sure we have all the necessary information about your family circumstances to
enable us to make an appropriate offer of accommodation to you which meets your
needs.
We will use the information you provide to identify the most appropriate
accommodation for you and may disclose your information to other organisations to
enable us to do this. This is in line with the Borders, Immigration and Citizenship
Privacy Information Notice which you can see at:
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/personal-information-use-in-bordersimmigration-and-citizenship.
We will match individuals and families to appropriate accommodation taking the
following criteria into consideration:
• Education needs
• Health needs
• Faith needs
• Employment
• Close family links and caring responsibilities.
Education
• For households including children, accommodation will be sought within a
reasonable distance of age-appropriate education facilities.
• Where the Home Office is aware of the special educational needs of a child
this will be taken into consideration when allocating accommodation.
Health
• The Home Office will consider any known medical treatment needs, and
accommodation provided will be within a reasonable distance of any
necessary services.
• For specialist or ongoing medical treatment where continuity of care is
important and has already begun, the Home Office will accommodate the
household as close to that provision as possible. For more complex, specialist
treatment, this may require significant travel out of the area
Faith
• The Home Office will consider any faith practice needs and all households will
be able to practise their faith if they wish to do so. In towns and cities, access

Page 155

8 of 31

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A
to faith facilities may be in the form of a mosque, church or temple, however in
more rural areas it may be via facilities such as Islamic centres, visiting
imams, church groups or community gatherings.
Employment
• When we match accommodation, the Home Office will take into consideration
the location of any paid employment that has already begun, or where there is
a signed contract of paid employment in place. Where one of the adults is in
employment which requires them to attend a specific location to perform that
role, and where the role cannot move to another location the Home Office will
consider the impact of the proposed move and journey time on that
employment and seek to provide accommodation which is within a reasonable
travel distance of it. Households will be expected to meet the costs of any
necessary travel to and from employment from their own funds.
• Speculative or unconfirmed offers of employment will not be taken into
consideration for the purposes of matching accommodation.
Family links
• The Home Office will take close family connections into consideration when
matching accommodation as far as reasonably possible and will seek to
provide accommodation within the same local area, or close by, where there
are existing caring and support arrangements in place for family members.

Q) What are good reasons for refusal of an appropriate accommodation offer?
There may, in exceptional circumstances, be good reasons for refusal of an
appropriate accommodation offer. Good reasons will be assessed on a case-by-case
basis but could include:
•
•

Where the accommodation does not fulfil the criteria of an appropriate
accommodation offer, as set out above – for example due to needs around
education, health, faith, employment, close family or caring responsibilities.
Specific examples could include:
• Where an individual or family has specific needs to be in a different
area to access specialist medical or education support that is not
available in or within a reasonable travelling distance to the offer area.
However, for more complex specialist treatment, this may require travel
out of the local area.
• Where a member of the household has care or support needs that are
being met by close family members accommodated in a different area.
• Where a member of the household has the offer of a paid employment
as defined in the definition of an acceptable offer.

Page 156

9 of 31

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A
•

Where there is a short-term barrier to the individual or family moving,
for example medical procedure, and the accommodation offer cannot
wait for that to be completed.

This is not a complete list, and we will assess the reasons given on a case-by-case
basis.
Q) What do I need to do when the Home Office make me an accommodation
offer?
First accommodation offer
When we match you with your first appropriate property, we will send you a formal
offer letter with details of the accommodation being offered and some information
about the area in the UK where the accommodation is located. The Home Office
Liaison Officer (HOLO) will talk to you about the offer and provide you with more
information about the accommodation and the area if you require it. The receiving
council may also call you to give you more information about the accommodation,
the area and the support they will be able to give you in their area.
We will ask you to reply to this formal offer within 5 working days, telling us whether
you accept or reject the offer. For example, if we offer you accommodation on a
Wednesday, you will need to accept or reject the offer before the end of the next
Wednesday.
If you accept the offer, we will arrange transport to take you to that accommodation
within 5 working days of receiving confirmation that you accept the offer. We will give
you a minimum of 5 working days’ notice of your move date.
If you reject the offer, you will need to provide us with your reasons for rejection. We
will consider whether these amount to “good reasons” as set out above. If we accept
your reasons for refusing the offer, your next accommodation offer will count as your
“first accommodation offer”, and the original offer will no longer be counted towards
your total number of offers.
If we do not accept your grounds for refusal of the offer, you will move to the second
accommodation offer stage.
You should not ignore this offer. If you choose not to respond within the five working
days required, we will take your lack of response to mean that you are rejecting the
offer and you will move to the next stage of the process.
Second (final) accommodation offer
If you rejected your first accommodation offer and we did not assess your reasons
for rejecting it to be good reasons, we will make you one more accommodation offer
– and this offer will be final (unless you have good reasons to reject it). This second
offer may not be made immediately after the first offer and may be less preferable to
you than the first offer.

Page 157

10 of 31

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A
We will make the second accommodation offer to you in writing. Your HOLO will talk
to you about the offer and provide you with more information about the property and
the area if you require it. The receiving council might also call you with further details
about the accommodation, the area and the support they will be able to offer.
As with the first offer, we will ask you to reply to this formal offer within 5 working
days, telling us whether you accept or reject the offer.
If you accept this offer, we will arrange transport to take you to that accommodation
within 5 working days of receiving confirmation that you accept the offer. We will give
you a minimum of 5 working days notice of your move date.
If you reject the offer, you will need to provide us with your reasons for rejection. We
will consider whether these are good reasons as set out above. If we accept your
reasons for rejecting the offer, we will make you another accommodation offer which
will count as your second accommodation offer
You should not ignore this offer. If you choose not to respond within the five working
days required, we will take your lack of response to mean that you are rejecting the
offer and you will move to the next stage of the process.

Q) What happens if I reject or ignore both offers of accommodation?
If you reject or ignore both offers of accommodation without good reasons for doing
so you will be required to leave the bridging hotel and find your own accommodation.
We will advise you of this in writing within five working days.

Q) When will the new process start?
We will implement this new process from 9 May 2022. Only properties offered on or
after 9 May 2022 will count towards the two accommodation offers.
We strongly encourage you to accept the first accommodation offer, even if it is not
in an area of the UK that you were hoping for. As set out above, your HOLO and new
local council will be able to provide more detail about the area you will be settling in
and the support you can receive to help you understand more about the new
location. You should see this as your first step in integrating into life in the UK.
Wherever you live in the UK you will receive a warm welcome and will be supported
by the council. As you settle into life in the UK you may decide to move
independently to a different area, which you can choose to do without support from
the Home Office or the council.
You can read some stories of families who have already successfully resettled in the
UK either here:
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/housing-for-business-and-professionals/afghanresettlement-programme
or in the attachment below.

Page 158

11 of 31

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A

Page 159

12 of 31

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A

ANNEX 2
Local authority Q&A:
Afghan resettlement enhanced matching process (including the pathway for
families/ individuals in bridging hotels that refuse both ‘appropriate’ property
offers)

Contents

Section

Page

Context and summary of the new process

14

The end-to-end process/ journey

16

Key principles & definitions

20

Timelines

24

Communications to families/ individuals on the enhanced end-toend process

25

Funding for councils

27

Monitoring impacts

31

Page 160

13 of 31

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A
Context and summary of the new process

Q: How will the new process work?
•
•
•

•

•

An enhanced end-to-end process for matching families/ individuals to settled
accommodation and reduce the growing number of refusals of accommodation
is being implemented on 9 May 2022.
Afghan families/individuals will be offered a maximum of two ‘appropriate
offers’, with the expectation being that they will accept the first accommodation
offer made to them, unless they have a ‘good reason’ to refuse it.
If a family/individual rejects an ‘appropriate accommodation offer’, the Home
Office will review the offer, consider their reasons, and if it was a ‘good reason’
to refuse, the offer will be discounted. If this is not the case and the review finds
that the offer was ‘appropriate’, the household will be informed of their final
second ‘appropriate accommodation offer’ and that they must either accept it
or they will be given a minimum of 56 days’ notice to leave the bridging hotel.
The family/individual should seek to make their own accommodation
arrangements during this period as, at the end of the notice period bridging
accommodation will be withdrawn, and the family/ individual will need to leave
the bridging hotel.
Support and clear communication will be provided to families/ individuals
throughout the process, including on how to source accommodation and the
homelessness process once the period of notice has been issued. There is
also an accompanying set of materials that have been developed to address
entrenched myths e.g. “if I wait I’ll receive a council house” which we have
trialled in a small number of hotels and are refining as a result to be most
effective.

Q: Why has this process been put in place?
•

•
•

There are a growing number of households refusing accommodation offers for
a range of reasons. These are often complex, but generally include preferences
for living in a specific location, limited knowledge of the accommodation and
location offered, or the accommodation offer not meeting the household’s
perceived needs.
This frustrates efforts to match families to settled accommodation, putting
pressure on the bridging hotels and councils expecting a family/ individual to
resettle and delays the start of the integration journey.
Implementing this end-to-end process will help to reduce the increasing number
of refusals of ‘appropriate accommodation offers’. The process will not penalise
families and individuals that refuse to move to accommodation that does not
meet their needs (rather than their preferences).

Page 161

14 of 31

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A

Q: Why isn’t the matching process improved instead?
•
•

Work is already being implemented to improve the quality and speed of the
matching process. This refusals policy is the backstop to an improved matching
system – not a change in isolation.
We are doing this through a number of routes, including:
o Improving the information available to families/ individuals.
o Increasing the communications with families/ individuals regarding offers
of ‘appropriate accommodation’ made to them.
o Improving data available to matchers.
o Rolling out an approach whereby people are able to find their own
accommodation whilst continuing to receive the support currently
provided by the council.
o Trialling ‘localised matching’ – working with regions to match families
living in bridging accommodation in their region to accommodation in
their region.

Page 162

15 of 31

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A
The end-to-end process / journey

Q: How will families/individuals receive accommodation offers?

First accommodation offer:
•

•
•

•
•

•

The family/ individual will be sent a formal offer letter from the Home Office by
email with details of the accommodation being offered and information about
the area in which it is located. The Home Office Liaison Officer (HOLO) will
discuss the offer and provide the family/ individual with more information about
the accommodation and the area, as required.
The receiving council may also call the family/ individual to provide more
information about the property / area / support and encourage them to accept
the offer.
The family/ individual will be asked to reply to the formal offer within five working
days, advising of acceptance or rejection of the offer via the HOLO in their hotel.
The family/ individual will need to sign their acceptance or rejection reply. The
HOLO will then scan and send this reply back to the Home Office.
If the family/ individual accept the offer, transport will be arranged within five
working days of receiving confirmation of acceptance, with a minimum of five
working days’ notice of the move date.
If the family/ individual refuse the offer Home Office will consider whether the
reasons for refusal are reasonable and meet the criteria. If Home Office accept
the reasons for refusal, the next accommodation offer will count as the ‘first
accommodation offer’, and the original offer will no longer be counted towards
the total number of offers.
If Home Office do not accept the grounds for refusal, or the first accommodation
offer is ignored, this will result in a move to the second accommodation offer
stage.

Second (final) accommodation offer:
•

•
•
•

The second offer will be made by the Home Office in writing and will be final
(unless the family/ individual has ‘good reasons’ for refusal). The HOLO will
discuss the offer and provide the family/ individual with more information about
the accommodation and the area, as required.
As with the first offer, the family/ individual will be asked to reply to the formal
offer within five working days, advising of acceptance or refusal of the offer.
If the family/ individual accept the offer transport will be arranged within five
working days of receiving confirmation of acceptance, with a minimum of five
working days' notice of the move date.
If the family/ individual refuse the offer Home Office will consider whether the
reasons for refusal are reasonable and meet the criteria. If the Home Office
accept the reasons for refusal, another accommodation offer will be made,
which will count as the second accommodation offer.

Page 163

16 of 31

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A
Q: What processes are in place so that the first property offer meets the needs
of the family/ individual as best as possible?

•

The Home Office will meet with a family/ individual, face to face, before
consideration is given to matching a household to accommodation. The
purpose of this meeting is to capture all the information available about a
household’s circumstances which is relevant to identifying an ‘appropriate
accommodation offer’ for that household, making sure families/ individuals
understand how the matching process will work, the offer being made, resolving
any questions or concerns they may have and ensuring they understand the
consequences should they choose not to accept an offer.

Q: What happens if an Afghan family/ individual refuses or ignores both offers
of accommodation?
•

If both offers are refused or ignored without ‘good reasons’ for doing so, the
family/ individual will be given notice to leave the bridging hotel and find their
own accommodation, which will be communicated formally in writing.

Notice to leave bridging accommodation
•

If a family reject the second, ‘appropriate accommodation offer’ they will be
given a minimum of 56 days’ notice to leave the bridging accommodation.
Ongoing contact and support will take place once the period of notice has been
issued. Information will be provided on how to source their own accommodation
and the homelessness referral process.

Referral for homelessness assessment
•
•
•

If a family has not sourced their own accommodation upon leaving bridging
accommodation, they will be referred on to council homelessness services and
assisted to make an application.
If a family independently submits a homelessness application, the relevant
council should notify DLUHC and HO.
If the household is not likely to have secured accommodation before they are
required to leave the hotel, with their consent, caseworkers will make a referral
to council homelessness services.

Q: Will this not mean everyone will now present as homeless?
•

There are check points factored into the process to encourage
families/individuals to accept settled accommodation and that property offers
are ‘appropriate’. If a family/ individual refuses an offer, this will be
independently reviewed. Further communication with families will take place
before a family/ individual is asked to accept or refuse the second offer to
ensure the implications of the decision are fully understood. The aim of the
process is to encourage families to accept the housing offers and minimise the

Page 164

17 of 31

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A
number of those who present as homeless. DLUHC are working with HO and
DWP to increase Afghan families/individuals understanding of their housing
options and to tackle the myths enable people to make informed choices. In
relation to homelessness, we will cover myths which inform families that
homelessness applications will not ensure house is in exact location.

Q: Can a family/ individual change their mind and take up the first property
offered, after they saw the second property or when they fully understood the
implications of refusal?
•

If the first property offer was still available this may be possible, but will depend
on a number of factors, which will be considered on a case-by-case basis. We
encourage all families/ individuals to accept the first offer of ‘appropriate
accommodation’ made to them as the second offer is likely to not be more
preferable to them.

Q: Why is the notice period after the second refusal set at 56 days?
•

The minimum of a 56-day notice period to leave bridging accommodation has
parity with homelessness relief duty in England and will mitigate the risk of
people entering temporary accommodation.

Q: What will government put in place to limit the impact on homelessness
services?
•

There are a number of ways we are aiming to limit the impact on homelessness
services, including:
o Intensive work with families by HOLOs to encourage families/ individuals
to accept ‘appropriate accommodation offers’.
o Ensuring the Home Office ‘appropriate offer’ criteria is more generous
than the homelessness route to encourage acceptance during the
matching process and avoid homelessness.
o The minimum of a 56-day notice period to leave bridging accommodation
has parity with homelessness relief duty in England and will mitigate the
risk of families entering temporary accommodation.

Q: How will government ensure a fair dispersal process is applied in relation to
homelessness referrals, taking into consideration the different legislative
contexts in England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland?
•

We are working with councils across all parts of the UK to develop a referrals
process that seeks to distribute homelessness referrals across council areas
and that takes account of the different homelessness legislation for England,
Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland.

Page 165

18 of 31

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A

Q: How will large families be supported through this process?
•

•
•

For larger households, where it is not possible to identify one accommodation
option which is affordable and large enough to accommodate all household
members together, the Home Office will consult with the household to consider
whether, with their consent, the family can be accommodated across two
separate properties.
Any suggested division of the family will take into account the ages of
household members, any caring or vulnerability needs and the personal
preferences of the family.
Properties offered will be in reasonable proximity to each other so that all
household members can maintain close contact with each other.

Q: Is there an appeal process for families/ individuals to challenge final
decisions made by Home Office?
•

If a family refuses an ‘appropriate accommodation offer’, a senior Home Office
official will review the circumstances of the case and make a decision based on
the evidence provided, which will be communicated in writing to the family/
individual.

Q: Can a family return to bridging accommodation if they don’t like their
temporary accommodation?
•
•
•

It will not be possible for a family to return to bridging accommodation once they
have left it.
If a homeless household has been provided with temporary accommodation by
a council, the council must ensure it is suitable.
Households may ask for a review on request of the housing authority’s decision
that the accommodation offered to them is suitable.

Q: What is the role of the HOLOs and support services providing support in
bridging accommodation when it comes to actively encouraging residents to
accept properties?
•

HOLOs are responsible for initiating conversations regarding accommodation
offers and potential moves. They will promote the benefits of moving into settled
accommodation and manage any concerns or expectations a family/ individual
may have. The HOLO also works with the council staff working in the hotel as
well as in the receiving area to make sure families/ individuals are aware of the
support and resources available in the area of the proposed accommodation.

Page 166

19 of 31

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A
Key principles and definitions

Q: How is an ‘appropriate offer’ defined?
•

The Home Office will offer accommodation which has been put forward for the
scheme by a council or Community Sponsorship group. This may be
accommodation from the private rented sector or from social housing stock.

An ‘appropriate accommodation offer’ will:
•
•
•

•
•

•

Meet all relevant health and safety requirements, be in a good state of repair
and will be furnished.
Where necessary, adaptations to the property will be made before the
household move in to ensure that it is accessible for any residents with a known
disability.
be available for a minimum of 12 months however the council where the
household is placed is responsible for ensuring that accommodation is
available, if needed, for the three years that it has committed to providing
integration support to the household.
be affordable for the household, considering the financial resource available to
them, including any government support for which they are eligible.
be of suitable size to accommodate all household members. The
accommodation will meet the standards outlined in the ‘Technical Housing
Standards’:
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/technical-housingstandards-nationally-described-space-standard, Department for Work and
Pensions ‘housing benefit rules’: https://www.gov.uk/housing-benefit/whatyoull-get and the ‘statutory overcrowding and space standards’:
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1985/68/part/X/crossheading/definitionof-overcrowding (Section 326).
For larger households, where it is not possible to identify one affordable
accommodation option large enough to accommodate all household members
together, the Home Office will consult with the household to consider whether,
with their consent, the family can be accommodated across two separate
properties. The division of the family will take into account the ages of
household members, any caring or vulnerability needs and the personal
preferences of the family. Properties offered will be in reasonable proximity to
each other so that all household members can maintain close contact with each
other.

Q: What is the priority system that underpins the order that families/ individuals
are matched and how will that be communicated?
•

Prior to matching families/ individuals to accommodation, the Home Office will
talk to them to make sure they have all the necessary information about the
household’s circumstances to enable them to make an ‘appropriate’ offer of
accommodation, which meets their needs. The matching process will take the
following criteria into consideration:

Page 167

20 of 31

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A

Education
•
•

For households including children, accommodation will be sought within a
reasonable distance of age-appropriate education facilities.
Where the Home Office is aware of the special educational needs of a child,
this will be taken into consideration when allocating accommodation.

Health
•
•

The Home Office will consider any known medical treatment needs, and
accommodation provided will be within a reasonable distance of any necessary
services.
For specialist or ongoing medical treatment where continuity of care is
important and has already begun, the Home Office will accommodate the
household as close to that provision as possible. For more complex, specialist
treatment, this may require significant travel out of the area.

Faith
•

The Home Office will consider any faith practice needs and all households will
be able to practice their faith if they wish to do so. In towns and cities, access
to faith facilities may be in the form of a mosque, church or temple, however in
more rural areas it may be via facilities such as Islamic centres, visiting imams,
church groups or community gatherings.

Employment
•

•

When matching accommodation, the Home Office will take into consideration
the location of any paid employment that has already begun, or where there is
a signed contract of paid employment in place. Where one of the adults is in
employment which requires them to attend a specific location to perform that
role, and where the role cannot move to another location the Home Office will
consider the impact of the proposed move and journey time on that employment
and seek to provide accommodation which is within a reasonable travel
distance of it. Households will be expected to meet the costs of any necessary
travel to and from employment from their own funds.
Speculative or unconfirmed offers of employment will not be taken into
consideration for the purposes of matching accommodation.

Family links
•

The Home Office will take close family connections into consideration when
matching accommodation as far as reasonably possible and will seek to provide
accommodation within the same local area, or close by, where there are
existing caring and support arrangements in place for family members.

Page 168

21 of 31

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A
Q: What is a ‘good reason’ for refusal?
•
•

In exceptional circumstances, there may be ‘good reasons’ for refusal of an
‘appropriate accommodation offer’.
‘Good reasons’ will be assessed on a case-by-case basis but could include:
o Where the accommodation is later deemed not to be an ‘appropriate
accommodation offer’ as set out above - for example due to needs
around education, health, faith, employment, close family or caring
responsibilities.
o Where the family/ individual has specific needs to be in a different area
to access specialist medical or education support that is not available in
or within a reasonable travelling distance to the offer area.
o Where a member of the family has care or support needs that are being
met by close family members accommodated in a different area.
o Where a member of the family has the offer of paid employment as
defined in the definition of an acceptable offer.
o Where there is a short-term barrier to the family moving, for example a
medical procedure, and the accommodation offer cannot wait for that to
be completed.

Q: Will the Afghan family /individual’s opinion on what parts of the country they
would like to live in be a ‘good reason’ for refusal?
•

•

No. Unless it falls within a ‘good reason’, such as where the family has specific
needs to be in a different area to access specialist medical or education support
that is not available in or within a reasonable travelling distance to the offer
area, or where a member of the family has care or support needs that are being
met by close family members accommodated in a different area.
‘Good reasons’ for refusals will be assessed on a case-by-case basis.

Q: How will government ensure a fair dispersal process is applied in relation to
homelessness referrals?
•

We are working with councils to develop a referrals process that seeks to
distribute homelessness referrals across council areas.

Q: Can councils use properties already offered to families as part of their
homelessness offer?
•

Properties previously offered to families/ individuals will be re-allocated to other
families/ individuals as soon as a suitable match is identified. Requests from
councils to use accommodation previously offered by the Home Office will be
subject to availability.

Page 169

22 of 31

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A
Q: How can a council support if they do not have a bridging hotel?
•

We need a significant number of properties to accommodate all the Afghan
families/ individuals currently in bridging hotels. Councils can help by pledging
properties to support the scheme.

Page 170

23 of 31

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A
Timelines

Q: When will the enhanced matching process start?
•
•

We will implement this process from 9 May 2022.
Only properties offered on or after 9 May 2022 will count towards the two
accommodation offers.

Q: Will the process be retrospective and apply to those who have already been
offered housing?
•
•

No. The process will not be retrospective and will only apply from 9 May 2022.
Families/ individuals that have refused properties before the implementation of
this policy will not be penalised for previously refusing a housing offer.

Q: Will the process apply to those already in settled accommodation?
•

Families/individuals already in settled accommodation will not be able to use
this process to move back to bridging accommodation to source alternative
properties.

Page 171

24 of 31

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A
Communication to families/individuals on the enhanced end-to-end process

Q: How will you make those in bridging accommodation aware of the process
for enhanced matching, offers and refusals?
•
•

A joint letter from HO/DLUHC, written in English, Pashto and Dari, was sent on
9 May 2022 to all those in bridging accommodation, via the Home Office. The
letter includes a Q&A.
The Hotel Liaison Officer (HOLO) based in the hotels will also be talking to
families/ individuals about the changes and answering any questions. Home
Office have recruited significantly more HOLOs to improve the matching
process and better support people in hotels.

Q: How will Afghan families/ individuals be told what an ‘appropriate offer’ is
and what are ‘good reasons’ for refusing an offer?
•
•

The definition of an ‘appropriate offer’ and what is a ‘good reason’ for refusal
will be included in the joint letter (HO/DLUHC) sent to all those in bridging
accommodation by Home Office.
When the family/ individual receives their accommodation offer a HOLO will talk
through the offer to make sure they understand the process and the next steps
they need to take.

Q: How will new arrivals be made aware of this process?
•

New arrivals will be made aware of the process for finding them settled
accommodation as part of their arrival induction.

Q: Will families be made aware of how long they could spend in temporary
accommodation?
•

HOLOs will provide ongoing contact and support to families/ individuals once
the period of notice has been issued, this will include conversations on the
realities of temporary accommodation.

Q: Will individuals be made aware of the risks of presenting as homeless?
•

The HOLO in the hotel will have a conversation with the family/ individual at the
point of each ‘appropriate accommodation offer’ to make sure the family/
individual understand the offer being made, to reassure and answer any
question the family/ individual may have and also to make sure the family/
individual understand the consequences of refusing the offer.

Page 172

25 of 31

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A

Q: Will the Afghan family /individual’s opinion on what parts of the country they
would like to live in be a ‘good reason’ for refusal?
•

•

No. Unless it falls within a ‘good reason’, such as where the family has specific
needs to be in a different area to access specialist medical or education support
that is not available in or within a reasonable travelling distance to the offer
area, or where a member of the family has care or support needs that are being
met by close family members accommodated in a different area.
‘Good reasons’ for refusals will be assessed on a case-by-case basis.

Page 173

26 of 31

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A
Funding for councils

Q: Is government providing financial support for councils where a family
presents themselves as homeless via this new matching process?
•
•

•

•
•

Yes, government will be providing time-limited funding for homelessness
pressures arising from this policy.
Councils providing temporary accommodation as part of homelessness duties
will be funded for up to six months; and integration support similar to that
received in bridging accommodation will be funded for three months.
(Breakdown of funding shown below.)
These time-limited temporary accommodation funding arrangements are
intended to reduce new pressures on already stretched homelessness
services, reduce prolonged use of temporary accommodation where possible,
and support integration outcomes.
This funding will be kept under review to ensure it is effective and proportionate.
In addition, councils who provide settled accommodation after a household has
stayed in temporary accommodation as part of the refusals process will be able
to access the local authority tariff (£20,520 over three years) and Housing Costs
Fund in the normal way.

Q: How is the temporary accommodation funding broken down?
•

•
•
•

Where Temporary Accommodation is necessary, councils can receive funding
to cover costs of additional temporary accommodation, staff and administering
costs for applications. This will consist of a fixed sum of £2,000 per
household to cover 2 months additional temporary accommodation and the
cost of administering an application.
After 2 months, if required, this will be followed by £80 per week per
household to cover additional temporary accommodation and staff costs only.
This will be capped at 16 weeks (4 months).
The total a council could receive for a household is therefore £3,280 over six
months.
This will be paid in two payments:
▪ Fixed Costs - will be claimed by the council when a household
move into temporary accommodation
▪ Additional temporary accommodation weekly funding – this
second payment should be claimed at the end of the period of
temporary accommodation or for a maximum of 16 weeks
(whichever sooner) for temporary accommodation support
o Further details will be included in the 2022/23 revised hotel wraparound
support Financial Instructions.

Page 174

27 of 31

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A
Q: Can a council claim funding for integration support for families in temporary
accommodation?
•
•
•

Yes, a council providing temporary accommodation may access integration
support funding consisting of £28pppd for up to three months.
Councils will need to seek reimbursement for integration costs incurred by days
rather than as a block three-month sum (given that some may resettle people
before the end of this period).
Specific funding for healthcare and education services is not needed as existing
healthcare and education infrastructure is expected to be sufficient to absorb
these impacts and costs. This policy is being kept under review to ensure
impacts are manageable.

Q: What is the integration support expected to cover?
•

As with integration support in bridging hotels, which is shifting from
welcome/orientation to an emphasis on supporting people to successfully move
into settled accommodation, we expect this temporary accommodation
integration support to include:
o support (and set-up in new areas) to access mainstream services (inc.
health, education, employment) and safeguarding;
o move-on casework support;
o formal and/or informal ESOL support (English for Speakers of Other
Languages).

Q: Is there any further integration funding available if a family remains in
temporary accommodation after three months?
•

No, there is no additional funding available for integration if a family remains in
temporary accommodation after 3 months. We will keep this under review.

Q: Is there any further temporary accommodation funding available if a family
remains in temporary accommodation after six months?
•

No, funding is not available if a family remains in temporary accommodation
after six months.

Q: Why does temporary accommodation support stop after six months, and
integration support stop after three months?
•

•

It is crucial for the policy to be effective, and for families/individuals to move
swiftly onto settled accommodation, that the temporary accommodation and the
parallel integration support is a ‘backstop’ – rather than a like-for-like
replacement for bridging accommodation.
The government’s provision of six months temporary accommodation funding
and three months integration funding for councils aims to ensure that councils
are given the resource to enable people leaving bridging accommodation to

Page 175

28 of 31

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A
have access to temporary accommodation where necessary and can be
provided with continuity of integration support around this, whilst balancing this
against the overall aim of encouraging rapid move on into settled housing with
integration support.

Q: How can this funding be claimed?
•

Full details of the claims process will be provided in the forthcoming funding
instructions (covering Hotel Wraparound Support FY 2022/23), which are
currently being updated to reflect these changes.

Q: When can the funding be claimed?
•

•

The fixed sum costs may be claimed following the placement of a family into
temporary accommodation. If a council provides settled accommodation to a
household within the first 8 weeks (2 months) of accepting a homelessness
duty, they will be able to keep the fixed sum, to cover their costs of administering
the homeless application.
The additional £80 per week per household may be claimed in arrears at the
end of the (maximum) 16 weeks period or when the household leave the
temporary accommodation.

Q: Can multiple councils claim for different parts of the temporary
accommodation funding applicable to the same household (e.g. if they move
during the 6 month period)?
•
•

•

No, claims for up to 6 months of temporary accommodation should be made by
one council only, even if people need to be placed in temporary accommodation
in an area outside the council that accepted the homelessness duty.
In this scenario, the council where the duty is accepted should make the claims
and would agree to any necessary reimbursement bilaterally with the other
council if that council were providing integration support, rather than temporary
accommodation claims being made by multiple councils for the same
household. (This is similar to the way councils have transferred education
funding between themselves in instances where families have moved areas
during the school year).
If possible, no household should move from one temporary accommodation
location to another for the stability of the family.

Q: What funding is available to councils who accept a homelessness duty to a
homeless household and want to offer settled housing and integration support
to that household?
•

Councils can access integration funding (£20,520 per person over three years)
and the housing costs fund to provide integration support and to secure
accommodation for homeless Afghan households eligible for that funding.

Page 176

29 of 31

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A
•
•

The £20,520 per person tariff and housing costs fund are only available to
households in settled accommodation.
If the settled housing is found within the council’s own area all eligible funding
can be claimed as with other households supported through ACRS and ARAP.

Q. Is the integration and housing costs funding available where settled housing
is found in a different council area from the council that accepted the
homelessness duty?
•

•
•

If the settled housing is secured in another council area, the placing council
should contact the receiving area to seek agreement that they are prepared to
provide integration support to that family. If the receiving council is prepared to
provide integration support they will be able to claim funding for that support.
If the receiving council is not prepared to provide that integration support then
the housing costs funds will not be available for that accommodation placement;
as the housing costs are only available as part of an integration package.
Where there is agreement between placing and receiving councils about a
placement with integration support, either council can claim the housing costs
funds required to secure the accommodation.

Page 177

30 of 31

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A
Monitoring impacts

Q: How will you check whether the process is working?
•

We are putting in place a monitoring process to monitor outcomes for families/
individuals, homelessness applications and the effectiveness of the policy. We
will regularly review and adjust the policy if needed.

Q: Can councils use properties already offered to families as part of their
homelessness offer?
•

Properties previously offered to families/ individuals will be re-allocated to other
families/ individuals as soon as a suitable match is identified. Requests from
councils to use accommodation previously offered by the Home Office will be
subject to availability.

Q: How can a council support if they do not have a bridging hotel?
•

We need a significant number of properties to accommodate all the Afghan
families/ individuals currently in bridging hotels. Councils can help by pledging
property to support the scheme.

Q: What happens if the process does not work?
•

We are putting in place a process to monitor outcomes and the effectiveness
of the policy. We will review progress regularly and adjust process as needed.

Page 178

31 of 31

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B

Asylum Dispersal Consultation Survey
Thank you for taking the time to complete this online survey which is being conducted by the Home
Office.
This survey is part of a wider consultation with local authorities and non-governmental
organisations to invite views on the future design of a long term, sustainable approach for asylum
dispersal. Your feedback will help to inform the build of a sustainable and flexible end-to-end asylum
accommodation system.
The consultation is open for 8 weeks and will close on 1 July 2022.
All the information we collect will be kept in the strictest confidence. The data you provide will be
anonymised; we will not analyse or report findings in a way that will identify you.
For further information please see our privacy notice.

Q Please indicate the type of organisation you represent

o Local authority
o Strategic migration partner
o Non-governmental organisation
o Devolved administration
o Other (please specify)
Q What is the name of your organisation?
Providing us with the name of your organisation will help us to draw out themes which may be
common across specific sectors. Your organisation name will not be referenced in the reporting of
results/findings.

________________________________________________________________

Page 179

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B
Q In which region/nation is your local authority/organisation located?

o London
o South East
o South West
o East of England
o East Midlands
o West Midlands
o Wales
o North West
o North East
o Scotland
o Yorkshire & Humber
o National
o Not applicable
Q Have you previously provided support or services to asylum seekers accommodated through the
asylum dispersal process?

o Yes
o No
o Don't know

Page 180

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B
Q What local service provision do dispersed asylum seekers access in your area? Please select all
that apply.
Please consider all forms of support such as wrap-around services and statutory services.

▢
▢
▢
▢
▢

Prevention of Homelessness
Social care (adult or children's services)
Education
General Advice

Legal advice (both Office of the Immigration Services Commissioner accredited and
non-Office of the Immigration Services Commissioner accredited)

▢
▢
▢
▢
▢
▢
▢
▢
▢
▢

Move on support
Integration
English for Speakers of Other Languages
Community cohesion and development
Informal buddying
Mental health and trauma related services
Coordination of local services
Casework support
Other (please specify) ________________________________________________

⊗Don't know

Page 181

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B

Q Please indicate how each of the below services are funded for dispersed asylum seekers.

Centrally
funded

Local
authority
funded

Funded by a
voluntary
organisation

Other

Don't
know

o

o

o

o

o

o

o

o

o

o

General Advice

o

o

o

o

o

Legal advice (both Office of the
Immigration Services
Commissioner accredited and
non-Office of the Immigration
Services
Commissioner accredited)

o

o

o

o

o

o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

Prevention of Homelessness
Social care (adult or children's
services)
Education

Move on support

Integration
English for Speakers of Other
Languages
Community cohesion and
development
Informal buddying
Mental health and trauma related
services
Coordination of local services

Casework support

Page 182

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B
Q Please indicate whether the below services are mandatory or non-mandatory for dispersed
asylum seekers.
Mandatory service
provision
Prevention of
Homelessness
Social care (adult or
children's services)
Education

General Advice
Legal advice (both Office
of the Immigration
Services
Commissioner accredited
and non-Office of the
Immigration Services
Commissioner accredited)
Move on support

Integration
English for Speakers of
Other Languages
Community cohesion and
development
Informal buddying
Mental health and trauma
related services
Coordination of local
services
Casework support

Non-mandatory service
provision

Don't know

o
o
o
o

o
o
o
o

o
o
o
o

o

o

o

o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

o

o

o

Page 183

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B

Q Are there any gaps in the service provision for dispersed asylum seekers in your area?

o Yes
o No
o Don't know
Q Please tell us where there are gaps in the service provision for dispersed asylum seekers in your
area.
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
Q
The New Burdens Doctrine states all new burdens on local authorities must be properly assessed. To
support the implementation of a full dispersal model, as part of the consultation process, the Home
Office will undertake a New Burdens assessment. This will be an opportunity to better understand
the costs associated with asylum dispersal and engage with the local government sector.
As part of this assessment, we will run a local authority-borne asylum dispersal services costs data
gathering project, which seeks to gather local authority-held cost data, in order to improve the
Home Office understanding of the nature and size of the local authority-borne costs of asylum
dispersal services on a per service user per annum basis.
Are you willing to be contacted to support the collection of evidence to inform future funding
considerations?

o Yes
o No
Q Thank you for agreeing to be contacted for one or more of the following reasons:

Page 184

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B
-To contribute towards the collection of evidence to inform future funding considerations.
-To work with us to develop our understanding of your data requirements.
-To discuss how areas can work together to cooperate, either nationally or regionally, to allow
specialisation or to support a wider mix of people coming through different protection routes in an
area.
Please be assured that your contact details will not be disclosed, and your responses will be
reported anonymously. The Home Office will retain your contact details for a maximum of 6 months
and may, in that time, contact you for one or more of the purposes outlined above. If you do not

Page 185

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B
wish to share your contact details, leave the below blank and click the arrow to take you to the end
of the survey.

o Name ________________________________________________
o Email address ________________________________________________
Telephone number ________________________________________________

Q What elements of the current asylum dispersal system would you like to see retained?

▢
▢
▢
▢
▢
▢
▢
▢
▢

Initial engagement between the Home Office and new Local Authorities
Procurement meetings to plan and guide procurement
Consultation on individual properties.
Upper limit on dispersal
Dedicated point of contact within the Home Office (Service Delivery Manager)
Multi-Agency Forums
Strategic Migration Partnership meetings
Other (please specify) ________________________________________________

⊗Don't know

Page 186

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B
Q What elements of the current asylum dispersal system do you think should be removed /
replaced?

▢
▢
▢
▢
▢
▢
▢
▢
▢

Initial engagement between the Home Office and new Local Authorities
Procurement meetings to plan and guide procurement
Consultation on individual properties
Upper limit on dispersal
Dedicated point of contact within the Home Office (SDM)
Multi-Agency Forums
Strategic Migration Partnership meeting
Other, please state ________________________________________________

⊗Don't know

Q What would you like to be included in a new asylum dispersal system?
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________

Page 187

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B
Q What innovative approaches to accommodation provision would create capacity, thinking of
options outside of the traditional private rental sector?
We have listed a few options below, but we are keen to hear your views.

▢
▢
▢
▢
▢

Renovation/regeneration of Empty Homes that could be used for asylum dispersal
Modular builds
Repurposing of non-residential properties
Other (please specify) ________________________________________________

⊗Don't know

Q
We want to better understand the data that you need to help you plan for service delivery in your
area. As part of the consultation process, we will be hosting engagement workshops to understand
your data requirements and the justification for those requirements, in line with GDPR and data
sharing protocols.

Page 188

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B

Are you willing to be contacted to work with us to develop our understanding of your data
requirements?

o Yes
o No
Q Local Authorities have indicated that the current dispersal process could be more fair and
equitable. What would a fair and equitable process look like?

o A process that disperses equal shares of Asylum Seekers across the UK
o A process that considers asylum population share with national population share in an area
o A process that considers all Asylum (including UASC) and Resettlement populations in an
area

o Other (please specify) ________________________________________________
o Don't know

Q How important are the below factors when considering your regional/nation allocation plans?
Please rate from 'not at all important' to 'extremely important'

Page 189

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B

Not at all
important

Slightly
important

Moderately
important

Very
important

Extremely
important

Don't
know/not
applicable

General
population of
an area

o

o

o

o

o

o

Existing
population of
dispersed
asylum
seekers in
the area

o

o

o

o

o

o

Volume of
asylum
seekers not
receiving
financial
support from
the Home
Office

o

o

o

o

o

o

Volumes of
UASC in the
area

o

o

o

o

o

o

Volumes of
resettled
refugees in
the area

o

o

o

o

o

o

Volumes of
Failed
Asylum
Seekers
(those no
longer
supported by
the Home
Office) in the
area

o

o

o

o

o

o

How rural /
urban the
area is

o

o

o

o

o

o

Housing
availability

o

o

o

o

o

o

Page 190

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B
Housing
cost

o

o

o

o

o

o

The level of
funding
received
through the
Local
Government
Finance
Settlement
by the LA
each year

o

o

o

o

o

o

Other (please
specify)

o

o

o

o

o

o

Q How can the Home Office support you to develop regional/nation allocation plans?
Please provide specific details of the support you will require and the reasons why.
________________________________________________________________

Q How can we best measure capacity in a local authority area to enable forward planning and
build resilience into the system?

o Ratio to the LA population (formulaic basis)
o Percentage share related to LA’s national population share
o Regional/Nation quotas
o Capacity of the housing market in a particular area
o Other (please specify) ________________________________________________
o Don't know

Page 191

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B

Q Do you think other protection-based immigration pressures should be weighted to develop a
fair and equitable place-based system?

o Yes
o No
o Don't know
Q How would you rate the impact of the following on a local area?
Please rate from 'no impact' to 'significant impact'

Page 192

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B

No impact

Minor impact

Moderate
impact

Significant
impact

Don't
know/not
applicable

Existing asylum
dispersal
populations

o

o

o

o

o

UK
Resettlement
Scheme

o

o

o

o

o

Afghan Citizens
Resettlement
Scheme

o

o

o

o

o

Afghan
Relocations and
Assistance
Policy

o

o

o

o

o

UASC
accommodated
through NTS
Scheme

o

o

o

o

o

o
o
o
o

o
o
o
o

o
o
o
o

o
o
o
o

o
o
o
o

Vulnerable
Persons
Resettlement
Scheme

o

o

o

o

o

Vulnerable
Children's
Resettlement
Scheme

o

o

o

o

o

o
o

o
o

o
o

o
o

o
o

UASC Care
leavers
Failed Asylum
seekers
Ukraine
schemes
Hong Kong BNO

Mandate
Gateway
refugees

Page 193

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B
Other (please
specify)

o

o

o

o

o

Q Would you be willing to be contacted to discuss how areas can work together to cooperate,
either nationally or regionally, to allow specialisation or to support a wider mix of people coming
through different protection routes in an area?

o Yes
o No
Q
The current asylum dispersal system is coordinated through Strategic Migration Partnerships, which
are local government led partnerships funded by, but independent, of the Home Office, whose role
is to coordinate and support delivery of national programmes in asylum and refugee schemes, as
well as regional/nation and devolved migration priorities.
In your opinion, how important are the following factors in a coordination role for asylum dispersal?

Page 194

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B

Please rate from 'not at all important' to 'extremely important'

Not at all
important

Leadership

Interpersonal
Problemsolving
Critical
thinking
Adaptability

Efficiency
Financial
planning
Risk
management
Negotiation
Other (please
specify)

o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

Slightly
important

o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

Moderately
important

o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

Very
important

o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

Extremely
important

o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

Don't
know/not
applicable

o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

Q If you have selected 'other' for any of the above services, please tell us how those services are
funded..
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________

Page 195

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B

Q Have you previously accommodated resettled refugees through any of the Home Office
resettlement programmes?

o Yes
o No
o Don't know

Page 196

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B

Q What local service provision do resettled refugees access in your area? Please select all that
apply.
To answer this question, consider all forms of support such as wrap-around services and statutory
services.

▢
▢
▢
▢
▢

Prevention of Homelessness
Social care (adult or children's services)
Education
General Advice

Legal advice (both Office of the Immigration Services Commissioner accredited and
non-Office of the Immigration Services Commissioner accredited)

▢
▢
▢
▢
▢
▢
▢
▢
▢
▢

Move on support
Integration
English for Speakers of Other Languages
Community cohesion and development
Informal buddying
Mental health and trauma related services
Coordination of local services
Casework support
Other (please specify) ________________________________________________

⊗Don't know

Page 197

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B
Q Please indicate how each of the below services are funded for resettled refugees.

Centrally
funded

Prevention of Homelessness
Social care (adult or children's
services)
Education

General Advice
Legal advice (both Office of the
Immigration Services
Commissioner accredited and
non-Office of the Immigration
Services
Commissioner accredited)
Move on support

Integration
English for Speakers of Other
Languages
Community cohesion and
development
Informal buddying
Mental health and trauma
related services
Coordination of local services

Casework support

Local
authority
funded

Funded by
voluntary
organisation

Other

Don't
know

o
o
o
o

o
o
o
o

o
o
o
o

o
o
o
o

o
o
o
o

o

o

o

o

o

o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

Page 198

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B
Q Please indicate whether the below resettled refugee services are mandatory or non-mandatory.

Mandatory service
provision
Prevention of Homelessness
Social care (adult or children's
services)
Education

General Advice
Legal advice (both Office of the
Immigration Services
Commissioner accredited and
non-Office of the Immigration
Services
Commissioner accredited)
Move on support

Integration
English for Speakers of Other
Languages
Community cohesion and
development
Informal buddying
Mental health and trauma
related services
Coordination of local services

Casework support

Non-mandatory
service provision

Don't know

o
o
o
o

o
o
o
o

o
o
o
o

o

o

o

o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

Page 199

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B
Q Are there any gaps in the service provision for resettled refugees in your area?

o Yes
o No
o Don't know
Q Please tell us where there are gaps in the service provision for resettled refugees in your area.
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________

Q If you have selected 'other' for any of the above services, please tell us how those services are
funded.
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________

Q Which local authority do you represent?
Providing us with the name of your local authority will help us to draw out themes relevant to the
context/characteristics of local authorities. Your local authority name will not be referenced in the
reporting of results/findings.

Page 200

Agenda Item 13
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000

REGISTER OF URGENT DECISIONS
TAKEN BY THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE
NORTH DEVON COUNCIL CONSTITUTION
– Part 3 Annexe 2: Officer Delegations –
Chief Executive

1) SUBJECT:

Reference No:

Purchase of 3 x low chassis vans for recycling collections

2) REQUESTED DECISION: To urgently grant a waiver from the Council’s Contract
Procedure Rules to allow the purchase of vehicles without going through a tendering
process and without use of a framework.

3) STATEMENT OF THE REASONS FOR THE REQUEST AND WHY IT IS
URGENT:
We have attempted to purchase these vehicles through existing frameworks and via
a tender using the Supplying the Southwest Portal. Both these options failed to
produce the vehicles within the budget or timeframe required. So we have tried
looking on existing forecourts to see if any van sales companies have vehicles in
stock.
I have identified this supplier (Maxi Mover), which has 3 vans arriving in the next 4
weeks. If we don’t confirm that we want to buy these vehicles shortly they will be sold
to other buyers. So we want to secure the purchase of these vehicles which will give
us 3 small vehicles to bolster the recycling fleet, and being low chassis will reduce
the health & safety risk of loaders having to load above head height.
These 3 vehicles are scheduled to be replaced and are not additional vehicles.

4) FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS:
(NOTE: Please state if there are any financial implications. If so, state whether there
are sufficient funds within the agreed budget. If there are insufficient funds please
state how the decision will be financed).
The total vehicle cost is £117,120.00 for the 3 vehicles.
We had a budget underspend last year of £98,730.00
This leaves a balance of £18,390.00 which we have agreement from the Head of
Finance to vire from the Process Hall capital budget (currently £760k).
5) ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED:
I have searched the internet looking for low chassis vans to buy off the forecourt and
I could only find one supplier that did have 3 vehicles available (Maxi Mover).

6) A RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST DECLARED:
Not applicable

Page 201

Agenda Item 13

7) A NOTE OF ANY DISPENSATION IF GRANTED:
Not applicable

8) LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS
(but not including published works or those which disclose exempt or confidential
information (as defined in paragraph 10.4 and 10.5 of the Access to Information
Procedural Rules Part 4 of the Constitution):
NA
9) CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN:
The following have been consulted on this urgent decision:
Consultee

Consulted
Yes/No

Leader of Council (or Deputy Leader)

Date

Yes

10/05/22

Head of Service (name) MK

Yes

10/5/22

Finance

Yes

10/5/22

Chair of Committee (with the
Authority to take the decision)
(or Vice-Chair)
Lead Member
Ward Member(s)

Legal

10) OFFICER REQUESTING URGENT DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY THE CHIEF
EXECUTIVE:
Paul Burton
11) APPROVED BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE: YES
12) DATE OF DECISION: 11th May 2022

13) CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S COMMENTS: I have challenged the urgency of the
decision and I am satisfied that if we do not secure these vehicles very quickly, they
will be sold elsewhere. There is also a very limited supply of these vehicles on the
forecourt and so it is unlikely that similar vehicles will be found quickly. There is a
need to replenish our stock of vehicles as we have seen very challenging
circumstances recently. We have been hiring vehicles but this is both costly and also

Page 202

Agenda Item 13
not satisfactory as these are not the vehicle type that should be used. I’m also
happy to authorise the waiver from CPR as part of this decision as attempts have
been made to use both tendering and Framework processes but these have been
unsuccessful.
14) DATE TO BE PRESENTED TO STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE:

Page 203

Agenda Item 13

GUIDANCE NOTES
NOTE:
PROCEDURE FOR URGENT DECISIONS:
1. Completed form to be passed to the Chief Executive following consultation with
the interested parties.
2. If a decision is specific to a Ward, efforts should be made to ascertain the views of
the local Councillor (s).
3. The Chief Executive will make his decision.

PROCEDURE FOR URGENT DECISION MAKING AS PER THE CONSTITUTION
Officer Delegations: the Chief Executive:
Urgent Decision Making
3.48

To take a decision on any matter falling within the remit of any Committee in
cases of urgency where it is not reasonably practicable to obtain prior approval
of a Committee SUBJECT TO:

3.48.1 the prior consultation, where practicable, with the Leader or Deputy Leader and
the Chair or Vice Chair of the relevant Committee, and
3.48.2 the proviso that this power will not extend to the determination of any application
submitted pursuant to the Planning Acts or under the Licensing Act 2003 or the
Gambling Act 2005, and
3.48.3 the decision being reported to the next meeting of the relevant Committee and the
next meeting of Strategy and Resources Committee.

Page 204

Agenda Item 15

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 205

This page is intentionally left blank

